

Putting Water Back into Public Hands Edited by Martin Pigeon, David O. McDonald, Olivier Hoedeman and Satoko Kishimoto

# **Remunicipalisation:** Putting Water Back into Public Hands

Edited by Martin Pigeon, David A. McDonald, Olivier Hoedeman and Satoko Kishimoto



March 2012 Published by Transnational Institute, Amsterdam

### ISBN 978-94-6190-831-5

Contents of the book may be quoted or reproduced for non-commercial purposes, provided that the source of information is acknowledged.

# **ACKnowledgments**

We would like to thank all those who assisted us in the research for this book for the time they took to meet with us in person, by telephone or via email. In particular we want to thank Myanza Mwadhini, Rosemary Mukami Kariuki, Nestory Masswe, Vicky Cann, Laura Hucks, Shelly Gordon, Gus Oliveira, Eric McGuiness, Greg Hoath, Lynda Lukasik, Dan McKinnon, Sam Merulla, Charles Santiago, Anil Netto, Teo Yen Hua, Subramaniam Pillay, Jaseni Bin Maidinsa, Mohd Farid Nawawi, Ratna Devi, Marimuthu Nadason, Mark Sproule-Jones, Marc Laimé, Yves Stefanovitch, Anne Le Strat, François Leblanc and the staff of DAWASCO and DAWASA. Invaluable editorial and production assistance was provided by Madeleine Bélanger Dumontier. Ricardo Santos was responsible for the book cover design and layout. Finally, funding for the research was provided by the International Development Research Centre of Canada (IDRC), via the Municipal Services Project, and by Oxfam Novib, via the Transnational Institute.

# TABLE OF CONTENTS

Case Study Locations	6
Chapter One	
Remunicipalisation Works! David A. McDonald	8
Chapter Two	
Une eau publique pour Paris: Symbolism and Success in the Heartland of Private Water Martin Bisson	24
Chapter Three	
From Fiasco to DAWASCO: Remunicipalising Water Systems in Dar es Salaam, Tanzania Martin Pigeon	40
Chapter Four	
<b>Aguas Públicas: Buenos Aires in Muddled Waters</b> Daniel Azpiazu and José Esteban Castro	58
Chapter Five	
Who takes the risks? Water Remunicipalisation in Hamilton, Canada Martin Pigeon	74
Chapter Six	
Soggy Politics: Making Water 'Public' in Malaysia Martin Pigeon	90
Chapter Seven	
Looking to the Future: What Next For Remunicipalisation? Olivier Hoedeman, Satoko Kishimoto and Martin Pigeon	106
About the Authors	113
Get Involved!	114
Index	115

Case Study Locations





Chapter One

# Remunicipalisation Works!

by David A. McDonald

It's not an easy word to say, but remunicipalisation is a growing and exciting trend in the water sector. Defined as the transfer of water services from private companies to municipal authorities, remunicipalisation shows that the public sector can outperform the private sector and can be an effective water provider anywhere in the world. This book reviews five recent examples of remunicipalisation – in Paris (France), Dar es Salaam (Tanzania), Buenos Aires (Argentina), Hamilton (Canada) and in a series of Malaysian municipalities – and discusses why it is happening, how the transformations take place, how well the services have performed under public control, and lessons learned from these experiences.

The reasons for remunicipalisation are diverse, but stem in no small part from the failures of water privatisation. Even the World Bank has called for a 'rethink' of privatisation policies,<sup>1</sup> having recognised the regulatory problems associated with multinational water providers, and having seen the effects of a profit-driven service delivery model on workers, low-income households and the environment.

As a result, there has been less direct privatisation of water services since the 1980s and 90s, but the commercialisation trend continues, largely through the use of public-private partnerships.<sup>2</sup> In effect, the World Bank and many United Nations agencies still advocate for private sector participation in water services and continue to invest in think tanks, conferences and publications that promote and finance private involvement in water services around the world.<sup>3</sup>

Not surprisingly, resistance to these commercialisation trends continues as well. From street protests in Cochabamba, Bolivia, that forced multinational water companies out of the city in 2000, to grassroots movements protecting groundwater supplies from bottled water companies in India and the US, to research and academic writing about the problems of water commodification, mobilisation against the practice of water privatisation remains strong.

Municipalities are increasingly involved in this resistance, in part because they have witnessed the effects of privatisation first-hand, making this level of government a critically important player in public-private debates. Although some municipalities remain supportive of private sector involvement in water, many are frustrated with the broken promises, service cut-offs to the poor, the lack of integrated planning, and pressures from international financial institutions that force them to contract out to private firms. As a result, many municipalities have begun to push back. This is not (yet) a complete reversal of the privatisation tide, but it is a riptide of sorts, inspiring practitioners and policy advocates from around the world to explore a new counter-narrative to the neoliberal ideology of market-based service delivery solutions.<sup>4</sup>

Inspiration is not enough, however. Discussions of remunicipalisation have been energetic but anecdotal, with little understanding of the commonalities between various experiments and no clear research methodologies for evaluating their results. Although each remunicipalisation experience is different it is essential that we develop a comparative understanding of why they have happened (or not), how they operate and whether they can and should be attempted elsewhere. This book is therefore an effort to advance academic and policy debates about public water services by tightening our conceptual understanding of remunicipalisation and situating the discussion within a larger body of literature on 'alternatives to privatisation'.

Another objective is to be 'critically positive' about remunicipalisation, which is to say that we want to celebrate public water provision but in ways that recognise the constraints and limitations of 'public' reforms in the hope of identifying means by which remunicipalisation can be more successful. There are concerns with all of the remunicipalisation experiences we investigated for this book and room for improvement on a number of fronts. It would be unproductive to ignore or downplay these issues.

It should also be noted that this is not the first time the world has witnessed (re)municipalisation debates. Most contemporary water services around the world started as private enterprises (as early as the mid-1800s), but as the inefficiency of private sector providers became increasingly evident, and as private companies denied water services to the poor (contributing to outbreaks of cholera and other illnesses), local governments began to municipalise these services for the first time. The city of London, for example, went from a "nine-headed monopoly" in the 1850s, to a centrally coordinated public utility in the early 1900s.<sup>5</sup> No less a figure than liberal economist John Stuart Mill criticised the byzantine inefficiencies of balkanised private sector supply, noting that "a business of real public importance can only be carried on advantageously upon so large a scale as to render the liberty of competition almost illusory...it is much better to treat it at once as a public function."<sup>6</sup> It was an error, he argued, to believe that competition among utility companies actually kept prices down. Collusion was the inevitable result, not cheaper prices. The first prominent city manager in the UK to endorse this philosophy and to apply it in practice was the Liberal Radical Joseph Chamberlain. As mayor of Birmingham in the 1870s, he committed himself to this new civic gospel: "All monopolies which are sustained in any way by the State ought to be in the hands of the representatives of the people, by whom they should be administered, and to whom their profits should go."<sup>7</sup> Chamberlain succeeded in bringing gas and water under municipal control, the former, primarily for its profits, the latter, in pursuit of long-overdue public health reforms. "The Water Works," Chamberlain argued, "should never be a source of profit, as all profit should go in the reduction of the price of water."<sup>8</sup>

In some respects, then, the debates about remunicipalisation today are the same as those that took place a century ago. Municipalities remain concerned about the power of private corporations over essential services in their towns and cities, and the implications this has for social and environmental welfare. We are also witnessing similar concerns about financial crises and the growing polarisation of wealth, contributing to a healthy skepticism of market reforms in general and reinvigorating resistance to privatisation in particular.

Less optimistically, the parallels with these earlier municipalisation efforts raise troubling questions about the nature of the state, and in whose interests 'public' water is actually being run – particularly when it comes to 'corporatised' water utilities run on private-sector operating principles, a point we return to repeatedly in the book. Nevertheless, motivation can be taken from the fact that water privatisation was once before seen as a dismal failure at the municipal level and a comparable trend is recurring today.

### Choice of case studies

Decisions about which sites to examine in this study were based on several criteria. First, we opted for locations where remunicipalisation had been fully completed, and where sufficient time had elapsed to draw reasonable conclusions about their operation – although each case is still very much a work-in-progress. Second, we chose a geographically disperse set of examples, with sites in Europe (Paris), Africa (Dar es Salaam), Latin America (Buenos Aires), North America (Hamilton), and Asia (Malaysia). Third, we chose sites with very different political, economic and geophysical contexts.

The Malaysian case is not, strictly speaking, one of remunicipalisation, due to the fact that it brought about a national-level set of reforms that affected many different municipalities. We included it because of this multi-scalar feature, however, given how it illustrates the potential for nation-wide reforms to bring change to a large number of municipalities instead of scattered, stand-alone efforts. The fact that the examples are drawn from the North and the South serves to illustrate the global nature of this remunicipalisation trend and some of the universalities associated with it. This North-South focus also highlights ongoing resource and power differentials between governments in higher- and lower-income countries, with the cities of Hamilton and Paris having much greater fiscal and infrastructural capacity to bring water in-house than municipalities in Argentina, Malaysia and Tanzania, where human and financial resources for water services are more scarce. Similarly, non-governmental organisations and labour unions in the North tend to be better resourced for resistance to privatisation and promoting alternatives than their counterparts in the South, and often have more political space to air their views.

One lead that cities in the South have in this regard is the more highly charged nature of water debates and the life-and-death nature of problems associated with water privatisation. Scares of e-coli infection in Canadian municipalities in the early 2000s helped catalyse support for remunicipalisation in Hamilton, but these concerns pale in comparison to the disease burdens and service cut-offs associated with privatised water services in Argentina, Malaysia and Tanzania where large percentages of the population have little or no access to basic water and sanitation and where diarrhea, cholera and other illnesses remain major causes of concern. It is in tragic environments such as these that resistance to privatisation often burns hottest, and where the potential for longer-term (grassroots) political commitment to change is strongest. Tough opposition does not necessarily lead to successful alternatives to privatisation, but it can certainly speed change along.

### **Research methods**

As noted above, this is the first comprehensive and comparative study of contemporary water remunicipalisation to be undertaken. But with innovation comes methodological challenges, the most important of which is the lack of an established remunicipalisation literature to draw on. Complicating matters is the dearth of literature on alternatives to privatisation in general, with the vast majority of anti-privatisation writing being a critique of privatisation rather than an exploration of alternative public service options.

Nevertheless, research for this book has benefited from methodologies that have been developed for previous work undertaken by the groups coordinating this study – Corporate Europe Observatory (CEO), the Municipal Services Project (MSP) and Transnational Institute (TNI). Extensive studies by the Reclaiming Public Water Network – coordinated by TNI and CEO, and involving dozens of organisations around the world – provided a rich background of empirical insights into remunicipalisation and an extensive network of contacts,<sup>9</sup> while the development of new research methods on 'alternatives to privatisation' more broadly provided additional coherence and transparency to our comparative studies.<sup>10</sup>

The point of departure in the research was to ask questions about the history of the original privatisation in each municipality, and the events and conditions that led to its demise. This historical overview was drawn based on interviews with people involved in the privatisation, reviews of secondary literature, assessments of budget documentation, and so on. Interpretations of privatisation experiences are subject to debate, of course, but in each case the episode has left significant structural, financial and ideological legacies that shaped the direction of remunicipalisation and often constrained the potential for public sector success.

More difficult was the evaluation of the remunicipalisation experience itself. For this assessment we drew on a normative set of 'criteria for success' that had been developed for the study of alternatives to privatisation referred to above.<sup>11</sup> Our objective was to establish a universal set of criteria against which we could evaluate the success (or otherwise) of a remunicipalised service, while allowing for differences between the case studies. As Hachfeld et al note, "there is no exemplary model of 'good' or 'progressive' public water management,"<sup>12</sup> but it is important to establish clear and explicit criteria against which one can assess the outcomes of remunicipalisation and compare the experiences across time and place.

The criteria we have selected should come as little surprise to those familiar with the debates about privatisation; many are the polar opposites of what is seen to be wrong with privatisation, such as lack of transparency, inequality and unaccountability. We have also used criteria that are unique to public services, such as 'public ethos' and 'solidarity', and opted for criteria (such as equity) with sufficient elasticity of meaning to allow for variations in interpretation. Finally, our criteria are also intended to challenge or rule out many neoliberal interpretations of success, such as marketised notions of 'efficiency' that limit discussions of service performance to narrow financial terms.

The research criteria we employed are summarised in Table 1.1. Not all of these criteria were examined in depth in every case, but interviews and literature reviews were informed by these measures of success and allowed us to develop data on the operating principles and practices of the remunicipalised water services. Further investigation will reveal more detailed information, and the fragile nature of some cases suggests that current performance could change on short notice. Nevertheless, the information collected here offers a more transparent and comprehensive glimpse into remunicipalisation than has been available to date. In this regard, the book should be seen more as research-inprogress than as a final statement on remunicipalisation. Finally, four of the case studies were undertaken by Martin Pigeon from CEO who travelled to Dar es Salaam, Hamilton, Malaysia and Paris for the research. The fifth study on Buenos Aires was conducted by Daniel Azpiazu and José Esteban Castro, with the same terms of reference and with close research collaboration and editing from the research team. Fieldwork began in late 2010 and was completed by mid-2011.

# Key findings of the research

As with any complex system the devil is in the details. Nowhere is this maxim truer than in the politically charged environment of water remunicipalisation. It is essential, therefore, that each case study be taken on its own merit and be read closely. There are, however, some common findings that can be highlighted here, summarised into what we consider to be 'positive' and 'critical' lessons. The former showcase the most encouraging results from the research, while the latter highlight more ambiguous outcomes, such as the ongoing presence of a commercialised logic in public water management. Neither are inevitable products of remunicipalisation but both help to advance our conceptual and political understanding of this growing trend in the sector.

# Positive lessons

## Remunicipalisation works

Though not perfect and never guaranteed, the examples in this book demonstrate that water services can be transferred from private to public ownership and management with little disruption of service and with extremely positive results. In each case the remunicipalised entity offered more equitable, more transparent and more efficient services than the private sector provider that preceded it, with a higher quality of services and with better long-term sustainability.

Financially, there were significant direct savings for most of the municipalities – some  $\in$ 35 million in the first year in Paris, and about C\$6 million in the first three years of remunicipalisation in Hamilton – some of which was realised immediately when profit-taking for private management fees was removed. Efficiency gains were also achieved through good, sensible public management. Moreover, short-term savings boosted reinvestments in longer-term infrastructure development, which will in turn help avoid future cost burdens associated with the health and environmental disasters of privatisation, much of which was borne by the state in the past.

Just as important as the cost savings are the philosophical shifts that have taken place in water services: the perspective changed from a narrow, profit-oriented one to one involving a wider range of social and political objectives. From ensuring water access for the

Equity	<ul> <li>Is availability of the service equitable for different social groups?</li> <li>Is the quality and quantity of the service equitable?</li> <li>Are prices equitable?</li> <li>Is equity formalised, legalised or institutionalised in some way?</li> </ul>
Participation in decision making	<ul> <li>Is the depth and scope of participation adequate?</li> <li>Is participation equitable?</li> <li>Is participation formalised, legalised or institutionalised in some way?</li> <li>Is the model of participation sustainable?</li> </ul>
Efficiency	<ul> <li>Is the service delivered in a financially efficient manner?</li> <li>Are adequate investments being made in long-term maintenance?</li> <li>Do efficiency gains undermine other potentially positive outcomes?</li> <li>Do efficiency gains take into account other services and/or levels of government?</li> </ul>
Quality of service	<ul><li> Is the overall quality of the service good?</li><li> Is quality improving?</li></ul>
Accountability	<ul> <li>Are service providers accountable to end users?</li> <li>Is accountability formalised, legalised or institutionalised in some way?</li> </ul>
Transparency	<ul> <li>Does the general public understand the operating mandates of the service provider?</li> <li>Are decisions about service delivery regularly communicated to the public?</li> <li>Is transparency formalised, legalised or institutionalised in some way?</li> </ul>
Quality of the workplace	<ul> <li>Do frontline workers participate in the policy-making of the service?</li> <li>Are workers paid a fair salary and benefits?</li> <li>Are there adequate numbers of workers to ensure quality, safety, sustainability?</li> <li>Are there good relations between frontline workers, managers and end users of the service?</li> <li>Is there equity among workers?</li> </ul>
Sustainability	<ul> <li>Are there sufficient financial resources available to ensure successful continuity of the service?</li> <li>Is there sufficient political support for remunicipalisation at different levels of government?</li> <li>Is the service using natural resources in a sustainable way?</li> </ul>
Solidarity	<ul> <li>Does the service help build solidarity between workers, community, bureaucrats, politicians, NGOs, end users?</li> <li>Does the service help to build solidarity between different service sectors (e.g. with public health officials)?</li> <li>Does the service help to build solidarity with other levels of state?</li> </ul>
Public ethos	<ul> <li>Does the model help to create/build a stronger 'public ethos' around service delivery?</li> <li>Does the model promote thinking and dialogue about concepts of public ownership and control?</li> <li>Does the service model explicitly oppose privatisation and commercialisation?</li> </ul>
Transferability	· Is the model transferable to other places (in whole or in part)?

Table 1.1 Criteria used to evaluate remunicipalisation

poor in Buenos Aires, to a reunified and consistent management of the entire water cycle in Paris, many remunicipalised water entities have demonstrated their ability to think beyond their sectoral boundaries and accounting silos to be more holistic in their planning and action. Contrary to the privatisation argument that 'politics' is bad for water management, these public providers have demonstrated that politics is an inevitable and necessary part of decision making and service delivery. It is a question of how these politics are managed and the nature of the politics being discussed.

Staff morale has also improved among frontline workers and management, notably in Buenos Aires and Hamilton. Instead of sitting on the sidelines in frustration as private water companies fail to live up to their expectations, public water employees are more engaged in the planning and operation of water services than they were in the past and feel part of a larger public service network and ethos. We do not want to overstate this philosophical change: water workers in Paris have been largely unaffected by remunicipalisation, and in Malaysia trade unions have had little involvement in the discussions about water reforms. It is also difficult to measure criteria such as 'work satisfaction', and there are additional concerns about the depth of commitment that workers have to notions of 'publicness' (discussed below). Nevertheless, the pride-of-work expressed by many of the employees interviewed for this research was palpable and suggests a commitment to public water services that goes beyond the narrow financial and technocratic concerns that dominate private water management.

### Shifts to public worldwide

The fact that remunicipalisation is taking place on every continent serves to demonstrate that it can happen anywhere. The Paris remunicipalisation is particularly note-worthy given that city's symbolic role in water privatisation; two of the largest and most influential private water companies in the world, Veolia and Suez, are headquartered in Paris and have run the city's water services at different stages since 1860. It was not an easy transition, but if decades of private sector inertia and entrenched corporate power can be overcome in Paris there is hope for most other places in the world.

The growing phenomenon of remunicipalisation also challenges the myth that privatisation is irreversible. Often used, understandably, as a tactic by anti-privatisation activists to argue that water should not be privatised in the first place, there is a need to revisit the full import of this claim. More importantly, there is a need to revisit what we mean by 'public' water, particularly in countries in the global South where public services have often been under-funded, unequal, non-transparent and open to corruption. In other words, remunicipalisation should not be seen as a linear, two-way street between polarised notions of private versus state delivery, but rather as a remaking and rethinking of what it means to be public, and a revisiting of how we define successful water services. Herein lays a key challenge for those wanting to remunicipalise their water systems. As encouraging as it may be that so many places are taking water services back from the private sector, there is no blueprint for how it is done and old-school models of top-down state planning may not be seen as progress at all. This challenge does not make it any less urgent to remunicipalise, but it does raise the bar in terms of what we should expect from a 'successful' public transition.

It should also be emphasised that remunicipalisation can be managed completely at a local level. Although successive national governments were involved in the case of Dar es Salaam, and even more so in the multi-sited case of Malaysia, remunicipalisation can occur within the jurisdictional boundaries of a local authority, making it easier for local groups to mobilise and advocate for change. Small towns and district municipalities can also bring water back in-house.

Having said that, watersheds often cross political boundaries, and under-funded municipalities are increasingly desperate for capital and operating revenues, requiring some intergovernmental coordination. There is also merit in thinking in national or regional terms when considering a mass remunicipalisation strategy, particularly in Europe where dozens of private water contracts will be coming up for review in the next few years (see the concluding chapter of this book for further discussion).

### Privatisation is its own worst enemy

Helping the remunicipalisation trend is the failure of water privatisation, in all its guises. In four of the five cases in this book, it was the (near) collapse of privatisation that precipitated the move to remunicipalise. The situation was disastrous in two cases (Buenos Aires, Dar es Salaam) and problematic in two others (Hamilton, Malaysia). In Paris, private water provision was not a failure per se, but it was clear that the two private companies were reaping profits that could be kept in public hands. In all cases it became obvious that the private water companies put short-term profit ahead of long-term sustainability, and selective service delivery ahead of broad-based equity, treating citizens like consumers and water like a commodity.

Significantly, it was bureaucrats and politicians who recognised these problems and began to wonder why water had been privatised in the first place. Some of this awareness was triggered by a growing global critique of privatisation, but the local flaws were so glaring that even those who had previously supported privatisation turned against it. The fact that most of the senior policy makers interviewed for this research were generally in favour of market-oriented policies, and even supportive of privatisation in other sectors, makes this rejection of water privatisation all the more poignant and damning. Privatisation, in other words, is its own worst enemy. Alternatives to privatisation are not so readily apparent, however, making it all the more important to discuss the details of remunicipalisation well in advance rather than scrambling to fill a corporate void after private provision collapses.

# **Critical lessons**

### Reversing privatisation is not easy

As encouraging as the momentum behind water remunicipalisation is, the technical and political difficulties associated with making this shift cannot be underestimated. Even where political will is strong and financial and technical capacity exists, reverting to public ownership and management is fraught with difficulties. There is institutional memory lost, degraded assets, poison pills left by the private company, communication and accounting systems that do not mesh with public sector systems, and so on. The case studies in this book provide the details of some of these challenges, but even these are only brief overviews of extremely complicated private-to-public transitions.

It is truly in these details that the devil of remunicipalisation is to be found. Political mobilisation to initiate such a process is difficult enough. The really demanding part comes with the grunt work on the ground to make it happen in practice. From equipment inventories, to amalgamating unions, to a change in service delivery cultures, remunicipalisation requires hundreds of people working long hours in stressful conditions under tight timelines. This is not the high profile politicking of resistance, but the tedious, behind-the-scenes grind of institutional and ideological reform that requires sustained attention to detail.

In some respects, remunicipalising water is even more difficult than creating water services from scratch. The deep asset deficit left by many private water companies means that municipalities are working with decrepit equipment and collapsing infrastructure that can be more expensive to repair than to replace and build anew. Private firms have also demonstrated that they can be politically difficult, sabotaging transition efforts to try and undermine the public provider. In each of the cases discussed in this book the private companies refused to release critical operational information, attempted to take the municipalities to court for breach of contract, or initiated counter-propaganda campaigns in an effort to undercut the credibility of the remunicipalisation initiatives. The fact that these anti-remunicipalisation efforts were unsuccessful in each case speaks volumes to the commitment of those involved in the transformation. It also lays bare the gritty, selfinterested nature of private sector service providers and underscores the argument noted earlier that public water services should never be privatised in the first place (with the proviso, of course, that if they are privatised it can and should be reversed!). Finally, it must be noted that donor funding cannot be relied on for remunicipalisation efforts. After decades of generous (and ongoing) political and financial support for privatisation from international financial institutions and bilateral donors, these 'development' organisations have effectively ignored the remunicipalisation trend. Funding for research on remunicipalisation is a drop in the bucket compared to what is spent on pro-commercialisation research and conferences by donors, while support for the implementation of remunicipalisation is practically non-existent (with the exception of limited funding for public-public partnerships from UN-Habitat<sup>13</sup>). In some cases international donors even have attempted to undermine remunicipalisation efforts, making the transition to public services an even more difficult one (such as the World Bank's attempts to block remunicipalisation in Dar es Salaam, as discussed in Chapter Three of this book).

### No guarantee of a 'public ethos'

Perhaps the most important lesson of all is what remunicipalisation tells us about the meaning of 'public'. Many – if not most – of the officials interviewed for this research remain captive to the neoliberal logic of 'new public management' and resistant to welfarist notions of service delivery such as cross-subsidisation for the poor. There has been a dramatic ideological shift over the past three decades in the training and management of public employees around the world – due in part to the 'good governance' agenda of the World Bank – and this trend is evident in each of the cases in this book. Entrenched neoliberal beliefs in market-based incentives, ring-fenced accounting, cost-reflexive pricing, and competition within and between government departments has transformed the ways in which people think about and manage public services, raising questions about the potential for deep reform in the public sector.<sup>14</sup>

Corporatisation is the term used to describe services that are wholly owned and operated by the state but run on private sector operating principles.<sup>15</sup> This arrangement typically involves the creation of a stand-alone water utility, directed by government but operating as a separate legal entity and largely dependent on its own revenues for operation. Cross-subsidisation from other sectors or levels of government is discouraged, while performance evaluation is generally conducted on narrow cost accounting terms and senior managers are paid based on the financial health of their 'company'.

In some cases these corporatised managers are more dogmatic in their adherence to market principles than their private sector counterparts (partly due to the threat of privatisation if they do not prove themselves to be 'efficient'). Such public service providers have denied services to low-income communities because of the 'high costs' of delivering them, and service cut-offs are often used to punish non-payment. Some providers simply limit services to low-income households to a pre-defined level of 'basic needs'.<sup>16</sup> Of the cases in this book, Dar es Salaam is the most problematic in this regard, with the new public managers of DAWASCO using language and policies that sound much like the private company they replaced. It is encouraging that water services are back in public hands, but DAWASCO management's failure to take equity and public engagement more seriously is a major concern. Low-income households continue to be marginalised and managers seem reluctant to think in more holistic terms, even flirting with ways to (re)introduce market incentives into the newly remunicipalised organisation.

Similar ideological currents were detected in the other case studies as well. The most common argument given by interviewees for remunicipalisation was not equity or public solidarity, but the fact that it 'saves money' and is 'more efficient' than a private contract. These are not unimportant criteria, of course. Nor is a concern with saving money necessarily neoliberal. These narrow financial preoccupations are, however, suggestive of a mindset still deeply embroiled in market ideology. Changing these attitudes will not happen overnight or with superficial technocratic reforms. Nor can it be forced on people. A different public sector philosophy will take sustained democratic efforts, possibly requiring a generational shift.

The good news is that a deeper rethink of the meaning of public is required in any event. As noted above, some public services have performed poorly or have been non-existent, making a rethink unavoidable. But even where the public sector has performed well – which describes the vast majority of water services in the global North – there are good reasons for thoughtful reform. Keynesian-era water services were often top-down and non-participatory and seldom as efficient as they could have been. They were also typically part of a larger Fordist model of development that aimed to support rapid growth in private sector industrialisation and market consumption, assisting corporate expansion and undermining environmental sustainability.<sup>17</sup>

Experiments with public participation in water services planning, worker cooperatives, community water systems and other innovative models of service delivery are challenging these older models of public water delivery and demonstrating the potential for water systems that push the boundaries of what we mean by public service.<sup>18</sup> Remunicipalisation cannot be an unquestioned return to what was offered before privatisation. It must be an improvement on what is meant by public and an expansion of the democratic terms of engagement.

### Bringing in the state and organised labour

The reality of complex and expensive water systems is such that governments must play a critical role in service delivery reform. Collaboration of state and non-state actors will be

easier in locations where senior bureaucrats and politicians have committed themselves to progressive change, but even where states seem impervious to cooperation mechanisms for state-society interaction it will be essential for successful transitions to public water entities.

Labour involvement is also critical. Public sector unions have been marginalised from many of the debates about remunicipalisation, despite the fact that frontline workers have important insights into operational challenges and opportunities and public sector unions have been at the forefront of opposition to privatisation at a global level.<sup>19</sup> Poor labour relations with managers are part of the problem here, but so too has antagonism between unions and social movements been a concern at times, with public sector workers sometimes seen as being primarily interested in protecting their own jobs. Some unions have made impressive strides in addressing these tensions and it is important that good relations with communities and social movements be fostered.<sup>20</sup>

Add to this mix a diverse collection of non-governmental organisations and academics attempting to intervene in remunicipalisation debates and there is an obvious need for better coordination of pro-public mobilisation. This is not to suggest that there should be a single voice or a simple consensus on what remunicipalisation should look like. The debates are too new and too complicated for that. Nor would we advocate the kind of blueprint models for reform that have motivated the single-minded rush to privatise. Remunicipalisation is necessarily different in every place, and versions of 'public' may take on very different hues. Nevertheless, there is a need for better coordination and sharing of ideas. Government officials, labour unions, social movements, NGOs and others will need to be part of this coordinated conversation. Research on remunicipalisation must take these internal political dynamics seriously.

### Conclusion

Remunicipalisation is an inspiring and promising development in the water sector. The five case studies provided in this book demonstrate the potential for reclaiming public water and remaking the public sector. Not all the lessons are positive, but each case provides insights into how private-to-public transitions take place, what could be changed or improved, and how these remunicipalisation experiments might be reproduced elsewhere. The fact that these transitions are taking place in very different locations and contexts is most encouraging of all.

The success of remunicipalisation in the water sector also begs the question as to whether it can work in other sectors such as health care, electricity and waste management. In some respects it already has. Privatisation has failed to deliver in all of these areas, and citizens and managers have been pushing for a rethink of the commercialisation model. Hospitals and electricity services have been taken back into public hands, at all levels of government, and there are vibrant debates around the world about how various services can be returned to public ownership and control.<sup>21</sup>

Each service sector offers its own managerial, technical, geographic and political challenges, but there is much to be learned from inter-sectoral debate and dialogue. Water may be the most widely targeted sector for remunicipalisation, with much to offer policy makers and activists in other areas, but so too can water managers and researchers learn from reforms in health care, electricity, waste management, education, etc. After all, a more holistic sense of integrated public service delivery requires dialogue across sectors. If we are to escape the silo mentality imposed on public services by the logic of commercialisation we must start by avoiding it in debates about remunicipalisation.

### Endnotes

- 1 Nellis, J. (1999) Time to rethink privatization in transition economies. *Finance and Development* 36(2).
- 2 Robbins, P. T. (2003) Transnational corporations and the discourse of water privatization. *Journal of International Development* 15: 1073–1082; Swyngedouw, E. (2005) Dispossessing H<sub>2</sub>O: The contested terrain of water privatization. *Capitalism Nature Socialism* 16(1): 81-98; Bakker, K. (2010) *Privatizing water: Governance failure and the world's urban water crisis.* Ithica: Cornell University Press.
- 3 See, for example, the Public-Private Infrastructure Advisory Facility (PPIAF) website at www. ppiaf.org. For a critical review see *Bretton Woods Project* (2010) World Bank assesses water strategy, faces barrage of criticism. 30 September. http://www.brettonwoodsproject.org/art-566649 (accessed 5 August 2010).
- 4 For a review and up-to-date tracking of locations that have remunicipalised their water see www. remunicipalisation.org.
- 5 Lewis, R.A. (1952) *Edwin Chadwick and the public health movement*. London: Longmans Green, p. 57.
- 6 Mill, J.S. (1872) The principles of political economy with some of their applications to social philosophy. Boston: Lee and Shepard, Book 1, Chapter IX, pp. 88-92.
- 7 Marsh, P.T. (1994) Joseph Chamberlain: Entrepreneur in politics. New Haven: Yale University Press, p. 84.
- 8 Briggs, A. (1965) Victorian cities. New York: Harper & Row, p. 227.
- 9 Brennan, B., Hoedeman, O., Terhorst, P. and Kishimoto, S. (2005) Reclaiming public water: Achievements, struggles, visions from around the world. Amsterdam: TNI.

- 10 McDonald, D.A. and Ruiters, G.R. (Eds) (2012) Alternatives to privatization: Public options for essential services in the global South. New York: Routledge.
- 11 McDonald, D.A. and Ruiters, G.R. (2012) Weighing the options: Methodological considerations. In McDonald and Ruiters, *op. cit.*, pp. 16-44.
- 12 Hachfeld, D., Terhorst, P. and Hoedeman, O. (2009) Progressive public water management in Europe. Discussion Paper for Reclaiming Public Water. Amsterdam: TNI and CEO, p. 4. http://www.waterjustice.org/uploads/attachments/Progressive%20public%20water%20 management%20in%20Europe.pdf (accessed 2 May 2010).
- 13 See the Global Water Operators Partnership Alliance (GWOPA) website at www.gwopa.org, although even this laudable initiative is influenced heavily by corporate participation.
- 14 Pollitt, C. and Bouckaert, G. (2011) Public management reform: A comparative analysis New public management, governance and the neo-Weberian state. Oxford: Oxford University Press; Mc-Donald, D.A. and Ruiters, G.R. (2005) The age of commodity: Water privatization in Southern Africa. London: Earthscan.
- 15 For a fuller discussion see Transnational Institute (2006) Public services yearbook 2005/6: Beyond the market. The future of public services. Amsterdam: TNI.
- 16 van Rooyen, C. and Hall, D. (2007) Public is as private does: The confused case of Rand Water in South Africa. Occasional Paper no. 15. Cape Town: Municipal Services Project.
- 17 Burrows, R. and Loader, B. (1994) Towards a post-Fordist welfare state? London: Routledge; Taylor-Gooby, P. (2000) Risk, trust and welfare. Houndsmill: Macmillan.
- 18 Brennan et al. (2005), op.cit.
- 19 There are dozens of local unions that are active on a municipal and national scale (e.g. the South African Municipal Workers Union and the Canadian Union of Public Employees) as well as the international coordination of Public Services International.
- 20 For a review of the role of labour in these debates see Wainwright, H. (2012) Transformative resistance: The role of labour and trade unions in alternatives to privatization. In McDonald and Ruiters, *op.cit.*, pp. 71-98.
- 21 For a survey of the literature and an interactive platform for discussion see www.municipal servicesproject.org.

## Chapter Two

# Une eau publique pour Paris: Symbolism and Success in the Heartland of private Water

by Martin Pigeon



On November 24, 2008, the City Council of Paris, France, decided not to renew the municipal water supply service contract with Veolia and Suez, two French companies that dominate the global water market for municipal water services. They had been operating the French capital's water supply system jointly since 1985, and Veolia had been in charge of billing for the entire system since 1860. Instead, municipal authorities would create *Eau de Paris* as a public company under its direct supervision to operate the system from 2010 onward.

The two private companies' losing a contract at home was a major symbolic defeat. It also represented a significant challenge for Mayor Bertrand Delanoë, who had pledged to take back control of the city's waters during his electoral campaign; the remunicipalisation of a system on this scale had never been experienced in France, and there were tasks that the city administration had never performed, such as billing and customer relations. While the private companies were legally obliged to transfer responsibilities for the operation of the system, some property boundaries were not clearly defined, as was the case with information technology systems. Further, bringing together workers from multiple backgrounds and status into one structure was no simple task. The companies threatened to fight back, and did. Countless difficulties were likely to keep arising but the mayor and his team were convinced they could run the system just as well as the private sector, and even better. A year and a half after the official transition, results are proving them right: the transition was managed on time and with impressive financial outcomes.

As a case in point, Eau de Paris saved the city about €35 million with the shift to public ownership, leading to a reduction of water tariffs by 8% compared to 2009. The integration of fragmented parts of the water system gave birth to a more efficient, consistent and sustainable organisation, as well as revived water resource protection, research and innovation, and awareness-raising activities. Of course, results will need to be assessed over the long run, but the debut is promising.

# Two water giants and an old network under tension

Paris is a densely populated city of 2.2 million inhabitants and the larger metropolitan area comprises approximately 10 million people. It is also home to the biggest water corporations in the world, *Veolia Environnement* and *Suez Environnement*. These companies were established (under different names) in the second half of the 19th century, under Emperor Napoleon III, but contrary to most other Western countries who municipalised their urban water systems at the beginning of the 20th century, these two firms managed to retain most of their contracts in France. Even as managers of vital natural monopolies, they were not affected by the country's three waves of nationalisations (1936, 1945 and 1981). This is an indication of the political power they could yield thanks to strong connections extending throughout the political system.<sup>1</sup>

What is unique about Paris' water is that it runs through two networks. The current drinking water and wastewater systems were created in the 1860s and completed in the early 20th century thanks to massive public investments into a state-of-the-art network of sewers and pipes. The latest phase in the development of the water network was part of an effort to stop the cholera and typhoid fever epidemics caused by the consumption of untreated water from the older network constructed under Napoleon I. Both networks are still in use today: the former supplies about 550,000 m<sup>3</sup> of drinking water a day to its inhabitants, half of which comes from groundwater and springs located in a large belt around the city and half from the rivers Seine and Marne, whereas the non-drinking water network is used for watering the parks and cleaning the streets and sewers.

Another distinctive feature of the Paris water systems is that very few residents are aware of their water tariffs because there is limited individual billing, water typically being included in buildings' collective charges. Nevertheless, decreasing consumption,<sup>2</sup> rising standards for wastewater treatment and additional taxes have translated into massive hikes in water charges over the past two decades. Rising pollution levels coming from industry and household effluents as well as industrial and chemically intensive agriculture (mostly cereals in this region) threaten the sustainability of the resource.

## Privatisation of supply, corporatisation of production

Until 1984, Paris' water systems were entirely run by the city with one notable exception: billing, which had been outsourced to Veolia (then called *Compagnie Générale des Eaux*) in 1860 and grew to become a very lucrative business that generated a 60% profit rate over the 30 first years.<sup>3</sup> The network's efficiency varied through the years however: it was in a dire state after World War II (44% losses), then improved until 1966 (22% losses), and degraded again until 1976 (32% losses). After the city elected its administration in 1977 in the first municipal election in over a century, the trend was reversed, with the network's efficiency improving again to reach an average of 20% losses between 1980 and 1984.<sup>4</sup> The raw water network was hardly maintained throughout this post-war period.<sup>5</sup>

In 1984, then-mayor Jacques Chirac signed a 25-year contract to subsidiaries of Veolia and Suez (its CEO at the time, Jérôme Monod, was a co-founder of Chirac's party) to manage Paris' water supply and billing services. Maintaining the non-drinking water network was also part of the contract. Veolia was awarded the right bank of the Seine River and Suez, the left bank; this two-thirds to one-third customer sharing agreement interestingly reflected the companies' respective market weights in France. They also established a special joint unit called *Groupement d'intérêt économique* (GIE) to collect invoices based on Veolia's historic database of clients. In 1987, the water production and the control mechanism for the two private companies in charge of supply were also partially privatised with the creation of a mixed capital company, SAGEP (*Société Anonyme de Gestion des Eaux de Paris*). An outsourcing contract was signed between Paris and SAGEP, whose capital was owned 70% by the city, 28% by Veolia and Suez (each owning 14%), and 2% by the *Caisse des Dépôts et Consignations* (CDC), a public national investment bank. The private companies' shares in SAGEP placed them in a clear conflict of interest since the latter was supposed to oversee the concession, a situation said in a 2003 city audit to create "a paradoxical role, and partnership relationships that are not favourable to a controlling exercise."<sup>6</sup> A first step toward privatisation was also taken with the city's internal Water Quality Control Service becoming an independent public body, the *Centre de Recherche et de Contrôle des Eaux de Paris* (CRECEP).

Under this new institutional setup, the network's leaks were reduced from 22% of the water serviced in 1985 to 17% in 2003, and after a harsh renegotiation of the contract between the city and the operators (see below), this figure was reduced dramatically to 3.5% in 2009. But water tariffs increased massively, by more than 265% between 1985 and 2009 for drinking water alone, with automatic tariff updates every three months; in contrast, inflation only rose by 70.5% over the same period. Such an increase led to strong suspicions of excessively high rates of profit for the two companies. For instance, water tariffs in Paris increased by more than 90% between 1991 and 1997 whereas they only increased by 51.5% in other French cities of more than 100,000 inhabitants over the same period.<sup>7</sup>

The city also began to lose control over the system's technical knowledge: no patrimonial assessment of the supply network had been performed before the privatisation and authorities became entirely dependent on the private companies to obtain information on the network's state. The city's administration also had difficulty accessing reliable financial information: a 2001 audit by the city showed that the bill collecting entity, GIE, had never been controlled, and concluded that "the satisfactory service does not justify such a high cost."<sup>8</sup> Another audit by the Region's Court of Auditors showed that GIE never declared to the city the extra revenue it obtained. Last but not least, another 2001 audit of Veolia's Paris subsidiary showed that it was "a very profitable company" and a "generous cash-flow contributor to the group."<sup>9</sup> The official average annual profit made by the two companies was about 6-7%, but sources at Eau de Paris today argue that in reality it was closer to 15%, although this is impossible to prove given the absence of reliable data. In addition, many works undertaken by the companies were commissioned to their own subsidiaries, a classic way to extract additional profits through overpricing; but here again, the exact level of profits remains unknown except to the companies' top executives. As far as the maintenance of the raw water network was concerned, it was hardly done at all: the companies had no economic incentive to take this on, the contract hardly required any maintenance anyway, and the controller SAGEP was not unfavourable to the dismantlement of the network, hoping to sell extra drinking water that would compensate the consumption decrease.<sup>10</sup>

### Toward remunicipalisation

In 2001, newly elected Paris Socialist Mayor Bertrand Delanoë published a communiqué on the need to take control of the city's water services.<sup>11</sup> Concrete steps were quickly taken by the city to regain control of certain in-house competencies and capacities. For instance, a team was established to follow up and control water infrastructure construction projects, a consultative commission was created to involve users in water policy, and a separate 'water' section in the city's budget was re-established.

### 2001-2003: Initial negotiations

The new team heading the city soon realised that its capacity to control the service provided by the private companies was severely limited, and that financial opacity was "absolute," in the words of Anne Le Strat, then newly elected Green party politician appointed CEO of SAGEP. Within the city's administration, Le Strat quickly became renowned for her strong commitment to water remunicipalisation in Paris. For her part, Myriam Constantin, a Socialist, became Vice Mayor for Water and Sanitation. She took a less radical stance, stating that "what matters is that public authorities can develop genuine control over the services executed in their name,"<sup>12</sup> in line with her party's stance on the issue (many privatised drinking water systems in France are run by Socialist and even Communist municipal administrations).

Negotiations to review the contract started almost immediately between the city and the private companies. They involved only a handful of city managers and were kept secret from the public and from most elected officials. Only their outcome was made public in 2003: the companies agreed to lower their declared average profitability rate from 6-7% to about 4%, to invest €153 million by 2009 to accelerate the network's renewal, and to replace lead joints to comply with EU standards. But the water tariffs were not lowered, and the excessive amounts provisioned by the companies for construction works were only partially taken back.<sup>13</sup> The 2003 appendices to the contract signed with the companies cancelled the 1997 appendix, but the report explaining the details of the deal was partially censored by the municipality when published. Furthermore, 80% of the investments were financed by no-interest public loans, a good deal for the companies who had all these works executed (and likely overpriced) by their own subsidiaries.

Why such a favourable deal, and such secrecy, after years of public criticism of these two companies by Paris' left-wing politicians? The Socialists were constrained by the previous agreements made between the companies and former mayors, notably the 1997 contract that guaranteed a minimum profit rate to the operators to compensate for the decrease in volumes sold. They were also trapped by a loophole in the contract that enabled Veolia and Suez to wait between six and 10 months before transferring the money they collected to SAGEP, thereby generating substantial extra profits in interest earned over the period. In a nutshell, the reason Paris' Socialists were so discreet about the renegotiation was that the companies had not broken any provisions of their contracts, and admission of excessive charges would have required the city to reimburse Parisians! One must also take into account the water companies' numerous channels of influence within the city administration and among politicians: for instance, the vice-mayor at the time, Socialist Anne Hidalgo, had worked for Veolia between 1995 and 1997.

### 2003-2007: Building capacity

The period 2001-2003 had been a reality check for Paris' new political leadership, revealing the narrow margins for manoeuvre associated with a privatisation contract with such powerful companies. To strengthen their position, politicians launched a series of legal, technical and financial audits as well as extensive consultations with Eau de Paris personnel to assess the potential consequences of cancelling the contract. The investigation concluded it was best to wait until the end of the contract in December 2009 for legal and technical reasons. Another finding made clear that issuing another PPP contract would be much easier to handle for the city's administration. As François Leblanc, director at SAGEP during the transition, put it,

the private to public transition had never been experienced at this scale... I think it was easier, technically and legally, to re-issue a new tender than to remunicipalise... It is not only the network management, it's everything; for instance, the assets are enormous, you have numerous buildings, plots of land, etcetera, that need to have their status changed; you have changes of taxation regimes... And all this work you have to do on top of all the rest.<sup>14</sup>

Nevertheless, these challenges did not deter the municipal team from staying the course with their agenda. The team made its first major move to remunicipalise in March 2007 by ousting Veolia and Suez from SAGEP through a city council vote that forced the companies to sell their shares – at a good profit<sup>15</sup> – to the French national investment bank CDC (Veolia's biggest shareholder at the time). GIE, the opaque financial structure set up by the companies to collect their invoices, was dissolved and the task of monitoring the two private companies was transferred back from SAGEP to the city administration. The private companies were worried but anticipated that they could still renew their contracts in 2009.

The real game changer event occurred on November 5, 2007: Delanoë, campaigning for his second term as Paris mayor, promised that water supply and billing, a €180 million annual contract at the time, would be publicly managed again if he were re-elected. According to most interviewees for this research, this decision was taken in a very small circle, and perhaps even on a personal basis since it took some of his closest colleagues by surprise when it was announced. Reasons behind this decision are multiple. One argument is financial and technical: the numerous audits and studies commissioned by the city and SAGEP indicated that substantial savings could be achieved by taking the service back in-house, and that a unified institutional setup made more sense than the ongoing fragmentation of responsibilities. This became the city's main official argument: public water management can be more efficient, and it enables the city to manage water as a common good rather than being treated as a private commodity. But one must also point out that Delanoë was, at the time, tempted to play a bigger role in national politics, and ran for the position of first secretary of the Socialist Party later in 2008 - which he eventually lost. His decision to remunicipalise water could therefore be interpreted as a political signal sent to the party's left wing to change his image as too business-friendly. Veolia and Suez argue that it was a political decision, rather than one made on financial or technical grounds. In any event, Delanoë was re-elected mayor of Paris very comfortably on March 16, 2008 with 57.7% of votes for his coalition.

### 2008-2009: Decision time

In July, 2008, the city took another step toward remunicipalisation by buying CDC's 30% share in SAGEP, which then became a fully municipal company. But an even more critical decision came on November 24-25, 2008, when the Paris City Council voted for the entire water system, from resource protection to end user, to be operated by one unified public entity beginning January 1, 2010. This served as the first official announcement of the remunicipalisation and initiated a complex legal process that had taken months to design and plan: SAGEP was liquidated before the end of its contract but not dissolved thanks to a universal assets donation that enabled the creation of the public company Eau de Paris on January 1, 2009, before the contract with Veolia and Suez ended.

The private operators who thought the mayor's pledge was nothing more than an electoral promise were furious, and complained that his decision would ruin their public image and undermine their global commercial position. They quickly toned down their criticism, however, taking the stance that this was a purely political and ideological move that had nothing to do with their performance. Meanwhile, two members of the rightwing opposition – UMP city councillors Jérôme Dubus and Jean-François Legaret – challenged the municipal decision in court in January 2009. They claimed that this move

was in breach of European treaties, which required all public authorities to organise a tender each time they wanted to entrust the execution of an economic activity to an operator engaged in the market. The court dismissed their accusation, ruling in May 2010 that under EU regulations a municipality had the right to manage any service to its population in-house.<sup>16</sup> There was thus no legal obstacle to the transfer, and the final decision to launch Eau de Paris, formally voted by the City Council in November 2009, was confirmed.

# From fragmentation to unity

As soon as the official remunicipalisation decision was taken, a task force was created to organise the transition. It was an enormous challenge given the short 18 months left before the actual transfer, with major bottlenecks to overcome.

## IT systems: Blurred property boundaries

Generally speaking, the private operators cooperated throughout the transition, but some aspects proved more difficult to deal with such as the transfer of the customer databases and information systems. In fact, customer relations (metering, billing, follow-up and interventions management) remain outsourced to the private operators until 2012 to ease the transition. Customers and technical data was transferred, as it was a legal requirement, but the transfer of the IT tools developed by the private companies to process and articulate the various sets of data has proven to be a much more sensitive issue. Technical and geographical information systems were rather simple to integrate with the former SAGEP system, but transferring the IT tools making the strategic link with the commercial systems was much more difficult because such tools are important factors for these companies' competitiveness.

To add to the complexity, the existing IT systems were not compatible: the two companies have different histories, are more or less centralised, and the systems are proprietary. "We don't manage to speak to the relevant specialist, it's just as simple as that,"<sup>17</sup> complains a current manager at Eau de Paris in charge of the dossier. As a consequence, one of the first steps of remunicipalisation was to identify what, within these centralised systems, belonged to the Paris contract. The companies apparently only began to collaborate when they were sure that they would get a service contract for this work, and that the allocation of tasks and liabilities was clearly laid out. Trust was a major issue in these tense negotiations, each party imagining worst case scenarios.

In the end, the collaboration was fruitful and Eau de Paris developed its own information system, based on one put in place by the French city of Grenoble when it remunicipalised its water services in 2000. The unified information system was launched in October

2011. Eau de Paris also recruited external know-how in order to create a commercial department that now employs managers coming from electricity and telecom companies notably, bringing with them new methods and approaches.

### Workers: From five organisations to one

One of the most delicate parts of the transition concerned workers: 642 workers from Eau de Paris, 228 workers from Veolia and Suez, 55 workers from CRECEP, and 14 workers from the city administration were to be brought together in the same company, involving 15 different unions in a six-month negotiation over wages, working conditions and benefits. The negotiations were completed just in time and produced a partial agreement signed in December 2009. All workers integrating Eau de Paris were paid according to a harmonised salary scale in January 2010.

However, this achievement conceals some ongoing difficulties. One problem was with the type of workers who were transferred from the private operators: all workers coming from the private sector were given the choice to stay with the company or go to Eau de Paris, and both private operators managed to keep the overwhelming majority of their higher ranking staff: no managers were transferred from Suez, and very few from Veolia. Eau de Paris tried to recruit a few managers from the private companies, but its incentives seemed no match for the private companies' and it had to recruit external personnel for management positions, a lengthy and sensitive process. In general, the re-organisation of the whole structure was very demanding and created a host of tensions in the organisation, since many workers had to substantially change their assignments.

A second difficulty was more pernicious: the two unions coming from Suez and Veolia and the one from Eau de Paris did not merge, despite belonging to the same union federation (CGT), and Veolia employees could not preserve all their previous benefits but are still fighting to access them.<sup>18</sup> This situation gave rise to a legal battle between the two unions, each accusing the other of betraying workers either by being too close to Eau de Paris' directors<sup>19</sup> or by acting on behalf of Veolia and Suez<sup>20</sup> to undermine remunicipalisation. This in-fighting has continued, with the added tension of some outsourcing of service contracts having ended in July 2011 and some unions threatening to sue Eau de Paris for not automatically hiring workers from these outsourced firms.

#### Financial management

The biggest problems, however, were experienced with the financial system, particularly the transition from private to public accounting and buying procedures. As a public company, Eau de Paris requires all procurements above a certain price threshold to be decided by a commission, whose recommendations are then decided by the board. As a result,

delays have occurred in some important areas and administrative processes have generally grown more burdensome. Furthermore, public entities in France are legally required to establish a budget based on particular accounting methods. Finally, all payments are done by one sole public official, an accountancy agent (*agent comptable*) detached to Eau de Paris from the Ministry of Finances but who remains legally separate from the public operator and who is personally responsible for everything he signs.

Specific IT tools also had to be acquired to manage the thousands of invoices, creating another hurdle because the market for accounting software dedicated to managing public industrial structures in France is almost non-existent after three decades of privatisations. All this translated into severe, sometimes dramatic payment delays to suppliers. The situation is now improving, with several consultants hired to clean the books by the end of 2011, and with payment delays having been brought back to an above-average 30-35 days. The buying and procurement procedures are clearly heavier in the new institutional setting as compared to what existed before, but expense control has greatly improved.

### Ideological and structural obstacles within the city administration

One last difficulty is that some departments within the city administration, particularly the water and finance departments, were opposed to the remunicipalisation and thought that the mayor's pledge was nothing more than a political gesture that would not materialise. The consequence was that the transition was neither anticipated nor prepared for by these departments. Another explanation for this situation is that many public officials in management positions seem to prefer outsourcing public services to the private sector because it enables them to avoid managing complex infrastructures and numerous personnel. It can be simpler to organise a tender and, if necessary, to hire a consultant to solve the legal difficulties and/or monitor performance.

# Achievements, challenges and perspectives for Paris waters

Despite important challenges, Eau de Paris began operating Paris' water systems on January 1, 2010, and there was no apparent difference in service to end users. But of course lots had changed, including the signing of a performance contract<sup>21</sup> between the city and Eau de Paris, defining the new public company's objectives, putting it under closer scrutiny than any local water provider in the past in an effort to demonstrate that the public sector can be operated in a transparent and efficient manner. The contract was reviewed and approved by the municipality with indicators that enable the City Council to monitor performance and to communicate to workers and the wider public what the political objectives of the new water systems are, including permanent access to the best possible

water at a fair price, better transparency of water management with a clearer allocation of responsibilities, increased participation of users in the systems' management and strong social and environmental responsibility ambitions.

Eau de Paris is now a *régie à personnalité morale et à autonomie financière*, a semiautonomous body with a separate budget and legal status. It is publicly owned and citycontrolled. All top management appointments are decided by the City Council. The board is the highest body in the organisation and includes a president (currently Anne Le Strat, re-elected in 2008 and now also vice-mayor for water, sanitation and canals), 10 members of the City Council, two staff representatives and five 'qualified' persons including two water and sanitation experts, one environmental NGO, one consumer organisation and one member from *Observatoire Municipal de l'Eau* (City Water Observatory).

With Paris managing its water systems in-house, expectations were high at home and abroad and the move was monitored attentively by many in the water sector. After only 18 months of public operation (at the time of writing) it is still too early to offer a definitive assessment, but a number of key achievements and lessons can be highlighted, as outlined below.

### Financial savings above expectations

An outstanding achievement, beyond the sheer fact of having managed such a challenging transition in such a short time, are the economic results of the remunicipalisation. Operating costs are below expectations and below those of the private companies, while transition costs were lower than planned. The transition itself cost Eau de Paris roughly 15% of its turnover in its first year, but since financial surpluses reached €68 million (a figure that must be balanced out by the fact that some capital investments were postponed). Overall Eau de Paris saved some €35 million on its previous contract costs with Suez and Veolia thanks to remunicipalisation. These savings come from the internalisation of profits previously extracted by the private companies to pay shareholder dividends, from the systematic organisation of competitive tenders for works that were previously entrusted to the companies' subsidiaries, and from a more beneficial tax regime for in-house rather than private companies. These savings are expected to last, and enabled Delanoë and Le Strat to announce on January 5, 2011, an 8% decrease in Paris' drinking water tariffs (from  $\notin 1.0464/m^3$  to  $\notin 0.9627/m^3$ ), a symbolic victory that infuriated many in the private water industry who have been pushing for hikes in water tariffs for years. The city promised Parisians that the water tariff would not increase above inflation until 2015 (year of the next municipal election) despite decreasing revenues associated with diminishing consumption volumes of residents.<sup>22</sup>

### Better planning for the long term

Another achievement is the creation of synergies by merging the three previous operators into one for the same service area, enabling scale savings, a clearer institutional structure with cross-checks between water production and supply departments and a centralised overview of the cycle. In terms of water quality there is no detectable difference with the private sector era, but this new institutional architecture enables more comprehensive quality control. The researchers of the former public laboratory of the city (CRECEP), which was closed by a national government decision to open the "market" of water quality testing to competition, were partly re-hired in Eau de Paris' new internal laboratory. Importantly, a public water research centre called *Aqua Futura* has been launched with funding from the city, the region, and partnerships with neighbouring universities, and aims to create a centre of excellence for public water, independent of the large groups that dominate water research in France.

One must also note Eau de Paris' renewed interest in protecting water resources and tackling water pollution challenges over the long term, such as establishing partnerships with farmers around water catchment areas to help them switch to organic agriculture or at least to practice agricultural methods requiring fewer chemicals (the groundwater that supplies 50% of Paris' water did not need treatment until the 1990s). The program is new and will take several years to deliver, but several farmers have already begun the transition toward more environment-friendly farming with the support of Eau de Paris.

Network performance remains strong for drinking water (due in part to the high level of maintenance by the private companies in the last few years of their contract, a result of the 2003 contract renegotiation) but the network's age is a worrying factor. There is a major difference between maintaining a network, which the private companies did, and renewing it, which was not done according to Eau de Paris managers. Big investments are needed and have already been planned, but the question remains: How long can this old an infrastructure last? Some engineering knowledge has been lost in the transition from private to public ownership and needs to be re-built. A total assessment of infrastructure health, which had never been done, is now being undertaken by the city.

The fate of the network transporting raw water is more uncertain. Abandoned for decades, it requires major investments to be rehabilitated, but its dismantling would be extremely costly. The city has now launched a public debate to determine what infrastructure needs should be given priority. Either way, the cost of this prolonged inaction will be high.

### Reaching out: Transparency, solidarity, participation

Eau de Paris is investing in its general communication and in new interactive tools to enable users to better monitor their own consumption of water, the quality of water in their street and neighbourhood, and the planned works that might disrupt traffic. This transparency effort has been recognised by the main French consumers' association, *UFC Que Choisir.*<sup>23</sup> Eau de Paris' new website features numerous resources on the history of the service, its environmental impacts, and its social and solidarity programs. Eau de Paris has also launched campaigns to promote tap water against bottled water, to give advice on water savings and, more generally, to raise awareness about water challenges in Paris and worldwide.

The new public water company is also engaged in solidarity actions: it increased its contribution to the city's housing solidarity fund (from €175,000 to €500,000), paid a water solidarity allocation to 44,000 poor households in the city, commissioned a report on progressive billing,<sup>24</sup> launched a water saving campaign, and has systematically avoided cutting off water supply in squats. But solidarity is not restricted to local water users, with Eau de Paris engaged in defending and promoting public water management at the European and international levels. The public provider co-founded *Aqua Publica Europea*, a European federation of public water operators that represents and promotes public water management at the EU level, as well as defends public operators against water corporate lobbying activities. It supports NGOs of African migrants willing to develop water supply and sanitation in their home countries, and has established a partnership with the Moroccan *Office National de l'Eau Potable* (ONEP) to develop water supply in Mauritania. It also financially supports other public operators in developing countries, such as Phnom Penh,<sup>25</sup> one of the most efficient public operators in South-East Asia,<sup>26</sup> where Eau de Paris funds social connections.

In terms of user participation in the new public system, outcomes have been mixed. The push to remunicipalise was not driven by civil society, but city politicians have attempted to broaden the system's governance and involve users in decision-making processes. The City Water Observatory – a civil society water assembly created in 2006 to bring together consumers (mostly property agents), environmental NGOs, institutional players, and water experts that now meet six times a year – plays a consultative role at the moment, although Eau de Paris has been considering granting it a voting right on the board. Eau de Paris has also commissioned a study on water user participation in the hope of identifying inspirational practices, but evidence suggests that there is little demand for this in Paris at the moment. According to Eau de Paris' communications department, individual users are interested in a municipal water management topic when the information is
brought to their attention but they rarely see their water invoice because of Paris' collective billing system and as a result awareness of local water issues has remained low, despite the dramatic change in ownership and operation.

On a related note, many Eau de Paris employees seem unconvinced about the remunicipalisation idea: in addition to union in-fighting, the decision to lower water tariffs generated unease among some staff that fear that revenue reduction might impact their working conditions or salaries. The development of a lively public service culture within the organisation, after all the difficulties created by the transition, will of course take time but remains a crucial task for the sustainability of the organisation.

## Conclusion

A striking fact about the remunicipalisation of Paris waters is that it has been a highly political move undertaken with little public pressure or participation. Some civil society groups pushed for the system to be taken in-house, but they never managed to attract media attention, and in any case their lobbying power was no match for Veolia's and Suez's. Although the Greens and the Communists pushed for remunicipalisation from an early stage, the Socialist Party remained divided on the issue. What probably made the difference in convincing Mayor Delanoë were the numerous and detailed audits proving the potential for financial savings, more than arguments about managing water as a 'public good'.

The transition was difficult, particularly on the financial management side and in terms of personnel. Certain competences had to be re-built and in-depth knowledge of the infrastructure will take time to regain. The private operators did not undermine the transition, but neither did they provide help beyond their legal duties, at times withholding information on commercial grounds. The fact that some sections of the city administration were reluctant to remunicipalise did not help either. There were also weaknesses in the reform process: it was very top-down, linked to a handful of committed and competent individuals, and it created tensions in the organisation.

But despite these challenges, the transition was managed on time and with very impressive financial outcomes. The integration of the fragmented parts of the drinking system gave birth to a more efficient, consistent and longer-term planning organisation, as well as renewed activity of the company into water resource protection, research, innovation, and awareness-raising. In general, the major bottlenecks experienced during the transition phase were tackled efficiently, with the exception of the bitter fight between unions. Overall, the preliminary assessment is promising, with Paris' water systems moving from opaque, fragmented and short-term management to a more integrated, transparent, longer-term and progressive approach. Regardless of one's take on the outcomes, this enormous institutional reorganisation has created the institutional equivalent of a tsunami in a water sector dominated by privatisation ideology for the past three decades. The simplistic idea that the private sector is naturally better equipped to manage urban water systems was proven wrong in Paris, where a private duopoly by powerful companies was operating at the expense of the residents of the city. But this example has also shown that what has been done by politics can be undone by politics. There is no safeguard against the re-privatisation of Eau de Paris in the future. However, achieving the best performance possible and involving as many Parisians as possible in this success are ways for the city to work against a possible reversal. Political change brought about mostly by reasons of financial efficiency will then lead to a deeper set of political reasons to keep and broaden the public character of the city's waters.

#### Endnotes

- 1 The French reform of political party funding in the 1990s forced publication of all party accounts, which triggered numerous corruption scandals. It showed that water companies had been for years among the biggest contributors to governmental and opposition parties alike. See for instance Guinel, J. (1994) De grandes entreprises en cause: l'eau éclabousse la classe politique française. L'économiste 157 (December).
- 2 Barraqué, B. and Nercessian, A. (2008) *Mieux comprendre comment évolue la consommation d'eau à Paris*. Paris: Agence de l'Eau Seine-Normandie, Mairie de Paris.
- 3 Stefanovitch, Y. (2005) L'empire de l'eau. Paris: Ramsay, p. 93.
- 4 Barraqué and Nercessian (2008), op. cit.
- 5 Guillerme, A. (2010) Paris perd ses eaux. Le Monde, 5 April.
- 6 Mairie de Paris, Inspection Générale (2003) Le contrôle par la Ville de Paris de sa filière eau (production-distribution). IG – 00 – 06 (June). Paris: Mairie de Paris, p. 141.
- 7 Direction générale de la concurrence, de la consommation et de la répression des fraudes (DGC-CRF) (1999) *Enquête sur le prix de l'eau 1991/1997*, quoted in Main, P. (1999) L'économie de l'eau : Quelle tuyauterie à la française ? *H2O magazine* (April). http://www.h2o.net/magazine/quotidien-le-prix-de-l-eau/l-evolution-du-prix-de-l-eau-de-1991-a-1997.htm (accessed 13 January 2012).
- 8 Ville de Paris (2003) *Gestion du service commercial des Eaux de Paris*. Fascicule 0: Synthèse et conclusions, October. Paris : Ville de Paris, p. 23.
- 9 Author translation of text quoted in Laimé, M. (2007) Paris va éjecter Veolia et Suez de la SEM Eau de Paris. Les eaux glacées du calcul égoïste, 22 March. http://www.eauxglacees.com/Parisva-ejecter-Veolia-et-la-Suez (accessed 12 December 2011).
- 10 Mairie de Paris, Inspection Générale (2003), op.cit., pp. 70-74.

- 11 Delanoë, B. (2001) *Pour une gestion citoyenne et durable de l'eau à Paris.* Communication de M. le Maire de Paris 37-2001, DPE 147, 19 November. Paris: Mairie de Paris.
- 12 Author translation of text quoted in Laimé (2007), op.cit.
- 13 Stefanovitch (2005), op.cit.
- 14 François Leblanc, former director at SAGEP and current managing director at Eau de Paris, author interview and translation, September 2010.
- 15 Global Water Intelligence (2007) Suez and Veolia exiled by Eau de Paris, April.
- 16 Tribunal Administratif de Paris, n°0901127/6-1, 2009.
- 17 François Leblanc, author interview and translation, September 2010.
- 18 CGT Veolia (2010) Communiqué de presse sur Epic Eau de Paris, les ratés sociaux de la municipalisation Delanoë, 8 January.
- 19 See interview with former CRECEP director Claude Danglot in *Contretemps* (2011) L'eau comme bien commun ? Un retour sur l'expérience parisienne de remunicipalisation. http://www. contretemps.eu/interviews/leau-comme-bien-commun-retour-sur-lexp%C3%A9rienceparisienne-remunicipalisation (accessed 12 December 2011).
- 20 Such accusations have been repeatedly stated by a former Veolia unionist turned into a fierce public critic of the company, Jean-Luc Touly.
- 21 Mairie de Paris (2009) Contrat d'objectifs du service public de l'eau à Paris 2010-2014. Paris: Mairie de Paris.
- 22 Consumption decreased annually by 1.17% in 2008 and 1.9% in 2009, an overall 25% drop in consumption from 1990 (historical consumption peak).
- 23 Coing, H. (2011) Baisse du prix de l'eau à Paris. UFC Que Choisir? http://ufc-quechoisirparis-nord-est.org/l-eau-a-paris.php (accessed 12 December 2011).
- 24 Barraqué, B. (2009) Abonnements individuels à l'eau en appartements à Paris: éclairages international et national. *Flux* (76/77): 82-93.
- 25 Solidarity partnerships between SAGEP/Eau de Paris and the Phnom Penh Water Supply Authority started in 2003.
- 26 Binayak, D., Ek Sonn, C., Chea, V., Ganesh, P. and Simpson, R. (2010) Sharing the reform process. Learning from the Phnom Penh Water Supply Authority (PPWSA). Bangkok: International Union for Conservation of Nature and Natural Resources, Asia Regional Office and Phnom Penh Water Supply Authority, p. 20.

## **Chapter Three**

## From Fiasco to DAWASCO: Remunicipalising Water Systems in Dar es Salaam, Tanzania

by Martin Pigeon



Dar es Salaam's water and sewerage systems were in a terrible state when the government of Tanzania privatised them in 2003, signing a contract with City Water Services (CWS) – a joint-venture of Biwater (UK) and Gauff (Germany). This private consortium was later joined by a Tanzanian private firm, Superdoll. But private management did nothing to improve the situation, with the World Bank describing the private operator's performance as worse than its predecessor's. In 2005, a new public operator took over: Dar es Salaam Water and Sewerage Corporation (DAWASCO).

Since that time DAWASO has managed to extend coverage and improve critical aspects of water service delivery in Dar es Salaam, proving that public water services can be managed well by the state, and can outperform the private sector in many ways. Nevertheless, overall results are mixed, as DAWASCO has also begun to operate increasingly like a private company, focusing on full cost recovery and failing to meet its obligations in the lowest income areas of the city. To be fair, the daunting challenges faced by DAWASCO since remunicipalisation are part of the problem: derelict infrastructure, unreliable customer data, degraded water resources, and strict but not necessarily relevant conditionalities imposed by international donors to access investment funds. Understanding these challenges requires a review of the general legacies of post-colonial Tanzania, as well as the impacts of the failed privatisation. It also requires an examination of the ideological assumptions that continue to inform policy and practice in Tanzania as a whole.

## Historical background

Following its 1963 independence from Great Britain, and its 1964 partial merger with Zanzibar, Tanganyika became Tanzania, ruled by charismatic figure Julius Nyerere and his Revolutionary Party (Chama cha Mapinduzi, CCM). The first 25 years of independence were marked by an original socialist-inspired political regime that sought ideological independence from both capitalism and Soviet-style Marxism through 'African socialism' (Ujamaa), which was inspired by egalitarianism, self-reliance and cooperative agriculture. Most banks and industries were nationalised, literacy rates and access to health care and water supply were considerably improved, the state was successful at preventing ethnic clashes, and party leaders were legally kept from accumulating wealth and power.<sup>1</sup> The government, however, faced harsh difficulties. The collectivisation of agriculture was a disaster: production plummeted causing heavy reliance on food imports, and millions of resettled farmers went back to subsistence farming. The economic crisis of the late 1970s combined with the 1979 military intervention to oust Uganda's Idi Amin Dada had a severe impact on the national economy: by the early 1980s, industry was functioning at only 30% of its productive capacity.<sup>2</sup> The one-party system was also showing signs of exhaustion, with corruption spreading.<sup>3</sup> Nyerere stepped down voluntarily in

1985, leaving Tanzania among the poorest and most aid-dependent African countries.<sup>4</sup> Many Tanzanians still remember this mixed experience with centrally planned economies and large state bureaucracies. Since then, many social gains made in the 1970s such as literacy, public health care and water supply have been undermined.<sup>5</sup> The country had to comply with tough international financial institutions lending conditions leading to the privatisation of most of its parastatal companies<sup>6</sup> to access debt relief. We will see that this imposition played a key role in our case.

Dar es Salaam is the largest city in Tanzania, as well as its main industrial and commercial centre. The city has an official population of 2.5 million, projected to reach 3.5 million by 2015,<sup>7</sup> but unofficial estimates put the figures at 3 million in 1999 and a current population of up to 5 million, with a 7-10% yearly increase.<sup>8</sup> The city has a tropical climate with hot and humid weather most of the year, heavy rains falling between March and early May and between October and December to a lesser extent. This important rainfall seasonality is becoming more extreme with climate change and is reflected in more extreme river discharge variations, an important fact given that the city gets more than 90% of its water from rivers.

The water supplying Dar es Salaam comes from two main sources: the upper and lower plants on the Ruvu river (about 60 km north-west of the city) developed in 1959 and 1976; and an older small surface scheme in the southern part of the city completed under colonial rule in 1952. About 35 boreholes scattered throughout the city also supply the network, a legacy of those drilled in emergency during the severe droughts of 1984-1985 and 1997. The piped network was first developed in the city centre in the 1920s and 1930s, significant additions were made in the 1950s and the last major expansion occurred throughout the 1970s when the system's performance was at its best (most connected households were getting 24-hour supply at that time).

After independence, water supply in the city was directly managed by the Ministry of Water and Power. In 1977, the department in charge was turned into a parastatal company, the National Urban Water Authority (NUWA). Until 1991, those whose property was directly connected to the system had to pay for water while the water delivered at kiosks was free. A 1997 reform transformed NUWA into the Dar es Salaam Water and Sewerage Authority (DAWASA), a semi-independent entity aiming at financial autonomy, and combining for the first time both water supply and sanitation. But the last significant investments in the system dated back to the 1970s and had not been followed by proper maintenance, upgrades or expansions to cope with the city's rapidly increasing population. Thus, the system was in a terrible state by the early 1990s, with high levels of disrepair, unaccounted for water, major financial losses, demotivated workers and very low coverage.

This long-standing negligence also means that data related to water production, transfer, distribution and use in the city must be dealt with cautiously: metering has neither been consistent over time nor reliable, and the figures are politically sensitive, being crucial performance indicators for the utility managers and having played a pivotal role in the privatisation conflict. Data presented here must therefore be understood as an indication of scales and trends and not necessarily as an exact reflection of the state of water services in the city.

## The failure of privatisation

In August 2003, the World Bank spearheaded a US\$164.6 million fund to privatise Dar es Salaam's water services, under the banner of the Dar es Salaam Water Supply and Sanitation Project (DWSSP).<sup>9</sup> This initiative was welcomed with relief by local authorities as well as the media, as it signalled the launch of a much-awaited and badly-needed infrastructure investment program.<sup>10</sup> Assigning a lease contract to a private operator was a strict condition on the funding, and despite some progressive wording little consideration was given to public consultation, pro-poor focus or political debate.<sup>11</sup> The contract was kept secret even from Parliament. The experience did not last long: 21 months into the private concession, the government of Tanzania terminated the contract with the private water operator and police even briefly arrested its executives, who were soon expelled from the country.

In retrospect, the lead-up to the privatisation lasted much longer than the experiment itself. Already in 1997, the government of Tanzania consulted international private water companies about a concession contract but could not reach an agreement as none of the companies were willing to risk injecting money into a system that had been neglected for 20 years. There was also disagreement on the 'best' privatisation option. In the end, the World Bank insisted on redesigning a tender looking at a more limited investment from the private sector, and the government responded by proposing a 10-year "operating lease contract" in which a private company would take over responsibility for billing, tariff collection, general management and routine maintenance. In that scheme, DAWASA would retain ownership of the assets, rehabilitate and expand the network and monitor the performance of the operator. A first bid attracted proposals from three companies (Vivendi [now Veolia], Saur and Biwater) but was cancelled given the companies, Vivendi and Saur, withdrew their bids before the financial application stage, apparently convinced their UK competitor would be chosen whatever they proposed.

When CWS won the contract, it was a newly created joint venture between Biwater and Gauff Tanzania. They later formed a consortium with Superdoll Trailer Manufacture

Company Ltd (STM), a Tanzanian investor with a minority shareholding of 49%. The consortium's risks were limited by a string of "sweetener" loans and construction contracts from the donors in order to get them to accept below full cost recovery water tariffs in the first five years of the lease (although STM did not benefit from these contracts). The initial concept of the lease contract was to put the capital risk on DAWASA and the operational risk on CWS, but these boundaries were blurred by the addition of construction contracts worth US\$40 million that were safer sources of profit for the European companies.

As soon as operations began problems accrued, to the point that CWS stopped paying its monthly lease fee to DAWASA in January 2004, only five months after the contract started. CWS injected only half the capital it should have (US\$8.5 million), and the company's revenue dropped by a third between August 2003 and March 2005. Billing efficiency collapsed, new customers sometimes did not enter the billing system, and existing customers seemed to benefit from increased leeway in making payments directly to the company's revenue collectors. Technical performance was no better, with large delays in implementing first-time connections and getting started on the construction contracts. On top of all this, a 2006 report by the Ministry of Water<sup>12</sup> found that no financial report had been provided by CWS to DAWASA during the contract period.

Several reports and interviews with employees, union representatives and senior managers point to three main explanations for the failure of CWS. First, there was a surprising ignorance of the terms of the lease contract among CWS top executives who seemed to assume key components of the contract were still negotiable. On the crucial issue of tariffs, for instance, CWS was refused two tariff increases because of its poor technical performance.

Second, employees and technicians were "poorly trained and equipped," "badly remunerated and inadequately supervised,"<sup>13</sup> a situation that translated into widespread corruption and revenue collection embezzlement by employees. In its one and only substantial organisational reform, CWS attempted to retrench almost 40% of the workforce when it decided to sub-contract parts of the lease contract, despite promises made to the unions not to downsize. However, the contract was terminated before CWS could proceed.

Third, CWS's main objective was to improve revenue collection through a better billing system and customer database. It introduced new software to do so, but its implementation was very slow and was never completed. It also prioritised the metering of the network but did not consider that most meters spin on both air and water, a serious problem in a network characterised by rationing and low pressure. Many new metered customers were billed for large quantities of air passing in the pipes.

Technical performance improvements were also held back by external factors such as poor data reliability (CWS believed DAWASA had inflated connection and supply figures), unresolved legal doubts on interpretation of the lease contract, and considerable delays in other aspects of DWSSP's implementation. The non-payment of the lease fee as well as withholding of promised capital by CWS increased tension in its relationship with DAWASA, undermining potential collaborative work. The situation worsened among shareholders as well because Biwater and Gauff were reaping the biggest procurement contracts while the local investor, STM, barely had a say in the consortium's decision making. It got to the point that STM tried to sell its shares and refused to provide the second half of its required capital investment, prompting other shareholders to do the same and deepening CWS's financial crisis.

Lastly, but importantly, CWS was operating even though the independent regulator EWURA was not yet in place. This meant that regulation and performance monitoring were done by DAWASA and the Ministry of Water even though they were party to the contract. Once the government of Tanzania secured the DWSSP loan, it had few incentives to help CWS beyond its contractual obligations – although it did so in the early phase by giving CWS extra time to make payments. The conflict between DAWASA and CWS escalated. An independent facilitator was appointed, immediately drawing up a list of key issues to be addressed, but the government announced the termination of the lease contract before the conciliation procedure was finalised. It seems it had gathered sufficient proof of CWS's failure to win ensuing litigations and make sure that funders would not stop paying. This is why some argue that the failure of CWS was politically convenient for the government, who could then put the general blame on the company for the city's water problems and show action to remedy the CWS crisis a few months before the presidential elections.<sup>14</sup>

Court cases between the government of Tanzania and Biwater-Gauff at the United Nations Commission on International Trade Law (UNCITRAL) and at the World Bank's International Centre for Settlement of Investment Disputes (ICSID) were not won by the company. Although the government of Tanzania was deemed guilty of illegally terminating the contract, it was not forced to offer any financial compensation. The UN-CITRAL tribunal analysed the situation differently and sentenced CWS to a £3 million fine,<sup>15</sup> which was never paid because CWS had gone bankrupt, leaving the government furious at what it now describes as a "malicious deal."

## Back to public

Immediately following the termination of the contract with CWS in 2005, the government of Tanzania took control of the entire company structure – assets and employees –

and appointed a senior Ministry of Water and Irrigation official as CEO of the company renamed Dar es Salaam Water and Sewerage Corporation (DAWASCO). DAWASCO is a public parastatal company owned and financed by the Tanzanian state with a board appointed by the ministry. At creation, its most pressing tasks were to increase the systems' coverage, reliability and revenue.

#### Improving coverage and access

Perhaps the most immediate challenge for DAWASCO was addressing the extremely high level of leaks and unaccounted for water in the systems, estimated to be as high as 76% of the water leaving the treatment plants.<sup>16</sup> The situation has improved since DA-WASCO came into being, bringing the leaks rate down to roughly 56.5% in 2009, but this figure is still unacceptably high and recent donor-funded works on leakage reduction are hoped to make a more significant difference.<sup>17</sup>

Extending coverage is also a priority. Current estimates show that between 62% and 68% of city dwellers use tap water but only 8% have piped water in their homes. This figure nevertheless represents a 12.7% increase in connections between 2006 and 2009, with coverage continuing to increase according to interviews with DAWASCO officials. Connected users received an average eight hours of service a day in 2008, a figure that represents a slight improvement from 2006, but this has not progressed since.<sup>18</sup> Overall, however, DAWASCO has managed to improve coverage and is better positioned to meet rising demand for water in a growing city. DAWASCO also reports steady advances in metering, from 45% of connected users in 2006 to 67% in 2009. For billed customers, official water tariffs were increased in 30% in July 2006 to reach US\$0.56/m<sup>3</sup> (a point we will return to). In terms of responsiveness to users, DAWASCO has made substantial efforts to improve its performance, open communication channels and monitor efficiency in handling complaints.

Daily water production capacity is roughly 273,000 m<sup>3</sup>, in addition to an average of 5,800 m<sup>3</sup> raw water from boreholes. This is still far below total water demand, which was evaluated at 450,000 m<sup>3</sup> a day in 2007. Moreover, production figures are a theoretical maxima: the volumes of water reaching the city's distribution network are in fact much lower, with some 43% of the water leaking or being illegally diverted (mainly for agriculture) along the transmission mains between the Ruvu River and the city reservoirs.<sup>19</sup> One must also account for the leaks within the city's distribution system, as noted above. All this means that the actual volume of water reaching city users is closer to 100,000 m<sup>3</sup> a day. As a consequence, storage capacity is hardly used and several neighbourhoods have scarce supply, or none.

The average income in the poorest areas of the city is roughly US\$30 a month, making the official cost of water expensive but not unaffordable for most households in the city. But given the systems' poor reliability and limited coverage, Dar es Salaam inhabitants must use other sources to complement or replace the conventional network, which is less convenient and more expensive, as follows:

- Thirty-eight per cent of households buy water from re-sellers who get water through their domestic connection and sell it to their neighbours, often at inflated prices.
- $\cdot$  Some households use illegal connections or share private connections, creating further inefficiencies and reliability problems in the network.  $^{20}$
- Kiosks that are in part supplied by the network but are most often privately managed charge higher tariffs than the official EWURA rates.<sup>21</sup>
- · Private boreholes service many affluent neighbourhoods.
- · Private tankers serve to 'buffer' erratic supply.
- · Many households use bottled water.

This de facto privatisation of substantial parts of the network generates high levels of inequality, with prices varying depending on the supply chain's length. Analysis suggests that the poorest city dwellers spend the largest share of their revenue and make the greatest physical effort to get water.<sup>22</sup>

Economic inequality goes hand in hand with the spatial inequality inherited from the city's past: the piped network was first built for European colonisers and was later extended to middle and high-income elite areas after independence. The development of the network has since been driven by specific economic interests (e.g. industries, hotels). The Lower Ruvu treatment plant (70% of the systems' production capacity) mostly serves connected users who are located in the affluent low areas (coastal zones), the city centre and some southern neighbourhoods. The remaining 30% of water comes from the Upper Ruvu plant, the Mtoni plant and operational boreholes, serving the poorer areas of the city (the industrialised southern zone and the upper and west zones).

## Infrastructure funding

In 1995, it was estimated that at least US\$600 million was needed to repair and extend Dar es Salaam's water network to match current and projected demand,<sup>23</sup> a figure that kept growing until DWSSP-funded construction works first started in 2003. More recently, the government pledged an additional US\$436 million over three years to further improve the city's water system. Considering that the 2010 Tanzanian state budget was US\$4.66 billion, with \$300 million earmarked for the Ministry of Water and Irrigation, the scale of the effort is massive.

The national government has been the primary source of infrastructure funding, mostly drawn from international donor monies. This is because although DAWASCO's revenue collection rose by 7.8% annually between 2007 and 2009, and by 24.3% annually between 2008 and 2010, it has not covered operational expenses and is far from covering the required capital expenditures. For instance, in 2009 DAWASCO collected roughly US\$10.5 million but faced operational expenses of US\$19 million. The goal remains to make sufficient revenue to cover both operational and capital expenditure, but it is clear that national government will continue to form the bulk of infrastructure funding for many years.

#### Revenue and costs

DAWASCO explains its difficulty in raising revenue by the fact that some public institutions are not paying their water bills (notably the army) and that, in general, many unsatisfied customers feel they should not pay for a poor quality service, they do not trust the metering, or simply cannot afford the service. Revenue collection has grown since DAWASCO started operations, but it has not kept pace with peak operational expenses, particularly those related to rising energy costs that make up as much as 25% of the utility's operational costs. Poor maintenance of the network and long distance transfers force DAWASCO to use considerable quantities of energy to pump the water into the city. Import of chemicals (e.g. algaefloc) also represents a substantial cost.

On the whole, the ratio of costs to revenue decreased steadily between 2006 and 2008,<sup>24</sup> suggesting progress in DAWASCO's organisational economic efficiency, but these efforts are cancelled out by surges in energy prices, with accumulated losses now amounting to more than 230% of DAWASCO's asset value. As a result, it is unrealistic to expect revenue generation within DAWASCO to address full operating and capital cost needs. Major central government investments will be an unavoidable necessity.

#### Water quality

Water quality at catchments along the Ruvu River continues to worsen, with higher turbidity every year as a consequence of more concentrated rainfall and environmental destruction in the river basin. Since completion of the construction works linked to the privatisation contract, the water produced at Ruvu plants has generally met World Health Organisation standards when leaving the plants and in the bulk water mains (with the exception of higher chlorine residues than permitted), but it degrades in the final sections of the city's network due to leaks and illegal connections, and is not safe for drinking without additional treatment. The sewer network's poor condition further adds to the problem by contaminating groundwater and at times the piped drinking water supply. New investments in the endpoints of the network would be needed to solve this problem, but as yet investments have focused only on the production side.

### Working conditions

Staff working conditions are crucial to DAWASCO's performance. The CWS experiment was described by most interviewees as a major organisational disaster: leadership was largely perceived as illegitimate, low-ranking workers felt neglected, and the collective ethos of the organisation was badly damaged. This situation does not appear to have improved significantly since remunicipalisation: one third of employees were retrenched in 2007, following recommendations by business consultancy Ernst & Young, while new, young executives were hired and appointed in management positions, which caused resentment among older staff who felt they deserved these positions given their experience. Salary levels are also a problem as wages have been frozen since 2007 while inflation has been 10% annually on average.<sup>25</sup> Keeping competent staff on board is therefore a challenge and there have been numerous cases of engineers leaving the company after (expensive) training.

This inability, or unwillingness, of the organisation to offer adequate salaries and/or more motivating working conditions fuels another major problem: employee corruption. Indeed, most illegal connections appear to be performed by DAWASCO employees and many of those retrenched in 2007 are thought to be earning money this way today. Water bill embezzlement and excessive charging also continue to be reported.<sup>26</sup>

The implementation of individualised performance assessments is an attempt to increase employee oversight. The experiment began with area managers who saw part of their remuneration indexed on their fulfilment of performance indicators, including revenue collection. The scheme is now being extended to all DAWASCO employees, but with limited success considering that the paperwork it creates outweighs many of the possible benefits.

Tackling these issues is all the more difficult in an organisation whose top managers are typically engineers and tend to frame problems in technical terms, allegedly not favouring a flexible approach to human resources or good relations with non-specialist stakeholders.

## Acknowledging outside help?

In the early phase of remunicipalisation DAWASCO received considerable assistance from the public operator of Kampala's National Water and Sewerage Corporation (NWSC) in Uganda. NWSC's External Services Unit was instrumental in advising DAWASCO on how to improve financial performance, leakage control and customer relations, notably by helping designing the initial plans launched by DAWASCO's management. The first was the 100-day Operational Rescue Plan prepared in 2005 to reverse the poor performance trend. DAWASCO claims this plan led to a 36% increase in revenue collection and improved the number of metered connections and leakage control effectiveness.<sup>27</sup> It was followed by a "win-win" plan tackling the preceding issues on a longer term basis. Strangely, NWSC's role is now downplayed by many DAWASCO managers who point to the different hydrological and socio-economic contexts of the two cities.

## Looking ahead

#### Public ownership, corporate decision making

In some ways, the only substantial differences between DAWASCO and its private predecessor CWS are the result of the transition to public ownership and top management replacement. The institutional architecture designed for the private operator remains largely in place, with DAWASA (the semi-independent public entity) owning the infrastructure and DAWASCO (the parastatal company) acting as the 'asset-light' company operating on the basis of a performance contract. In fact, the terms of reference of the contract between DAWASA and DAWASCO are almost identical to the one that existed between DAWASA and CWS.

This unusual institutional setup was created for two reasons: it was the easiest solution at hand in the short term to guarantee the operations' continuation; and the World Bank (and some officials at the Ministry of Water) wanted to keep the new operator under competitive pressure to be in line with their market-oriented way of thinking. The government also explored options for replacing the failed private contract with another one in 2005 and 2006, but no international water company was interested and so the status quo prevailed.

This led to an absurd and costly situation. Both DAWASCO and DAWASA are controlled by the Ministry of Water, but the former refused to recognise the latter's oversight authority and reported directly to the ministry. This mutual mistrust resulted in DAWA-SA having to pay an annual US\$120,000 (almost 1% of DAWASCO's yearly revenue) for the services of an external auditing company to monitor DAWASCO's performance because it refused to report directly. The unsatisfactory performance of the latter led DAWASA to impose significant financial sanctions (US\$50,000-100,000 per year), but these remained symbolic since DAWASA had agreed in December 2005 to wait five years before asking DAWASCO to pay the lease fee and associated performance-based bonuses or sanctions. The situation has begun to change with the appointment of a new CEO at DAWASCO, whose conciliatory approach has enabled a more collaborative relationship, and their respective boards are now in regular contact. Although many managers in both entities now speak in favour of a merger between DAWASA and DAWASCO, the World Bank remains opposed to the idea and the option is not yet on the table at the ministry. Instead, the lease contract is still being renegotiated between the two parties.

#### A commercial management culture

This institutional setup of DAWASCO as an independent corporation also meant that its absolute priority was, and remains, that of increasing the revenue it receives from the water and sewerage services it provides. This translated into important efforts to clean customers' data, upgrade the billing system with the purchase of new and costly specialised software (US\$978,000) and diversify payment options (through mobiles phones, supermarkets, internet, etc). This modernisation drive is hindered by the low reliability of the whole system, irregular water supply and dubious metering, which all undermine the legitimacy of bills. The use of large-scale communication, media alerts and even scare tactics (e.g. temporary disconnections of entire neighbourhoods) to convince water users to pay for water managed to increase revenue by 37% between 2007-2008 and 2009-2010,<sup>28</sup> but DAWASCO also saw a surge in operational expenses over the same period. As a result, it has been piling up losses. The situation is now so dire that some senior managers at DAWASCO are considering opening up new businesses to generate revenue on the side for their company.

A striking fact emerging from interviews with most DAWASCO senior executives is indeed their desire to perform "as well as the private sector," a statement heard again and again, particularly when discussing DAWASCO's economic difficulties. This definition of 'performance' was also framed in private sector terms: financial efficiency and profitability were seen as preconditions to improvements in other service areas such as reliability, quality, safety and affordability. Whether this marketised attitude is a result of increasing neoliberal influence in the country, or the anti-public sector stigma associated with state bureaucracy of the past, or both, is difficult to say, but revenue obsession is also a product of the fact that the company's only legitimate revenue comes from water billing. The (crucial) financial contributions from central government and DAWASA that enable DAWASCO's operational survival are ad hoc and associated with a repeated and humiliating 'failure' message.

Another sign of the growing prevalence of a corporate culture is the systematic use of private business consultancies<sup>29</sup> to back major management decisions (layoffs, performance monitoring, etc) and the use of mainstream business management tools such as individualised performance assessments for employees.



Source: Dawasco news, Issue No. 2, July-September 2007

#### 'Development partners' as decision-makers

The water situation in Dar es Salaam is a recurring topic on the national political agenda, and it featured prominently in the 2010 presidential elections.<sup>30</sup> Re-elected President Jakaya Kikwete vowed to end the city's water problems in a major speech in July 2010 when he promised to expand water production capacity to 710 million litres a day by 2013-2014 with US funds from the Millennium Challenge Corporation (MCC) and to inject extra government money to develop the city's water treatment plants and exploit deep coastal aquifers south of the city.<sup>31</sup> But these promises are still very recent and history calls for caution in this regard: Kikwete made similar electoral pledges in his 2005 presidential campaign,<sup>32</sup> but the only large-scale public investment made was in a water transfer project from Lake Victoria to the Shinyanga region where there is a boom in gold mining.<sup>33</sup> Nonetheless, the government seems committed this time around and Parliament has supported a 15% increase in the Ministry of Water's budget for 2011,<sup>34</sup> as well as the launch of a US\$436 million program to upgrade Dar es Salaam's water infrastructure.<sup>35</sup>

But one must look beyond political rhetoric and go to the source of this funding. Monies come largely from development agencies and are attached to very specific conditions. International 'development partners' have controlled key decisions related to the development of Dar es Salaam's water systems since the late 1990s. The US\$164 million DWSSP loan offered by the World Bank in 2003 that imposed privatisation only expired in November 2010 and is now being replaced by a US\$951 million Water Sector Support Project (WSSP) in which the Bank is teaming up with other international donors (MCC, African Development Bank, a German bank and the Netherlands' development agency, among others).<sup>36</sup>

This powerful, but locally unaccountable, political influence infuriates many water managers in DAWASCO, at least those who feel confident enough to speak openly about the problem. The general feeling is that international donors jump ship when there are problems but claim any success for themselves. Foreign water specialists are seen by many as self-interested and taking what they need from the country before leaving. A more specific reproach made to international financial institutions is that loans allow them to get the country under their thumb and force Tanzanians to develop as they are told to. One DAWASCO executive summarised this rather bluntly: "If you want to get rid of them, you have to pay them their money back! But in the meantime they own you."<sup>37</sup> Another interviewee complained about having to lose time in meetings in which his only role was to sip coffee, munch biscuits, nod here and there and be used as proof that "the local stakeholders have participated in the project."<sup>38</sup>

Political and financial dependency undermines ownership and managers' commitment. A good example of this is found in the work program of a currently very active donor, the MCC. The MCC is a US foreign aid agency created in 2004 by former president George W. Bush. Its primary objective is to foster economic growth in developing countries through "good" economic policies.<sup>39</sup> Contributing a US\$207 million grant to the WSSP, the MCC funds two projects in Dar es Salaam: the expansion of the Lower Ruvu treatment plant and a non-revenue water reduction program. The expansion aims to increase the plant's capacity by 50%, up to 270,000 m<sup>3</sup> a day.<sup>40</sup> The problem is that the Ruvu river's dry season discharge is sometimes already too low to produce at full capacity, and the phenomenon has worsened over the past decades, climate change and deforestation factoring in. This means that the projected added capacity will be useless until completion of the construction of a large dam upstream (Kidunda) scheduled to start in 2011-2012 and last three years. However, this dam is already an old project that started with the Japanese cooperation agency that wanted to support its construction in the 1990s but backtracked after realising the potential socio-ecological damage and other shortcomings of the project.<sup>41</sup> The World Bank is now funding the initiative despite some water managers pointing at other possible and more sustainable sources. The government of Tanzania asked for a smaller dam downstream,<sup>42</sup> but works are underway and another reversal is unlikely.

Conditions to access MCC funding cause a second set of problems. Although the funds are a grant and not a loan, they come with a string of strict policy requirements. The 2008 compact states that "the water and sewerage authorities will be required to submit rate cases aimed at achieving operational and maintenance financial sustainability within the Compact Term and a sustainable trend for recovery of asset depreciation."<sup>43</sup> One can read between the lines that this refers to full cost recovery. This is confirmed by the compact's Monitoring and Evaluation Document, which mentions as a first risk for the project the inability of the government to implement "tariffs reforms falling short of recovery costs."<sup>44</sup> Another source at DAWASA was more specific, talking about a full cost recovery objective for tariffs to be implemented by the last year of the project, that is, by 2013-2014.<sup>45</sup> With current tariff levels that are far below full cost recovery and new planned investments, this means that the water tariffs in Dar es Salaam are meant to increase by 250-300%.

The catch-22 is that tariffs are regulated by the independent EWURA, which refused tariff increases twice in 2010. How can the government of Tanzania guarantee that the tariffs will increase as required by MCC without impinging upon the regulator's independence? This promises to be a contentious issue in the near future. On the one hand President Kikwete has insisted that he wants to keep water tariffs low,<sup>46</sup> on the other hand section 3.4(c) of the Compact states that "the Government shall not invoke any of the provisions of its internal law to justify or excuse a failure to perform its duties or responsibilities under this Compact."<sup>47</sup>

This brief overview of DAWASCO's inner workings and institutional and political environment only suggests that although formally owned by the government and formally a 'public' company, DAWASCO is far from being a public entity politically accountable to, and directed by, users of the city's water systems. But this is mostly out of DAWASCO's control: the Tanzanian government is legally required to implement international donors' policy recommendations and conditions, even if this means unaccountability to the population affected by these decisions.

## Conclusion

The CWS privatisation experience imposed by international donor conditions was a massive failure that resulted from the private operator's poor preparation, difficult relationships with staff, and shareholder in-fighting. The fact that the Tanzanian government precipitated the termination of the contract in an abrupt manner and used this termination to score political points before a presidential campaign was not enough for the private company to win its two legal claims against Tanzania at UNCITRAL and ICSID, two arbitration courts normally friendly to private investors' interests. Given this record, it is a remarkable achievement that its public successor DAWASCO was able to rise from CWS's ashes and reverse the performance trend to increase coverage and revenue, if only partially. However, its strong focus on cost recovery without radical improvements to the system has led to the use of problematic tactics. Performance remains fragile and irregular, direct access to the network remains with a small minority located in the most affluent areas of the city, and the majority of the population has to rely on indirect access at much higher prices. The real improvements come from capital works that are paid for by the central government, itself relying heavily on international development institutions. These institutions impose conditions that shape the system's structural evolution, both technically and ideologically, without being accountable to the users of the systems. In this sense, the remunicipalisation of water in Dar es Salaam is a default situation created by the collapse of a private contract, not a strategic move planned by sovereign political institutions. If political sovereignty is a condition for sustainability, then the limited choices imposed by donor conditionality must be seen as one of the biggest obstacles to solving Dar es Salaam's water woes in the long run.

#### Endnotes

- 1 Podesta, J.J. (2006) *Julius Nyerere*. Farmington Hills (MI): Gale Contemporary Black Biography, Gale.
- 2 World Bank (2000) Report and recommendations on the programmatic structural adjustment credit for Tanzania (P-7376-TA). Washington, DC: World Bank.
- 3 The Guardian (1999) Julius Nyerere, 15 October. http://www.guardian.co.uk/news/1999/ oct/15/guardianobituaries (accessed 12 December 2011).
- 4 Skinner, A. (2005) Tanzania & Zanzibar. London: Cadogan Guides, p. 19.
- 5 Munyaga, M. (2000) Participatory approach revives adult education in Tanzania. Presentation at the World Education Forum, International Consultative Forum on Education for All convened by UNDP, UNESCO, UNFPA, UNICEF and the World Bank, Dakar, Senegal. http://www. unesco.org/education/wef/en-news/tanzania.shtm (accessed 12 December 2011).
- 6 Harrison, G. (2004) *The World Bank and Africa: The construction of governance states.* London and New York: Routledge.
- 7 National Bureau of Statistics, Republic of Tanzania (2002) *Population and Housing Census*. Dar es Salaam: NBS.
- 8 Dongus, S. (2000) Vegetable production on open spaces in Dar es Salaam Spatial changes from 1992 to 1999. Freiburg: Albert-Ludwigs-University of Freiburg/Germany, Institute of Physical Geography. http://www.cityfarmer.org/daressalaam.html (accessed 12 December 2011).
- 9 The figure breaks down as follows: \$61.5 million from IDA, \$48 million from AfDB, \$34 million from EIB, \$12.6 million from DAWASA and \$8.5 million from the private operator CWS.

- 10 Kjellén, M. (2006) From public pipes to private hands: Water access and distribution in Dar es Salaam, Tanzania. Stockholm: Department of Human Geography, Stockholm University.
- 11 Action Aid UK (2004) *Turning off the taps: Donor conditionality and water privatisation in Dar es Salaam, Tanzania.* London: ActionAid UK.
- 12 United Republic of Tanzania, Ministry of Water and DAWASCO Review and Restructuring Committee (2006) Options for public-private partnerships in DAWASCO – Draft final report. Dar es Salaam: Republic of Tanzania.
- 13 WaterAid Tanzania (2008) Why did City Water fail? The rise and fall of private sector participation in Dar es Salaam's water supply. Dar es Salaam: WaterAid. p. 10
- 14 Ibid., p. 13
- 15 The Guardian (2008) Tanzania wins £3m damages from Biwater subsidiary, 11 January. http:// www.guardian.co.uk/business/2008/jan/11/worldbank.tanzania (accessed 12 December 2011).
- 16 WaterAid Tanzania (2003) Prospects for the poor: Water reforms and private sector participation in Dar es Salaam, Tanzania. Dar es Salaam: WaterAid Tanzania. http://www.wateraid.org/ documents/prospects\_for\_the\_poor\_1.pdf (accessed 12 December 2011).
- 17 Mwakalebela, L. (2011) 600bn/- to end Dar es Salaam water woes. Daily News, 15 March. http:// dailynews.co.tz/home/?n=18111 (accessed 12 December 2011).
- 18 EWURA (2010) Annual report of Urban Water Supply and Sewerage Authorities (UWSAs) for the period of 2008/09. Dar es Salaam: EWURA. http://ewura.go.tz/annualreportswaterreg.html (accessed 12 December 2011).
- 19 WaterAid Tanzania (2003) Prospects for the poor: Water reforms and private sector participation in Dar es Salaam, Tanzania. Dar es Salaam: WaterAid Tanzania. http://www.wateraid.org/documents/prospects\_for\_the\_poor\_1.pdf (accessed 12 December 2011).
- 20 Kjellén (2006), op. cit.
- 21 Uwazi (2010) Water prices in Dar es Salaam: Do water kiosks comply with official tariffs? Policy brief TZ09/2010E, September. Dar es Salaam: Uwazi. http://www.uwazi.org/uploads/files/ Water%20kiosks%20in%20DSM%20Englsih.pdf (accessed 12 December 2011).
- 22 Kjellén, M. (2006) Generalization of price and effort in water acquisition, by service mode and household wealth, p. 243
- 23 Boyd, G. (2001) An overview of private sector participation in the Dar es Salaam Water and Sanitation Authority: A report for WaterAid-Tanzania. Dar es Salaam: WaterAid Tanzania, pp. 19-20, citing Howard Humphreys Tanzania Ltd (1995) Feasibility report on the rehabilitation of the Dar es Salaam Water Supply System. Dar es Salaam: WaterAid Tanzania.
- 24 EWURA (2010), op.cit.
- 25 Index Mundi (2011) Tanzania inflation rate (consumer prices). http://www.indexmundi.com/ tanzania/inflation\_rate\_%28consumer\_prices%29.html (accessed 12 December 2011).
- 26 Business Times (2011) Dawasco accused of swindling millions via inflated water bills, 11 February. http://www.businesstimes.co.tz/index.php?option=com\_content&view=article&id=717:dawasco-accused-of-swindling-millions-via-inflated-water-bills&catid=1:latest-news&Itemid=57 (accessed 12 December 2011).
- 27 DAWASCO (2006) Annual plan for 2006-2007. Dar es Salaam: DAWASCO, p. 7.
- 28 DAWASCO (2010) Technical report 2009-2010. Dar es Salaam: DAWASCO.
- 29 In general one of the "big four": KPMG, Ernst & Young, PriceWaterhouseCoopers and Deloitte.

- 30 Mgamba, R. (2010) Judgment Day. *Guardian on Sunday*, 31 October. http://www.ippmedia. com/frontend/index.php/oi.poc/6live/?l=22614 (accessed 12 December 2011).
- 31 Daily News (2010) End of Dar es Salaam water blues in sight, 20 July.
- 32 The Guardian (2005) Kikwete promises to end Dar water woes, 25 November.
- 33 See map on the Tanzanian Chamber of Mines website: http://www.chamberofmines-tz.com/.
- 34 Alvar Mwakyusa, K. (2011) Solve Dar water woes, MPs urge. Daily News, 30 March. http:// dailynews.co.tz/home/?n=18551; Mwakalebela (2011), op.cit.
- 35 Semberya, D. (2011) \$436m approved to end Dar water woes. *East African Business Week*, 20 March. http://www.busiweek.com/11/news/tanzania/684-436m-approved-to-end-dar-water-woes (accessed 12 December 2011).
- 36 World Bank (2011) Water Sector Support Project, Tanzania. http://web.worldbank.org/external/ projects/main?Projectid=P087154&theSitePK=40941&piPK=64302772&pagePK=64330670 &menuPK=64282135&Type=Financial (accessed 12 December 2011).
- 37 DAWASCO executive, author interview, 12 November 2010.
- 38 DAWASCO executive, author interview, 4 November 2010.
- 39 Millennium Challenge Corporation (n.d.) About MCC. http://www.mcc.gov/pages/about (accessed 12 December 2011).
- 40 Millenium Challenge Account Tanzania (2009) *Capacity of Lower Ruvu water treatment plant to be expanded.* Press release, Dar es Salaam, 12 May.
- 41 Rustagi, D. (2005) What the Kidunda dam will destroy: Ecological and socio-economic value of Gonabis, Selous Game Reserve, Tanzania. Tanzania Wildlife Discussion Paper no. 45. Dar es Salaam: GTZ Wildlife Programme in Tanzania, Wildlife Division.
- 42 United Republic of Tanzania, Ministry of Water and Irrigation (2008) Terms of reference for consultancy services for preparation of feasibility study, detailed design and environmental and social assessment for Kidunda dam. Dar es Salaam: MoWI. http://www.wildlife-baldus.com/ download/KIDUNDA\_WB\_COMMENTS\_REVISED\_NOV\_2008.pdf (accessed 12 December 2011).
- 43 Annex I, D, 6 Sustainability Section of the Millennium Challenge Compact between the United States of America acting through the Millennium Challenge Corporation and the Government of the United Republic of Tanzania acting through the Ministry of Finance, 17 February 2008.
- 44 United Republic of Tanzania, Ministry of Finance and Economic Affairs Millenium Challenge Account – Tanzania, *Monitoring and Evaluation Plan*, March 2010, p.23
- 45 DAWASA financial manager, author interview, November 2010.
- 46 Mwakyusa, A. (2011) Kikwete pledges more funds to water sector. *Daily News*, 24 March. http://dailynews.co.tz/home/?n=18376&cat=home (accessed 12 December 2011).
- 47 Millennium Challenge Compact (2008), op.cit.

Chapter Four

# Aguas Públicas: Buenos Aires in Muddled Waters

by Daniel Azpiazu<sup>1</sup> and José Esteban Castro



In 1993 the private consortium *Aguas Argentinas SA* (AASA), headed by the French multinational Suez, was granted a 30-year concession to run the integrated water and sanitation services of the Buenos Aires metropolitan area. At the time it was the largest of such private concessions in the world, serving roughly nine million people in Argentina. The contract was imbued with neoliberal recommendations and was heralded as a flagship privatisation to be replicated in other countries.<sup>2</sup> In what followed, the private operator failed to comply with contractual obligations, but Argentine authorities turned a blind eye. However, in 2006 the government cancelled the AASA concession and then-president Nestor Kirchner returned the responsibility for water and sanitation services to the public sector.

Strictly speaking, the de-privatisation of AASA was not a case of 'remunicipalisation'. First, the concession had been granted by the federal government and not by municipal authorities. Second, it was taken over by a newly created public company, *Agua y Saneamientos Argentinos* (AySA), under the control of the national government. Nevertheless, the water service operates at a municipal level and lessons learned from this case are relevant to the subject matter of this book. In particular, the case highlights how the privatisation of water and sanitation makes it difficult to reorganise around public objectives, especially those of subordinating profitability to higher social priorities of universal access to quality water services.

In the first part of the chapter we review key aspects of AASA's concession to contextualise the cancellation of the private contract. We then analyse the long and conflictive process of contract renegotiation that took place between 2002 and 2006, involving not only the national government, Congress and the private operator but also foreign governments, international tribunals, workers' unions (mainly the Sanitary Works Union of the Great Buenos Aires, SEGBATOS), non-governmental organisations and independent public institutions, among others. Part three reviews problems associated with the normative and regulatory institutions that emerged with renationalisation and the creation of AySA. Finally, the performance and main characteristics of the public operator are examined. We conclude by drawing lessons from Buenos Aires' disastrous experience with privatisation and how this affects shifts to public water services.

## Cashing in on poor performance

The troublesome history of the AASA concession can be divided in two periods: from 1993-2002, and from 2002-2006. The first period was characterised by recurring contractual modifications, mostly associated with tariff increases and by repeated government complaints about AASA's failure to honour the contract in relation to investment commitments, expansion targets, environmental protection and service quality, among other issues. Yet, authorities showed leniency in face of the financial strategy adopted by

the private operator, which would come to have disastrous consequences. This period was marked by the systematic subordination of authorities to the interests of the private operator, with initial government complacency turning into an unwillingness to pay the political cost of interrupting an emblematic privatisation effort. The second period concerns the long-delayed process of contract renegotiation that was triggered by the abandonment of fixed parity of the Argentine peso with the US dollar.

The terms of the original concession, the main modifications introduced afterwards, and the underlying drivers of the concessionaire's strategy help understand the dynamics of these two periods. In a nutshell, in the original contract the operator committed to: 1) universalisation of access by 2023 (100% coverage for water from 70% in 1993 and 95% from 58% for sewerage); 2) improvement of service quality to meet international standards; and 3) incorporation of new technologies for wastewater treatment. This was to be achieved while maintaining "reasonable" services tariffs, with an initial reduction of 26.9% of the existing tariff.<sup>3</sup>

The original contract divided the life of the concession into six five-year periods, and contract revisions were to take place at the end of each period to verify the operator's compliance with expansion targets, investments, and the tariff freeze that was integral to the original bid. However, the first 10 years of the concession were subsequently exempted from the tariff freeze requirement as requested in the private company's offer. Monitoring compliance was to be the shared responsibility of the service regulator and of the Tripartite Entity for Sanitary Works and Services (ETOSS, in its Spanish acronym), according to the Regulatory Framework set by Decree 999/1992.

As for the quality of water supply and sewerage services the contract adopted the physical-chemical and bacteriological parameters recommended by the World Health Organisation. Specific environmental protection measures were agreed to, which required the concessionary to build wastewater treatment plants with the objective of progressively eliminating the pollution of water sources. Tariff regulation was based on a mean income per user cap for the private operator whereby ETOSS could demand tariff reductions if this income were to exceed a set level. As with many other terms of the original contract, this criterion was modified in contractual renegotiations in following years, much to the benefit of the private company.

The contract also established two possibilities to grant tariff adjustments: "ordinary" and "extraordinary." The former would be considered during the performance reviews at the end of the five-year periods, while the latter could be granted in cases of changes in the company's operational costs as measured by a special index. Before the end of the first year of the concession AASA requested an "extraordinary revision" of the tariff arguing that it had suffered unforeseen operational losses and ETOSS allowed a 13.5% tariff

increase, on top of a considerable rise in the fixed "infrastructure charge" levied on newly connected users.  $^4$ 

From then on, AASA's concession was characterised by a worsening record of noncompliance with contractual targets, particularly regarding the pace of investments, the expansion of coverage, and the quality of services. It was also marked by the operator's relentless pressure to squeeze concessions from the authorities, including demands to 'dollarise' the tariffs and to tackle widespread non-payment of the infrastructure charge by newly connected users. The government responded favourably to the company's demands and in 1997 set up a process to renegotiate the concession contract that brought about substantive modifications to the original terms (Decrees 149/97 and 1167). The renegotiations continued between 1997 and 1999, resulting in additional modifications to respond to the private operator's interests. The new terms of the contract included: the effective dollarisation of the tariff that came to tie directly to the evolution of a US price index; the elimination of the regulatory principle that capped the mean income per user; the provision for yearly "extraordinary revisions" of the contract; and the cancellation or postponement of investment commitments originally agreed to. In this context, the first five-year review originally scheduled for 1998 was delayed until 2001, when a new Five-Year Plan was negotiated behind closed doors between AASA and ETOSS. The new plan contemplated additional tariff increases as requested by the operator to comply with the investment targets, including new fixed charges.

During the period 1993-2002, ETOSS estimates that AASA only met 60.9% of its contractual investment and expansion targets; a poor performance considering that this figure was calculated on the basis of the lower renegotiated investment commitments (ETOSS, 2003). In terms of environmental protection, AASA did not deliver on these commitments either, with dangerous substances (such as arsenic, cyanide, heavy metals and nitrates) remaining well above recommended World Health Organisation levels. As a case in point, AASA had not assessed potential environmental impacts when it decided to close a number of underground water wells in the southern area of Greater Buenos Aires, leaving municipalities reliant on water supplies pumped from La Plata River. This decision eventually caused a rise of the water table, which led to flooding of buildings and streets in the municipalities of Lomas de Zamora, Quilmes and Morón; it also worsened the pollution of the underground water sources in the region. In 2001 the municipality of Berazategui presented a lawsuit against AASA for failing to comply with the original contractual commitments to build adequate treatment facilities for the sewage that was still being released untreated into La Plata. Later on, evidence of this type of negative environmental impacts of AASA's activities would contribute to the cancellation of the contract.<sup>5</sup>

Lack of compliance with the original commitments was also reflected in the failure to meet expansion targets. The target for water supply was to increase coverage from 70%

to 88% by 2002, but it had only risen to 79% by then. The target for sewerage was to increase coverage from 58% to 74%, but it barely reached 63%. This means that by 2002, 800,000 people were still left without access to water, and more than one million without sewerage services. The figure is substantially higher if we consider the original targets for primary wastewater treatment for which AASA complied only at 7%, thus leaving more than six million people without this service.<sup>6</sup>

Another indicator of poor performance is the increasingly regressive evolution of the tariff. First, between May 1993 and January 2002 the mean residential tariff increased by 87.9%, while during the same period the Consumer Price Index only increased by 7.3%. Second, during the contract renegotiations a number of progressive tariff criteria that provided some level of cross-subsidy to support lower income users were removed, and this is reflected in the impact of the tariff hikes on different groups of users. In the same period, the basic tariff increased by 177% and the average bill by 62%, but high consumption users only saw a 44% rise.<sup>7</sup>

Under these conditions, the private company cashed in on a mean profit rate of more than 20% over net assets and around 13.3% over aggregated revenues between 1994 and 2001. Low price elasticity of demand and relative stability of consumption, coupled with null risk guaranteed by the complacency and leniency of the regulatory authorities, meant that AASA was allowed to make extraordinary profits while failing to deliver on contractual commitments. AASA also minimised the use of its own private resources and accumulated a disproportionate level of debt to fund the investments. Between May 1993 and December 2001, only 2.6% of AASA's total investments came from its own funds. The company acquired huge debts well above the maximum levels permitted in the original contract, mostly with multilateral financial bodies at interest rates much lower than those available in the local market. This strategy would eventually have disastrous results, not least because AASA dismissed the potential risks of future devaluations. Thus, when the peso-dollar parity was ended in 2002 the private operator faced a debt of US\$700 million, which then represented over three years of gross revenue and over 20 times the net value of the company. This also explains why in 2002 AASA's account deficit was 13% higher than the total amount billed that year.

To summarise, the first period of the concession was marked by a series of contractual modifications, mostly related to tariff increases, and by a lack of compliance with investment commitments, expansion targets, environmental protection and service quality. All the while, the company was stacking up profits and debts.

#### The renationalisation saga

The passage of the Law of Economic Emergency and Exchange Regime (Law 25561)

in early 2002 triggered the cancellation of AASA's contract. The legislation ended fixed parity between the Argentine peso and the US dollar and established a new operational context for companies privatised during the 1990s. In particular, it cancelled the indexing mechanisms previously enforced to increase tariffs and reverted to local currency public service tariffs (*pesificación*). It stipulated that all contracts with privatised companies would be subject to renegotiation but in the meantime private operators could not suspend or alter the terms of compliance with their contractual obligations.

In this context, the AASA renegotiation entered a complex stage. The private company reacted immediately by putting pressure on the government, directly and through its foreign shareholders, notably appealing to the World Bank's International Centre for Settlement of Investment Disputes (ICSID).<sup>8</sup> In addition, the governments of the countries where shareholders were based, especially France, rallied with the International Monetary Fund (IMF) to press Argentina to resolve the matter to AASA's advantage. These developments imposed severe restrictions and worsened the conditions for the long-delayed and already conflictive process of contract renegotiation.

AASA had not changed its approach since the 1990s and showed no inclination to accept the loss of the privileges it enjoyed for almost a decade. Within days of the enactment of the new law, AASA prepared an emergency plan and made a number of requests to the government: to provide retroactive insurance to cover its external debt of around US\$700 million, to grant a peso-dollar parity for its imports (mostly internal transactions between foreign and local branches of the consortium companies), and to suspend all investments unilaterally and indiscriminately.<sup>9</sup>

However, when Nestor Kirchner assumed the presidency in 2003 his government seriously considered revoking the contract. There was a strong sense that the privatisations of the 1990s, particularly AASA's, carried a heavy social cost. A number of official reports<sup>10</sup> and evidence gathered by civil society organisations, including user and consumer groups and NGOs, suggested that there was sufficient proof of non-compliance to annul the contract. A number of other options were on the table, for instance private management (preferably with a different shareholder structure) with more state intervention for infrastructure planning and development, or an adapted contract to facilitate the private "management" of the company but to fully transfer the responsibility for infrastructure expansion and maintenance to the government.<sup>11</sup>

Following the 2002 Argentina default on its public debt, a clear priority for the government was to find a solution that would prevent taking charge of AASA's huge debt and that would avert harsh international pressures. Hence, in May 2004 the government signed an agreement that maintained tariff levels, suspended fines for contractual noncompliance and committed to pumping public money into infrastructure works while binding AASA to suspend its request for arbitration before the ICSID and to present a plan to restructure its external debt.

However, the renegotiation took a new turn in October 2004 when AASA submitted a new proposal that revived the confrontational character of the process. AASA's proposal included a series of steps oriented at reconstituting the economic-financial equilibrium of the concession: a revenue increase of 60% from January 2005; state intervention to obtain a loan for US\$250 million to be repaid in 18 years at an interest rate of 3%, with a three-year holiday period; government commitment to take charge of 48% of future infrastructure investments; and exemption from income tax.

Argentine authorities deemed the proposal unacceptable, marking a turning point in the renegotiations. The process became even more antagonistic in the following months, possibly because the private operator's main shareholders sensed that the ICSID would rule in their favour and against Argentina.<sup>12</sup>

Finally, after mounting confrontations, the government passed Decrees of Necessity and Urgency 303/2006 and 304/2006 in March 2006 to cancel AASA's concession and create the public company AySA under a participatory ownership scheme (the state owns 90% and the workers' union owns 10%) to immediately take responsibility for the provision of water and sanitation services.

#### An imperfect institutional design

The case of AySA was unique in the series of renationalisations implemented by the Kirchner administration in that it sought to consolidate the operational-institutional environment of the new public company in normative terms. The proposed Regulatory Framework submitted to Congress in November 2006 set sector-specific norms for water and sanitation embedded in a national law rather than relying on *ad hoc* special decrees sanctioned by the executive, as had been the rule during the 1990s. Moreover, it appeared it would allow public debate on water and sanitation and on public goods more broadly. Unfortunately, the impact of this well-intentioned initiative was limited due to a number of factors. In Congress, as much as in society, debate remained limited since the government was able to pass the law quickly thanks to the majority it enjoyed in both chambers.<sup>13</sup> The March 2007 law had a number of important shortcomings in light of existing international standards and experiences. For example, there was no provision for public discussion of the AASA renationalisation process even though there had not previously been massive public mobilisation to end the private concession – with the exception of protests organised by the Coordinator of Neighbourhood Assemblies against *Aguas Argentinas*.

The new legislation created a new regulatory body for monitoring and control, the Water and Sanitation Regulatory Entity (ERAS), within the Ministry of Federal Planning, Public Investment and Services (MINPLAN). Its three directors were appointed by the federal executive without public competition based on professional merit and without consultation with Congress. Thus, from the start it was clear that the degree of autonomy of the new regulator was seriously compromised. The law also established the creation of the Planning Agency (APLA), also within MINPLAN, with responsibility for the "evaluation, study, planning, projection, execution and control of investments."<sup>14</sup> The Under Secretariat of Water Resources (SSRH) became the implementing authority with the responsibility for setting water and sanitation tariffs, and its director would be the same as APLA's.

These considerations illustrate that despite the important advances made through setting up a new public entity, the institutional design of AySA had significant shortcomings. These range from the vague delimitation of incumbencies for the various bodies, aggravated by the multiplication of government agencies involved, to the limitation of the role of the regulator to functions of monitoring and control, to the concentration of the authority for implementation, planning and regulation in the hands of MINPLAN.

Furthermore, the new law does not obligate public consultations for substantial modifications to the system (e.g. alterations in the tariff system or in expansion targets). Participation is limited to consultations organised by the user syndicate, an entity operating voluntarily and constituted by recognised organisations defending user interests. The law provided for the parallel creation of a consumer watchdog entity to represent users in public hearings and judicial or administrative procedures; its head would be appointed through public competition based on professional credentials, a process that only started in late 2010. Clearly, users had little if any opportunity to participate in crucial decisions such as tariff setting or infrastructure planning. When the much delayed incorporation of user representation in ERAS through the consumer watchdog, and to a lesser extent through the user syndicate, finally comes into effect, it will be merely tokenistic unless significant changes are introduced.

Summing up, the creation of AySA permitted important advances, particularly by putting in place a regulatory framework specific to the water and sanitation sector that facilitates control and monitoring. However, the concentration of regulatory and other functions in the hands of the executive strays from international best practice. Today, AySA's institutional and operational environment is fragmented and all decision making is centralised.

## Assessing AySA's performance

Although AySA is still relatively new, it is useful to assess its performance from the perspective of 'efficiency'. The conventional, neoclassical understanding of efficiency gives priority to the profit rate of a stand-alone organisation. We argue that it is necessary to go beyond these narrow confines and to recover a broader meaning of efficiency that includes state subsidies in the provision of essential public goods and services, and recognises the social and environmental benefits of investments that go beyond a single agency or sector.

If we were to accept the neoclassical position, the performance of AASA between 1993 and 2001 would be considered highly efficient, as it delivered a mean profit rate of over 20% on net assets. By contrast, the efficiency of AySA since its creation would be considered negative. Despite receiving direct transfers from the national budget equivalent to 60% of gross revenue, the company's 2010 balance sheet showed losses of 18.5% over gross revenue and 6.6% over net assets.<sup>15</sup> Alternatively, if we give analytical priority to such indicators as the expansion of access to water and sanitation services to achieve essential social objectives, then AySA's performance to date would have to be considered much more 'efficient' than its predecessor's.

When AySA began operations in March 2006 the deficit in service coverage was 16% (1.5 million people) for potable water and 36% (3.5 million people) for sewerage. In response, AySA implemented the Plan for Immediate Action (PIA), involving infrastructure investments of roughly US\$40 million. The PIA had several sub-components and was mainly oriented to: 1) recovering the quality of services (Nitrates Plan), which had deteriorated in some areas due to poor environmental management by AASA; 2) expanding the capacity for treatment and transportation of drinking water and increasing access to new users; and 3) rehabilitating and renewing the infrastructure to guarantee service provision during periods of peak demand.

A more comprehensive roadmap, the Water Supply and Sanitation Master Plan 2006-2020 (WSMP), was launched in October 2006 by President Kirchner. It sets the priority goal of securing rapid universal access to water and sanitation services for AySA. The WSMP is divided into two phases, the Five-Year Plan (2007-2011) and the post-2012 period. The initial Five-Year Plan aims to achieve full universalisation of access to water (connecting 1.5 million new people) by 2012 and expanding the coverage for sewerage to 80% of the population (connecting 1.4 million new people). It also sets targets for improvements in the quality of drinking water and rehabilitation of infrastructure. For 2020, the WSMP aims to extend the coverage for sewerage services to 95% of the population, while also providing for the maintenance and renewal of the infrastructure and improving environmental health. The WSMP represents a total investment of roughly US\$5.7 billion, and funding responsibility is shared by AySA (52%) and the national government (38%), while the Autonomous City of Buenos Aires (5%) also contribute to the effort.

In brief, looking at AySA's economic-financial performance requires one to remember that the *raison d'être* of the company is not to make profit, provide value to private shareholders or become a water and sanitation utility that can compete on international markets. AySA's aim is to universalise access in the Buenos Aires metropolitan area by 2020 and, as such, it forms part of a political program that prioritises public and environmental health and well-being. The national government has committed to huge investments to meet these goals because it concluded that sufficient funding cannot come from AySA's revenues. Concretely, the federal government has granted increased transfers, which in 2009 amounted to roughly US\$137 million and were projected to rise to US\$340 million in 2010.

Crucial political decisions will have to be made to balance between the possibility of economic-financial self-sufficiency of the company and the higher societal goals set by the WSMP for 2020. It is important to critically evaluate the current economic-financial model in order to anticipate potential problems that may jeopardise the future performance of the utility and, consequently, the ability of the government to meet the targets. Among the key factors that influence AySA's chances of meeting its objectives are the infrastructure programs funded by the National Entity for Sanitation Water Works (ENOHSA) and tariff policies, to which we turn now.

## Tariff policy

The WSMP explicitly recognises that AySA's revenues will not be sufficient to fund the investments needed to meet its ambitious targets, which has proven true since 2007 as revenues have been consistently lower than operational costs.<sup>16</sup> This situation calls for a critical examination of the present tariff structure. A revision of tariffs could help to introduce more equity and solidarity among users, induce more rational water use, and allow for a reduction in the contribution required from the national budget to reallocate resources in priority areas.

It is worth recalling that water and sanitation tariffs have been frozen since January 2002, while the Consumer Price Index has increased by 150% as of November 2010. It is evident that the policy has had a significant impact on the company's revenue. Moreover, the tariff structure was inherited from AASA, which, as explained earlier, showed a number of distortions due to regressive fixed charges introduced during the renegotiations of the original contract. An unexpected outcome of the decision to maintain the tariff structure has been the entrenchment of unacceptable inequalities in the system, inequalities that have been substantially worsened by the effect of the tariff freeze. This situation is particularly noticeable in the case of the so-called 'free tap' (*canilla libre*) system, in use by high volume and high income users. In addition to the long overdue review of all fixed charges introduced during AASA's concession, it would have been important to update and extend

the value of some tariff components that are responsible for ensuring a higher degree of fairness in the system. In particular, tariff formula coefficients 'Z' (socio-economic conditions of the area as proxy for user payment capacity) and 'E' (quality and age of the building), which in principle provide the mechanism to charge more to high-income users than to poor users, should have been reviewed because they have proved insufficient. In other words, there is a need to update and extend the system of cross-subsidies that was part of the original tariff structure adopted at privatisation but that was later abandoned through the successive contract renegotiations. This is important not only to establish a fairer charging system but also to induce a more rational use of the services given that the tariff freeze has brought about a substantial drop in the cost of water and sanitation services for users, which tends to promote wasteful water use particularly among the welloff. Until tariff structures are re-evaluated and actual consumption is metered, it is hard to see how AySA campaigns for user education about water use can be effective.

Granted, some efforts were made to redress imbalances in the tariff structure inherited from the 1990s. For instance, the first "ordinary" contract renegotiation with AASA in 2001 introduced a Social Tariff that was implemented the following year. This tariff is targeted to vulnerable families that cannot afford to pay the cost of the services, and its application involves a complex set of actors including the WSS utility, the regulator, user and consumer bodies, neighbourhood associations, and local authorities. The tariff consists of a subsidy that varies according to the needs and characteritics of the households. Until 2008 the number of beneficiaries of the scheme ranged between 100,000-120,000 households but in 2009 the figure dropped to 57,329 households, receiving an average subsidy of US\$2.90 per month.<sup>17</sup> This could be explained as the combined result of the drop in WSS bills caused by the tariff freeze and the clear improvement in the socio-economic conditions of poorer families recorded in recent years. However, the Social Tariff is just one among many programs targeted to protect the needs of the poorer users that were initially implemented to counter the impact of privatisation.

#### Infrastructure and expansion of access

Current infrastructure and access initiatives are the product of the first five-year review, originally scheduled in the AASA privatisation contract to take place in 1998 but only completed in 2001, that brought about a renegotiation of key aspects of the agreement. Indeed, this process generated a number of new initiatives aimed at compensating for the failures of the private company to deliver on targets originally agreed to regarding the expansion of coverage to low income sectors. These initiatives were to be publicly funded or based on the provision of labour and resources by the communities themselves; for instance the Participatory Management Model (MPG), also known as the Plan for Poor Neighbourhoods, was initiated in 2003 and the Water+Work Plan funded by ENOHSA was implemented in 2004 and taken over by AySA in May 2007.

The MPG is organised through the shared work of AySA, the municipalities and neighbourhood communities, with neighbours providing the labour force to receive discounts on water and sanitation bills in return. The MPG is almost fully funded by AySA who also provides the technical supervision of the works, and its objective is to expand water and sanitation coverage to very poor communities. Although the impact of the MPG has been modest it has nonetheless allowed the connection of around 44,000 people to the water supply and around half as many to the sewerage network.

More importantly, the Water+Work Plan has played a significant role in the expansion of the water network in recent years. This plan has multiple objectives, including the alleviation of the sanitary risk affecting the population lacking access to water and sanitation services, reducing the cost of network expansion in low income neighbourhoods, and the promotion of job opportunities through the creation of cooperatives. Since 2007, AySA funds and contributes to the design and supervision of infrastructure works while labour is provided by work cooperatives. These cooperatives are integrated by neighbours who are beneficiaries of social assistance or unemployed without welfare benefits. The SEGBATOS also plays an important role in the training of the cooperative workers, while the municipalities are in charge of leading the projects. Since the creation of AySA in 2006, the Water+Work Plan has helped to connect over 330,000 people to the water supply network, and it is expected that an additional 550,000 will be connected through projects that started in late 2009.18 This is a major contribution toward the objectives set by the government in the WSMP. Building on this success, the sister plan Sewerage+Oriented Work was started in 2008. This initiative involves a number of ongoing projects that are expected to connect over 16,000 people to the sewerage network in the Buenos Aires conurbated municipalities in the near future.<sup>19</sup>

A common characteristic of these programs is the direct involvement of residents, mostly from vulnerable communities, and their technical training to expand the water supply and sewerage networks and to improve access to the services provided by AySA. They give a significant boost to the central objectives set by the government in the Five-Year Plan (2007-2011), as a first step toward the universalisation of provision by 2020. By the end of 2009, AySA was able to connect over 540,000 people to the water supply network. Through the projects already being implemented it plans to extend the service to 415,000 more people by the end of 2011. In relation to sewerage, a total of 77,285 users were connected by late 2009, and AySA's current projects will include over 525,000 people by 2011. Thus, APLA authorities are confident that the targets set in the Five-Year Plan will be met.<sup>20</sup>

#### Bringing workers on board

AySA's operational performance is strongly dependent on the collaboration of the SEG-BATOS workers' union, a union that played an active role in the privatisation of the utility in the 1990s when it was promised a share of 10% on the privatised utility. The company's president, Dr Carlos Ben, is closely associated with the union and was himself a member of the committee in charge of the privatisation program and later adjunct director of AASA. This strong involvement of Ben and the union in the business of the privatised utility is recurrently commented upon by critics who see worrying continuities with the past in the running of the renationalised utility. These problems are difficult to ignore. The national government has tried to dismiss these criticisms, notably in a speech delivered by Kirchner during the public announcement of the WSMP on October 12, 2006:

I do not have any doubt that the workers of the company AySA, working with the Argentinean people, with the providers, and through the public bids that we will be launching, will give a true example of what Argentineans are able to do. I am absolutely convinced.<sup>21</sup>

It should be noted that AySA's workforce has grown steadily, from 4,058 employees in 2006 to 4,596 in 2009. This is not far from the numbers reached during the privatisation period, with 4,267 AASA workers in 1998.<sup>22</sup> Considering the level of productivity as measured by the ratio between cubic meters of raw water produced per day to the number of workers, AySA's current performance shows positive trends: slightly over 1000 m<sup>3</sup> per worker as compared to 968.4 m<sup>3</sup> per worker recorded by AASA in 1998.<sup>23</sup>

AySA's technicians and professionals benefit from a diversity of training programs organised with the active participation of SEGBATOS, covering technical, commercial, and administrative aspects. Also, there are training workshops for skilled workers in welding, mechanics and electro-mechanics, among other areas. The hours of training provided through these programs to AySA's workforce have significantly increased, from 21,874 hours in 2006 to 60,000 hours in 2009.<sup>24</sup> Moreover, the evidence suggests that AySA has been diligent in developing better working conditions in terms of safety and hygiene.

## Conclusion

The recent experience with water and sanitation services in the Buenos Aires metropolitan area reveals useful lessons about rebuilding public utilities in the aftermath of privatisation. The case of Argentina is particularly valuable because of the abrupt changes in the macroeconomic, social and political contexts, forcing us to examine the ruptures and continuities between 1990s neoliberalism and post-2002 state-led economic and social policies.

A wealth of literature has been dedicated to the performance of AASA, and we have only reviewed some of its key aspects here. The main conclusions are that the privatised company failed to comply with contractual obligations and followed a strategy driven by the pursuit of extraordinary profits. This strategy was successful for AASA during the period of forced stability of the Argentine currency (1993-2001), but imploded with the collapse of the neoliberal model in 2002. The economic, financial, environmental, political and social costs of the privatisation of Buenos Aires' water and sanitation services have yet to be fully understood, but evidence shows that these costs were very high and will compromise the ability of Argentina to achieve universalisation of essential public services by 2020.<sup>25</sup>

In this respect, an example of the structural (and structuring) conditions that constitute the legacies of the neoliberal period are the different binding agreements signed by countries like Argentina to protect foreign investments, notably bilateral investment promotion and protection agreements (IPPAs).<sup>26</sup> These agreements have allowed private corporations such as Suez to sue governments that decide to terminate privatisation contracts even if the cancellation of the contract is justified by non-compliance on the part of the private operator. Argentina alone is facing dozens of such cases presented to the ICSID, including those by corporations like Enron that face corruption and money laundering charges in the United States but thanks to the IPPAs have a right to seek compensation in countries of the South.

The performance of AySA since 2006 is therefore marked by the tension between laudable efforts on the part of the national government to prioritise the universalisation of water services on one side, and the drag exerted by the legacies of privatisation on the other. Be it because of the inertia of high-ranking cadres initially associated with the privatisation experiment continuing to exert their influence on policy and operation, or the irrational tariff structure inherited from AASA, or the negative environmental impacts of contract non-compliance, the positive effects of bringing services back under public control have been limited by the institutional framework adopted for the public sector provider.

There is a need to improve the strategic planning of AySA's activities by incorporating all relevant dimensions of water services, particularly environmental issues which, although formally integrated, have been neglected in practice. AySA is under mounting pressure to take a more active role in the integral management of the metropolitan river basins that were historically abandoned and are now heavily polluted. A ruling by the Supreme Court passed in 2008 has ordered the government to take the necessary measures to clean up the highly polluted Matanza-Riachuelo basin, which raises the cost of water management exponentially in the Buenos Aires metropolitan area but also has very significant implications elsewhere. This decision came after long-standing mobilisation by a broad alliance of citizen organisations, water users, NGOs, local governments and environmental groups. This has serious implications for the future of AySA's management structures and performance and the public utility will have to consider pleas for institutionalised

mechanisms for meaningful user participation in pursuit of democratisation of water governance in the country.

These problems notwithstanding, renationalisation of the water and sanitation utility in Buenos Aires has brought about important and necessary transformations in the way these services are governed and managed, which offers important lessons for similar renationalisation or remunicipalisation projects elsewhere. AySA's mandate stems from a political decision made by the national government that introduced significant changes to the status of water and sanitation services. Those services are now formally recognised as human rights and as public goods that cannot be treated as commodities governed by market forces. There remain enormous challenges on the ground, but the government is working along with the utility to achieve the full universalisation of essential services. The case of AySA contains many lessons about the challenges and opportunities facing governments left to pick up the bits and pieces bequeathed by weakly regulated privatisation processes, and how they can deliver the universal quality services required for civilised life in the 21st century.

#### Endnotes

- 1 Daniel Azpiazu passed away shortly after completing his work on this chapter. As a researcher committed to the defence of the public good he made a substantial contribution to the understanding of the causes of socio-economic inequality and injustice in Argentina, including those associated with the privatisation of essential public services.
- 2 Idelovitch, E. and Ringskog, K. (1995) *Private sector participation in water supply and sanitation in Latin America*. Washington, DC: World Bank.
- 3 Resolution 155/1992 from the Secretariat of Public Works and Communications (SOPyC) granted the concession to AASA; the Resolution was confirmed by Decree 787/1993 from the National Government.
- 4 ETOSS (Ente Tripartito de Obras y Servicios Sanitarios), Resolution 81/1994.
- 5 Decree of Necessity and Urgency 303/2006.
- 6 ETOSS (2003) Informe sobre el grado de cumplimiento alcanzado por el contrato de concesión de Aguas Argentinas S.A., Nota UNIREN, no. 73. Buenos Aires: ETOSS.
- 7 CRCOSP (Comisión de Renegociación de Contratos de Obras y Servicios Públicos) (2003) Informe del equipo técnico y análisis, sector agua y saneamiento sobre el procedimiento de documento de consulta de Aguas Argentinas S.A. Buenos Aires: CRCOSP. http://www.mecon.gov.ar/crc/ inf\_doc\_cons\_aguas.pdf (accessed 12 December 2011).
- 8 AASA's main shareholders filed their case to the ICSID as Suez, Sociedad General de Aguas de Barcelona S.A. and Vivendi Universal S.A v. Argentine Republic (ICSID Case No. ARB/03/19); others such as Anglian Water Limited presented it before the United Nations Commission on International Trade Law (UNCITRAL).
- 9 AASA (Aguas Argentinas S. A.) (2002) Respuesta a la información solicitada por el Ministerio de Economía por medio de la guía de procedimientos. Resumen Ejecutivo. Buenos Aires: AASA; Azpiazu, D. and Porcinito, K. (2004) Historia de un fracaso: La privatización del sistema de agua y saneamiento en el Área Metropolitana de Buenos Aires. In Azpiazu, D., Catenazzi, A. and Forcinito, K. (Eds.), Recursos Públicos, Negocios Privados. Agua Potable y Saneamiento Ambiental en el AMBA. Los Polvorines, Buenos Aires: Universidad Nacional de General Sarmiento.
- 10 See for example AGN (Auditoría General de la Nación) (2003) Resolución 185. Buenos Aires: AGN. http://www.agn.gov.ar/informes/Aguas.PDF (accessed 12 December 2011); CRCOSP (2003), op.cit.; DPN (Defensor del Pueblo de la Nación) (2003) Informe sobre el servicio de agua potable y cloacas. Buenos Aires: DPN. http://www.dpn.gob.ar/areas.php?id=58&ms=area4 (accessed 12 December 2011).
- 11 Azpiazu, D., Schorr, M., Crenzel, E., Forte, G. and Marín, J.C. (2005) Agua potable y saneamiento en Argentina. Privatizaciones, crisis, inequidades e incertidumbre futura. *Cuadernos del CENDES* 59(22): 45-68.
- 12 The case presented by AASA before the ICSID (Case No. ARB/03/19) is still pending at the time of writing this paper (April 2011).
- 13 CELS (Centro de Estudios Legales y Sociales) (2007) *Derechos humanos en Argentina*. Buenos Aires: CELS-Siglo Veintiuno Editores Argentina; debate in Congress, however, helped clarify the nature of the new public company and avoid potential conflicts of interpretation. It led to the passing of Decree 373/06 where AySA is clearly defined as a public enterprise of social interest, and the company's shares in state hands were declared non-transferable.
- 14 Decree 373/06.
- 15 AySA (Agua y Saneamientos Argentinos S. A.) (2009a) Informes anuales. Buenos Aires: AySA.
- 16 AySA (2009b) Informes al usuario. Buenos Aires: AySA.
- 17 Idem.
- 18 Idem.
- 19 AySA (2009a), op. cit.
- 20 Idem.
- 21 Kirchner, N. (2006) Speech by President Nestor Kirchner during the public announcement of the creation of Argentina's Water and Sanitation Master Plan, Buenos Aires, 12 October.
- 22 Senén González, C. (2000) Privatizaciones y relaciones laborales en empresas privatizadas de la Argentina. Los casos de las telecomunicaciones, el agua y el saneamiento. Buenos Aires: University of Buenos Aires.
- 23 Idem; figures are author's own elaboration on the basis of AySA (2009a), op.cit.
- 24 AySA (2009a), op. cit.
- 25 Castro, J.E. (2009) Systemic conditions and public policy in the water and sanitation sector. In Castro, J.E. and Heller, L. (Eds.), *Water and sanitation services: Public policy and management*, pp. 19-37. London and Sterling, VA: Earthscan.
- 26 Although these types of agreements obviously existed before the neoliberal period, their growing significance and scale since the 1980s are unprecedented. A single country like Chile has assigned hundreds of such agreements, which according to analysts will curtail the capacity of the government to take sovereign decisions even in strategic areas for decades to come.

## **Chapter Five**

# Who taKes the risKs? Water remunicipalisation in Hamilton, Canada

by Martin Pigeon



In 2004, the Canadian city of Hamilton decided not to renew the contract it had rubberstamped 10 years earlier with a local private water company, Philip Utilities Management Corporation, for the maintenance and operation of its water and wastewater treatment plant. At the time of its signature, this public-private partnership contract was the biggest in North America and brought high hopes for the city's development. However, these promises soon gave way to disappointment and confusion: the contract changed hands several times, the workforce was cut by more than half and operational failures accumulated.

Despite these shortcomings, the decision not to renew the contract did not come easily. In fact, a majority of the municipal council remained in favour of private sector involvement. What made the difference was the sustained campaign of local civil society groups and a handful of local politicians who pointed at the previous contract's flaws and at the operational failures of the private operators. Growing awareness of these problems forced a shift of the allocation of risks to the private sector, making it economically unattractive for private operators to bid on the new tender. And since no company was interested in taking on the full liabilities associated with the contract, the city had no choice but to take it back in-house.

This chapter explains why and how the privatisation occurred in the first place, followed by a detailed account of the remunicipalisation campaign and an assessment of the new water systems' achievements and challenges since.

## Hamilton and its water systems

Hamilton is a medium-sized port city of 490,000 inhabitants located at the south-west end of Lake Ontario in Canada, halfway between Toronto and the US border. Founded at the beginning of the 19th century, the city became a heavy industry centre, developing large steel facilities producing 60% of the steel made in Canada. Although still prominent in Hamilton's skyline and air composition, the steel mills and their supplying plants no longer have the importance they once had in terms of employment and contribution to the region's wealth. The city is in the midst of an economic transition marked by its industrial pollution legacy, high unemployment and relative poverty (it has the lowest average household income in the province). A certain social polarisation can be observed between the working class neighbourhoods of the old city on the shores of Lake Ontario, and the relatively recent affluent ones perched on the Niagara Escarpment. The city was amalgamated with its six immediate municipal neighbours in 2000-2001, following pressures by the Ontario provincial government to cut administrative costs.

Hamilton gets almost all its water from a deep-water intake pipe in Lake Ontario, some distance offshore. Water quality in the Great Lakes was not always good – with neigh-

bouring Lake Erie being declared biologically dead in the 1970s – but according to current managers of the city's water systems quality at source is now satisfactory and the water only needs bacterial treatment to reach drinking quality (regulated at the provincial level). The quantity of water available has not historically been a problem, although increasing draw on the Great Lakes basin has been contributing to lower water levels, which could affect Hamilton in the future.

A unique feature of Hamilton's water systems is the fact that almost all drinking water and wastewater is treated in one combined plant, the Woodward plant next to the dyke between Lake Ontario and Hamilton Harbour (see map). First built in 1860, the plant has since supplied water to all Hamiltonians as well as sustained the city's industrial prosperity. On the downside, it has become one of the main point sources of pollution in the harbour, which was listed as a Great Lakes Area of Concern in the 1987 Protocol of the US-Canada Water Quality Agreement.<sup>1</sup>

### Hamilton Harbour Watershed



Source: Adapted from the Hamilton Harbour Remedial Action Plan Report, 2010 update.

In 1994, an economic downturn put the municipality in a difficult financial situation, worsening an already burdensome legacy: the poor state of the water and wastewater infrastructure resulting from the lack of investment and maintenance by previous city managers. The systems were in dire need of repair and replacement, but little funding had been set aside for this purpose, and raising taxes is never an easy political decision, even less so during a municipal election year. This was the situation the councillors faced when they were approached by a local waste management and metals recycling company with almost no experience in water management, Philip Environmental, which proposed to take over the management, operation and maintenance of the water and wastewater plants. Philip Environmental promised savings on the systems' running as well as the creation of a world-leading water company through the biggest public-private partnership in North America's water sector at the time.<sup>2</sup> Attracted by the prospect of outsourcing the problem to a third party, convinced by lobbying efforts involving 'independent consultants', and seduced by the idea of potential personal gain,<sup>3</sup> city leaders signed a 10-year, \$180-million contract on December 30, 1994, despite the opposition of unions<sup>4</sup> and most of the water services staff.

# 1994-2004: A study in water privatisation shortcomings

The public-private contract was signed between the Region of Hamilton-Wentworth and the newly created Philip Utilities Management Corporation (PUMC), owned at 70% by Philip Environmental and 30% by the Ontario Teachers' Pension Plan Board. This deal was the outcome of intense political networking; PUMC was presided by the former chair of the province's Liberal Party, Stuart Smith, who had previously headed a privatised federal research centre merged with Philip Environmental, the Wastewater Technology Centre.

This was the first contract of its kind in decades in Canada and it was signed without tender or public debate. PUMC was assigned the task to manage, operate and maintain the water treatment facility, the three wastewater treatment plants and the 129 pumping stations of the systems, the rest of the infrastructure (distribution network and laboratories) falling under public management. The idea behind the deal was that the Region of Hamilton-Wentworth would help PUMC become a global player in the water sector, in the hope that this would benefit the city at large. As the region's then-chief of water services put it, "the basis of the negotiations was essentially to develop a contract that would allow a local firm to develop expertise and experience in the contract operations of a major municipality's water and wastewater facilities, while providing the Region with a vehicle for economic development."<sup>5</sup>

Given that this contract was framed in a spirit of mutual cooperation rather than creating an arms-length relationship, it contained numerous clauses that provided for highly unusual advantages to the private party. For instance, a clause stated that any expense above C\$10,000 was considered a capital expense without further specification; reporting requirements to the city and the province were vague and no public disclosure of this type of expense was required. The city was to bear the cost of most capital investments but the benefits were returned to PUMC in very favourable cost savings allocations. Another remarkable point was liability exemptions: according to two comprehensive reports<sup>6</sup> PUMC could not be held liable for any accident arising from factors such as the plants' capacity limits, the effluents' quality or the city's failure to make "capital, regulatory or emergency expenditures."<sup>7</sup>

In return, the company promised to establish its headquarters in Hamilton, to develop environmental business and international training centres, to create 100 jobs in the region (this clause only applied to Philip Environmental, PUMC's parent company), and to maintain jobs at the facilities for at least 18 months.

But this mutual collaborative vision turned out to be naive at best, with PUMC's behaviour later proving plainly opportunistic. The first assessment by the regional government showed that,

the performance of PUMC during its first year of contract operations has been significantly below expectations. The relationship has been consistently confrontational, difficult, tense and frustrating. In our opinion, PUMC's focus on this contract has been changing from a cooperative spirit of business development and economic development to one of profitability only.<sup>8</sup>

PUMC management practices in subsequent years were no better. In April 1996 the workforce was cut in half, from 120 to 60. In January 1996 the worst wastewater spill in the plant's history sent 180 million litres of raw sewage into the Hamilton harbour and surrounding areas, affecting homes and businesses alike. Yet PUMC avoided any liability thanks to the contract's wide exemptions, and the cleanup costs were borne by the city. Several other spills reported in the following years were accompanied by similar hands-off responses from PUMC. These accidents should not be seen as unfortunate exceptions but as part of an organised risk management practice: PUMC simply adapted to its legal, institutional and technical environment to extract as much profit as possible from the yearly C\$18 million it received from the city to operate.

Technically, PUMC was in charge of the plants, reservoirs and pumping stations, but not of the pipes network. It therefore optimised its costs by pumping faster in non-peak hours, when electricity was cheaper, to fill the reservoirs. The problem is that by doing so PUMC increased pressure in the pipes to levels where there was no security buffer. During these times several main breaks occurred in the pipes network, including one that affected a hospital and forced partial evacuation of patients, followed by a lawsuit against the city.<sup>9</sup> Additional evidence of technical tricks used to deflect costs was reported by interviewees for this research, with many reporting that PUMC let small maintenance issues (such as lighting) degrade to a point that its repair was costly enough (i.e. above the C\$10,000 threshold) to fall under the city's contractual responsibility.

From a labour point of view, PUMC's employment guarantees were always short term. The massive downsizing of its workforce left several important infrastructure items frequently unmanned, delaying responses in cases of emergencies. In the case of sewage spills, public authorities complained they had not been warned in time on several occasions.<sup>10</sup>

Environmentally speaking, no improvement of the effluents quality was measured during PUMC's operations. On the contrary, ammonia and suspended solids levels in the Hamilton Harbour increased between 1992 and 1998<sup>11</sup> and the frequency of sewer spills increased. From an accountability and transparency point of view, the audited accounts provided by PUMC to the city were not public, preventing elected officials and citizens from accessing them. Union representatives claim that operational logs that monitored the functioning of the plants kept disappearing.<sup>12</sup>

In the end, the only promises PUMC actually kept were to move its headquarters to Hamilton and to expand into the North American municipal water market; it bought 18 other companies between 1994 and 1999, mostly in the United States. But the city of Hamilton appears to have benefited little from this corporate growth. According to a city councillor interviewed in 1998,<sup>13</sup> PUMC had not yet paid a single dollar in taxes.

PUMC's profits were therefore significant, but its parent company (with a name change to Philip Services) was experiencing major losses (C\$1.6 billion in 1998 alone, among the highest in Canadian corporate history). Philip Services had grown quickly, using its good reputation in the financial markets to acquire several other companies, but fraud suspicions hung over one of its directors and triggered a sharp drop in the company's stock value, forcing it to sell assets and file for bankruptcy in 1999.<sup>14</sup> In March of that year, Philip Services sold PUMC for US\$67 million to Azurix Corp, a subsidiary of Texas-based energy giant Enron,<sup>15</sup> created following the purchase of British company Wessex water in 1998, whose launch on public markets in June 1999 showed high ambitions in the water sector.

Those ambitions were short-lived. The company had overestimated its growth objectives, was managed by people unfamiliar with the water business, and proved no match for more experienced and well-connected international competitors.<sup>16</sup> In November 2001, weeks after the (unrelated) Enron accounting scandal<sup>17</sup> broke, the North America branch of Azurix was sold to US company American Water Works (AWW), then bought in

February 2002 by London-based Thames Water, the water group of the German energy conglomerate RWE.<sup>18</sup>

With each new acquisition, the Hamilton City Council had to approve the change of 'partner', but the contract "failed to include clauses providing options for the city in the event of mergers or takeovers by other companies,"<sup>19</sup> and it seems the promises made by PUMC were lost along the way. However, repeated problems, the successive change of owners and the arrival of global corporations to manage the city's water had raised public awareness about water and wastewater management issues.

### The remunicipalisation campaign

In 2004, when the 10-year public-private contract came up for renewal, the picture had changed dramatically. The contract originally designed as a cooperative partnership between the city and a local company was now executed by a large foreign company owned by a giant multinational corporation. Moreover, the plants' workforce had been reduced from 120 to a new low of 54 employees, the infrastructure was poorly maintained and the Hamilton Harbour's water quality had not improved. The relationship between the city and AWW, though, had reportedly taken a more constructive tone as the renewal date approached.

In January 2004, city staff presented two distinct proposals to the Public Works Committee and the Hamilton City Council: signing a new long-term contract with a private operator following a public tender, or taking back responsibility for water and wastewater operations. The City Council opted for the former with a clear majority on the basis of typical arguments in favour of private sector efficiencies, innovation and expertise. Senior city officials were in favour of this option too, which was not surprising given that the 2000-2001 amalgamation of Hamilton and its neighbouring cities had seen the city's top managers appointed by pro-privatisation provincial leaders.<sup>20</sup> There was, however, a commitment to preparing a contract that would better serve the city's interests, and law firm Gowling Lafleur Henderson LLP was hired to write the Request for Proposals (RFP) and the Draft Service Agreement (DSA).

In the new contract, the city expected to pay the operator between C\$12 million and C\$17 million annually, compared to C\$18 million with the first contract. Furthermore, companies submitting proposals were requested to comply with all criteria set out in the RFP and the DSA; they would be permitted to submit an alternate proposal at a later stage. Lobbying pressures by the private sector intensified, with various private sector experts brought along from other parts of Canada and abroad (notably by AWW's parent company, Thames Water, but also other potential bidders such as Veolia) to support the city councillors and managers in their decision to renew the contract.

Meanwhile, the city employees in charge of inspecting the plant made internal complaints about the facilities' deterioration and about the municipality's inability to do anything about it. The Canadian Union of Public Employees (CUPE), a vocal critic of privatisation, also put resources into a campaign to pressure the City Council to go back on its decision to contract another private operator. Within the City Council itself, progressive councillors expressed their dissent, including Sam Merulla who represented Hamilton's Ward 4 where the Woodward plant is located.

A civil society coalition called the Hamilton Water Watch Committee was also established. It gathered representatives from NGOs (Canadian Environmental Law Association, Council of Canadians, Canadian Catholics for Development and Peace, Environment Hamilton), labour organisations (CUPE and the local Labour Council), Hamilton East's Member of Parliament Sheila Copps,<sup>21</sup> and concerned citizens and academics in a related group called WATER (Watershed Action Toward Environmental Responsibility). The coalition attended City Council debates, organised events to raise awareness and brought some media attention to the issue.

However, councillors and the media appeared to show little interest in the critiques being made and the pro-public service coalition could not generate meaningful momentum to garner citizen support. The Hamilton Water Watch Committee then decided to change strategy and put its efforts into documenting the flaws of the previous contract and pressuring city bureaucrats to build up as rigorous a tender as possible, at least to limit the economic damage of a future contract. For instance, the coalition supported Councillor Merulla in making a Freedom of Information request<sup>22</sup> to the city to obtain data about the real costs incurred for water and wastewater operations between 1994 and 2004, notably to see to what extent the C\$10,000 clause defining the limit between operating and capital expenses had been abused by the private operator. The data obtained came late and was difficult to interpret, but the move put pressure on the city managers to close this potential loophole in the RFP, which they partially did by raising the ceiling to C\$20,000, with extra conditions that made it more difficult for a private operator to transfer maintenance costs to the city.

Another important tactic of the campaign was to put the spotlight on environmental liabilities, a particularly sensitive topic in the region after the accidental 2000 water contamination by E. coli in the neighbouring city of Walkerton that caused the death of seven residents. Responsible management of water-related environmental issues therefore featured high on the agenda, and repeated sewage spills drew negative attention to the private contractor. City officials also addressed this problem in the RFP by partially shifting the liabilities back to the private operator, asking for increased levels of insurance and indemnities in the case of an accident.

In the end, seven companies responded to the city's Request for Qualifications, a prescreening step to identify interesting bidders, and four companies were short-listed to submit proposals in response to the RFP. Three did so: the existing operator AWW, the French company Veolia, and a Canadian engineering company called ATCO (Albertabased, owned by global energy company Centrica).

ATCO's offer arrived too late and was rejected. Veolia's bid did not comply with all RFP requirements (the company apparently thinking there was still room for negotiation) and was thus disqualified. AWW's bid complied with the technical specifications but proposed a yearly C\$39 million fee – two to three times the city's original expectations of a C\$12-17 million contract fee! As a result, this bid was excluded as well. Interestingly, an "alternate bid" from AWW for C\$13 million was then put forward, respecting technical conditions but asking that the environmental and maintenance liabilities be shifted back to the city. In other words, the premium they were asking for to cover their risks was about C\$23 million, more than the contract's estimated value.

At this stage, there were no private companies left in the bidding process. The city could not consider AWW's "alternate bid" because it would make itself vulnerable to lawsuits by other bidding companies for breaking the RFP process rules. City staff, at this point, recommended bringing the water and wastewater operations back in-house as soon as the contract with AWW ended. On September 13, 2004, the council's Public Works, Infrastructure and Environment Committee voted 7 to 1 in favour of this option. The city's senior officials were reportedly strongly in favour of re-tendering in the beginning but, according to a city official familiar with the issue, they were shocked by the financial compensation asked by the private companies, which convinced them they could do it much cheaper through municipal management. This insight combined with the strong advocacy of the Hamilton Water Watch Committee probably explains why the City Council resisted the lobbying pressures by Veolia and AWW to reconsider its decision.

This was a major victory for the Hamilton Water Watch Committee and CUPE who saw the remunicipalisation option chosen despite the fact that the council was initially hostile to it. By putting pressure on the city to consider costs and liabilities seriously, it contributed to making the tender economically unattractive for private operators. The operators' risk aversion certainly helped. It was also a victory for Councillor Merulla:

I'm very proud to say that on the first motion I brought forward on this issue, back in 2001, I couldn't even find a seconder, but within three years I was able to successfully do a great deal of work, not only from my part but that of a number of community groups. We were able to put enough pressure, from a public perspective, to have our bureaucracy not only recognise the importance of bringing [water] in-house from an ideological perspective, but also from a safety and fiscal perspective as well.<sup>23</sup> However, it was a victory that needed to be defended. The council was dissatisfied, being ideologically doubtful of public management, and accompanied its decision with a requirement that the operations be reviewed on an annual basis by using as a reference the very document that was part of the private tender, the DSA. They argued that a review should be communicated annually to the council in a brief and accessible way, and any non-compliance would trigger a contracting-out process.

## Back in public arms

### Technical and financial performance

Ironically, the review requirement developed for the RFP proved to be a useful tool in enabling the council to follow operations at the plants more closely once operations were back under public control, providing an annual Report Card with stable indicators over time. Performance was thereby reported upon in clear and transparent terms. Year after year, reports documented impressive performance:

- In 2005 it described how city staff had managed to reach the best cumulated performance over the past 15 years at the treatment facilities while operating below the approved budget of C\$27.7 million, bringing C\$1.2 million savings to the city budget. A similar level of water and wastewater treatment performance would have cost the city C\$195,000 in performance fees for the private operator according to the DSA.
- The 2006 performance report indicated that savings continued to improve, saving another C185,000 in performance fees and C950,000 on the approved budget of C27.9 million.
- $\cdot$  In 2007, performance and cost effectiveness increased yet again: \$215,000 saved in performance fees and \$2.34 million saved from the approved budget of C\$30.5 million.
- The 2008 report documented only nine months of operation but showed performance fee savings of C\$75,000 and budget savings of C\$500,000 (from an approved budget of C\$30.2 million).

The Report Card system was dropped after 2008 because investments at the plant had made it substantially different from what it used to be. But overall reports for the period 2005-2008 document total savings of C\$5.66 million from the operating budget. The water department is now self-sustaining economically, with a separate budget from that of the city.

These savings were possible even after the city hired more than 20 workers to compensate for insufficient staffing at the plant. Seventy-five workers now operate the plant in nor-

mal and safe working conditions. Staff dedication is reportedly very strong now, despite difficulties in recruiting well-qualified new employees, a problem encountered throughout the global water sector.

Effluent quality also improved. Performance objectives were deliberately set at the highest technical levels possible for political reasons, to accelerate the city's compliance with the Hamilton Harbour Remedial Action Plan targets and to get the harbour de-listed as a Great Lakes Area of Concern. Ammonia levels in the Woodward plant effluents were reduced by half between 2004 and 2007, reaching an all-time low.<sup>24</sup> The management of water infrastructure was integrated with the Hamilton Harbour cleaning program and resource protection in general. According to Merulla: "Every decision that's made needs to meet a certain threshold related to the social, the health, and environmental aspects and that includes obviously the water and sewer treatment plant capacity."<sup>25</sup>

All problems were not remedied overnight, of course. Wastewater management remains structurally challenging because of combined wastewater and rainwater sewer systems in the lower city that send larger volumes of water into the sewers during heavy rains than the plant can process, forcing the release of insufficiently treated wastewater in the Harbour. The impacts of climate change – with more extreme weather events – are increasingly felt and shed light on the systems' limits: "In Hamilton, we struggle with the kind of wet weather we're getting these days because it totally knocks us off base for several days afterwards,"<sup>26</sup> complains a director of the service. The plant nevertheless produced the best effluent quality in its history in August 2010.

The now-prominent position of water and wastewater issues on the City Council political agenda is reflected in the vast investment program it embarked upon with the help of provincial and national authorities: C\$500-600 million are to be invested in upgrading the plant and expanding its capacity from 2010-15, part of the C\$1.5 billion<sup>27</sup> that is estimated to be needed between 2007 and 2017 to deal with the most pressing problems of Hamilton's water systems. This increased capacity is necessary to enable the plant to process the wastewater coming from new housing and commercial developments south of the city centre. Wastewater treatment will also be improved thanks to an enormous investment in tertiary treatment through the construction of one of the biggest membrane plants in the world; it will be combined with a second combined heat power plant running with the biogas collected during the sludge's digestion. A partnership between the city's water department and Hamilton's McMaster University was established to create a research centre on wastewater treatment with membrane technologies.

These projects come with their own controversies, however. The new wastewater treatment plant will require double its current power supply, generating concerns over its environmental impact. In addition, such a centralised wastewater treatment scheme also means a concentration of the sludge's pollutants and constantly rising cleanup costs. Sludge disposal remains a problem as well. It was disposed on farm land beginning in 1996 when the city's incinerator was closed down but, as in most industrial countries, farmers are becoming increasingly reluctant to accept this sludge because of consumers' rising awareness of contaminant content. This local resistance, and rumours about upcoming provincial legislation forbidding such sludge application, has fuelled a debate about building a sludge incinerator, with two competing projects. First, the wastewater department managers are planning an expansion of the biogas reactor to generate energy out of the sludge's bio-solids, which would partly alleviate the energy requirement and the sludge disposal problems. Second, a private company, Liberty Energy, is pushing an incinerator project that would also service other municipalities, trucking in sludge from outside Hamilton. At the time of writing (late 2011), debate was still raging,<sup>28</sup> with arguments flowing about the unwanted extra pollution, the cost of another public-private partnership, the damage a 'sludge capital' tag could do to the city's public image, and questions about the transparency and safety of sludge application on farm land.

### Transparency, accountability, solidarity

As demonstrated, the quality of the public water services reporting greatly improved, becoming more readable and also more reliable. Public access to information is also very good, with an impressively vast range of data on the service published on the city's website. This increased transparency is also a source of savings. In an in-house model, transparent evaluation of performance allows re-adjusting budgets annually, whereas in most public-private contracts the operator's annual fee is set once for the full period of the contract. Under such legal terms, good performance by a private operator is harder to verify and it would only profit the company, not the city.

Communication also became a priority of the service: "I can't imagine another community that does more communication with the public than we do. I think we're very good that way," <sup>29</sup> says a current manager, an assertion backed up by their actions and even a few awards<sup>30</sup> received in recent years. Among the many communication activities implemented, a few are quite telling:

- · A call centre was established to provide information and record complaints.
- The increasing number of extreme weather events, flood-causing storms in particular, has led the service to run protective plumbing programs to encourage people to disconnect their home's downspout (the connection between the roof evacuation and the sewer) to try and reduce the volumes of storm water reaching the sewers network in case of heavy storms. A 'flood aware' education and awareness program was set up, proposing flood prevention and remediation tips and resources.

• A campaign encouraging Hamiltonians to drink tap water was launched by the city in 2010 to celebrate the service's 150 years of existence, a very worthy undertaking given the enormous financial and environmental cost of bottled water.

In general, the water department promotes the values of public service; for instance, the three first "values" mentioned in the 2010 business plan are "Equitable access to services by all citizens," "Honesty, transparency and accountability to Council and the community," and "Decision making in a responsible, integrated and inclusive manner."<sup>31</sup>

Problems remain, however. A consultative body established to communicate with the main water plant's neighbours (Community Liaison Committee, CLC) was closed and users say they have not found their way back to the utility's executives. The management says that this was because the CLC had become an "avenue for some to complain about everything," and that they got fed up with being confronted with systematic criticism when they thought they were doing their best: "It was never good enough."<sup>32</sup> According to one local environmental activist:

Ironically, we were probably in a better position when the private contractor was in place because there were requirements imposed on them to meet regularly with people in neighbourhoods around the plant...There was a liaison committee that existed really to help people in the immediate neighbourhood to communicate back and forth with concerns and issues that they wanted to see resolved. When the system was remunicipalised, that communication was cut off.<sup>33</sup>

The city now organises one or two open house days per year at the plant, a much more limited channel of communication with the community.

The city nevertheless develops solidarity programs. It manages a fund to help poor people pay their water bills and is proposing loans and grants to help the owners of old homes in the lower city replace their lead connections and pipes (although the fund is modest, only 500-1,000 connections replaced every year of the estimated 24,000 that need new connections). An international solidarity campaign to develop drinking water supply in rural areas in Haiti, headed by the water department, was also launched and is still in operation. A few Mexican water engineers also came to the department for training as part of the solidarity programs.

### Public service?

At the time of writing there does not appear to be any campaign to re-privatise water services. On the contrary, all interviewees said that such a move is extremely unlikely, with memories of the failures of the private contractor still vivid and the clear advantages gained by the city in taking the services back in-house having received widespread media coverage.

Notwithstanding this apparent shift to a public ethos, other municipal services, for instance waste collection, continue to be outsourced or set up as public-private partnerships, and the ideological commitment to privatisation still simmers at or near the political surface. There is also a notable trend toward corporatisation of the water service. The billing department was incorporated in 2001 into Horizon Utilities Corporation (HUC), a public electricity company that services Hamilton and neighbouring St. Catharines, and the city acquired 65% of shares through its public company Hamilton Utilities. HUC now collects the bills for both water and electricity. As a result, some Hamiltonians do not realise that their water is publicly managed since HUC behaves and communicates much like a private corporation. This institutional shift was justified on the grounds of cost saving by authorities. However, unionists argue that this corporatisation has caused problems in skills and information sharing between water technicians and bill collectors, decreasing the efficiency of the organisation as a whole. Indeed, the fact that the plant remains publicly managed probably owes less to an ideological shift toward public ownership, or democratic accountability, than to the plant's good technical and financial performance. On the whole, the majority of Hamilton's City Council is still in favour of private sector involvement in public services, or commercialising what is publicly run.

# Conclusion

Despite these concerns, the remunicipalisation of Hamilton's water systems was a major victory for 'public' water movements. Not only has it helped shed light on the often opaque, undemocratic and predatory realities of privatisation, it has given hope to those fighting to reclaim their public services in the face of powerful corporate lobbies and ideologically hostile politicians, by showing them that hard economic facts were on their side once the allocation of risks and profits were clearly defined. The Hamilton experience has also shown how effective and efficient public water management can be, and how quickly things can change when political will and coordinated resistance exist.

Hamilton's water systems are still far from perfect, though, with a technocratic approach to management that might endanger their 'publicness'. Extending these reforms and deepening democratic engagement with the citizens of Hamilton will be critical to sustaining and expanding the public nature of water management in the city and resisting pressures to commercialise the system: public ownership and staff dedication are very important, but public management that thinks beyond the narrow confines of cost recovery is equally critical.

This commitment to 'publicness' is all the more important given Hamilton's long-term infrastructural challenges in the water sector, and the financial pressures associated with it. Major infrastructure upgrades have resulted in significant water tariff increases (7-8%

a year from 2005-2008 and 4% yearly since 2009) but the fact that water services are financially ring-fenced makes it difficult to think more holistically about long-term investment strategies and how these should be paid for. The fact that water and sanitation touch on all aspects of life and link to other services run by the city and other levels of government makes the need to think broadly about the nature of a 'public' service all the more important. The remunicipalisation of water can therefore be used to raise awareness about the need to see public services in their totality and the potential synergies among them, not as silos of activity to be hived off like independent corporations. In this respect, the success of water systems' public management in Hamilton can be used as a launch pad for a larger dialogue on the meaning of 'publicness' and resisting commodification and privatisation in other aspects of people's lives.

#### Endnotes

- 1 International Joint Commission, United States and Canada (1978) *Great Lakes water quality agreement*. http://www.ijc.org/rel/agree/quality.html (accessed 12 December 2011).
- 2 Anderson, J. (1999) Privatising water treatment: The Hamilton experience. Report prepared for the Canadian Union of Public Employees (CUPE), January; Loxley, S. (1999) An analysis of a publicprivate sector partnership: The Hamilton-Wentworth – Philips Utilities Management Corporation PPP. CUPE Report, September. http://cupe.ca/updir/Utilities-Hamilton-Wentworth%20P3. doc (accessed 12 December 2011).
- 3 Several of the region's management staff who helped negotiate the initial contract moved to Philip after the deal was struck, see Anderson (1999), *op.cit.*
- 4 The two plant workers' unions were the International Union of Operating Engineers (IUOE), representing the majority of staff, and CUPE.
- 5 Leo Gohier, Acting Commissioner, Regional Environmental Department, quoted in Anderson (1999), *op.cit.*; Loxley (1999), *op. cit.*
- 6 Anderson (1999), op. cit.; Loxley (1999), op. cit.
- 7 Contract between the Regional Municipality of Hamilton-Wentworth and PUMC and Philip Environmental Inc., section 3:04, quoted in Anderson (1999), *op.cit.*
- 8 From the Performance Appraisal of the Philip Utilities Management Corporation, January 1, 1995 to December 31, 1995, quoted in Loxley (1999), op. cit.
- 9 *The Hamilton Spectator* (1998) HHSC sues city, region: Water leak caused hospital evacuation, 20 October.
- 10 Anderson (1999), op.cit.; Loxley (1999), op. cit.; The Hamilton Spectator (1999) Sewage spill has mayor fuming: Addison upset that region didn't inform Dundas staff, 12 January.
- 11 Remedial Action Plan for Hamilton Harbour (1998) 1998 Status report Summary, September. http://www.hamiltonharbour.ca/RAP/documents/reports/Status\_Report\_1998/Status\_ Report\_Summary\_1998.pdf (accessed 12 December 2011).

- 12 G. Hoath, Hamilton's representative for the International Union of Operating Engineers, author interview, 29 September 2010.
- 13 Anderson (1999), op. cit.; Loxley (1999), op. cit.
- 14 Answers.com (n.d.) PSC, LLP. Hoover's company profile. http://www.answers.com/topic/ philip-services-corp (accessed 12 December 2011).
- 15 Business Wire (1999) Philip Services enters into definitive agreement to sell its interest in Philip Utilities Management Corporation, March. http://www.waterindustry.org/New%20Projects/philip. htm (accessed 12 December 2011).
- 16 Frost & Sullivan (2001) Azurix: what went wrong? 25 January. http://www.frost.com/prod/ servlet/market-insight-top.pag?docid=RTOS-4U75H5 (accessed 12 December 2011).
- 17 Enron filed for bankruptcy in October 2001 the largest in US history at the time after a series of irregular accounting procedures bordering on fraud were revealed.
- 18 Global Water Intelligence (2002) AWW shareholders approve merger with RWE, February. http:// www.globalwaterintel.com/archive/3/2/general/aww-shareholders-approve-merger-withrwe.html (accessed 12 December 2011).
- 19 Ohemeng, F.K. and Grant, J.K. (2008) When markets fail to deliver: An examination of the privatization and de-privatization of water and wastewater services delivery in Hamilton, Canada. *Canadian Public Administration* 51(3): 475-499.
- 20 The city's top manager back in 2001, Doug Lychak, was apparently so blatantly in favour of public services privatisation that CUPE launched a public campaign to demand his dismissal. Lychak went to work for a pro-PPP lobby group, the Canadian Council for Public-Private Partnership (CCPPP), right after this.
- 21 The Hamilton Spectator (2004) Copps warns of water woes; Contracting out of water and sewage treatment plants puts 'public health at risk' says Hamilton East MP, 27 January.
- 22 The Hamilton Spectator (2004) Group helps fund Merulla's FOI request, 22 May.
- 23 Sam Merulla, Councillor, Hamilton City Council, author interview, November 2010.
- 24 Hamilton Harbour Remedial Action Plan (2010) Contaminant loadings and concentrations to Hamilton Harbour: 2003-2007. Update, January.
- 25 Sam Merulla, author interview, op.cit.
- 26 Dan McKinnon, Director of Water and Wastewater Operations, Public Works, City of Hamilton, author interview, 4 October 2010.
- 27 City of Hamilton (2007) 2007 Rate book & Services overview. Hamilton: City of Hamilton. http://www.hamilton.ca/CityDepartments/PublicWorks/WaterAndWasteWaterDev/ Rates/2007Rate.htm (accessed 12 December 2011).
- 28 The Hamilton Spectator (2011) City council is up to its neck in sludge, 16 May.
- 29 Dan McKinnon, author interview, op. cit.
- 30 Hamilton's Water and Wastewater department received awards for the quality of its communication material, planning and reporting in 2008, 2009 and 2010, see http://www. hamilton.ca/CityDepartments/PublicWorks/WaterAndWasteWaterDev/Contact+Us/ AwardAndRecognition.htm (accessed 12 December 2011).
- 31 City of Hamilton (2010) *Water and wastewater business plan 2010-2012*. Hamilton: Hamilton Public Works Department.
- 32 Dan McKinnon, author interview, op.cit.
- 33 Lynda Lukasik, Director of Environment Hamilton, author interview, 1 October 2010.

Chapter Six

# Soggy Politics: Making Water 'Public' in Malaysia

by Martin Pigeon



In 2005-2006, the Federal Parliament of Malaysia amended the Constitution and voted in two laws enabling a sweeping reform of the water sector. This reform allowed the federal government to seize all assets previously owned by local water operators, public and private alike, and to fast-track asset development with government funding. Operators would later be offered short lease contracts to manage the revitalised assets, but the objective was to bring the country's water system under tighter public control and oversight.

It is still too early to comment conclusively on the outcome of this long-term restructuring plan, but in-depth interviews with important actors reveal a series of both positive and negative lessons and raise questions about the chosen implementation strategy and assumptions behind the policy change. Malaysia's reform was an attempt at creating a nation-wide public water management system, partly in response to a series of failures on the part of private water companies in the country. At the same time, the reform seeks to create competition among operators and can be seen to facilitate market forces within a unified, and ostensibly de-politicised, governance framework across the country. As such, this nation-wide study of water renationalisation in Malaysia is different from the other municipal-scale cases in this book, but the impacts are felt at the local level and the case raises similar questions about the ideology and politics of moving water from private to public hands.

The chapter begins with a review of the context of Malaysia's water reform and the political dynamics at play. This background helps to explain why prior to 2006, the country's water system was marked by good coverage but uneven technical performance and a controversial track record of private concession contracts. We then examine the ensuing federal reforms in the water sector and the ambitious goals that were set for making water 'public'. While some important gains have been made in this regard, there are troubling questions about the lingering commercialised nature of water management in the country and unrealistic assumptions about depoliticising water.

## The political context: One party-dominated democracy

Following its independence from British rule in 1957 and its constitution as Malaysia in 1963, the country became a Westminster-style federal constitutional monarchy, with 13 states and three federal territories. A single coalition of ethnic-based parties called the National Front (*Barisan Nasional*, BN) has dominated political life since independence, under various names, and its member party United Malays National Organisation (UMNO) has played the key role in the coalition (all prime ministers to date have come from this party). Malaysia is a highly multicultural country, with Malays controlling the political system but only representing slightly more than half the population while the

two other large communities are of Chinese (24%, historically the country's economic and business elite) and Indian (7%, mostly Tamils) descent. Political life is partly structured by these demographics, with some pro-Malay policies (*Bumiputera* policies) triggering resentment in other communities.

The Malaysian government has been described by critics as authoritarian and extensively relying on cronyism.<sup>1</sup> Traditional media are mainly controlled by the government and BN parties; however, Internet media is legally protected from censorship and seems to have played a role in reinforcing the opposition in the 2008 elections when it won five states out of 13, including the key prosperous state of Selangor. Organised civil society and social movements exist, but secular organisations are still small and concentrated in the big cities of Kuala Lumpur and Penang, most often involving non-Malay individuals.<sup>2</sup>

Benefiting from its strategic position along the Malacca Strait, one of the most important global trade routes (carrying a fourth of the world's traded goods), Malaysia has been one of the fastest growing economies in Asia since independence, with an average 6.5% yearly growth rate over the past 50 years. Driven initially by exports of natural resources the country's economy has developed into a more multi-sectoral structure with industry being the main growth driver since the 1980s. This growth and diversity was historically state-oriented, but has more recently been heavily privatised. A growing proportion of the population is urban and middle class, with a relatively high Human Development Index for the region.

#### Before water sector reform

Water is widely available in Malaysia as the country is home to some of the oldest rainforests on the planet and receives some of the highest levels of rainfall. In 2009, 85.3% of its raw water supply came from rivers,<sup>3</sup> a proportion that is slowly decreasing with more storage dams being built and groundwater exploitation projects underway. Water quality is degrading due to environmental destruction in catchment areas, deforestation and pollution from industry and monoculture crops (particularly palm oil). Available quantities also diminish as a result of climate change. Until 2005, local states had the exclusive responsibility to provide water services to their citizens, often one of their main prerogatives. Overall, water infrastructure development in the country has been technically sound and socially progressive. Since independence, the government has prioritised affordable and universal water supply as a key development objective, and water infrastructure has been included in all of the country's five-year development plans from 1966 onward, enabling drinking water access to jump from roughly 23% of the population in 1950 to 91.6% in 2009 (96.8% for urban users, 86.5% for rural ones).<sup>4</sup> This wide coverage has been achieved thanks to federal government interest-free loans to state governments for capital investments, and to state subsidies that allow keeping water tariffs low.

However, some states reportedly abused the federal loans arrangement and used funds for other purposes, a situation translating into high indebtedness<sup>5</sup> and inadequate infrastructure in some places: the state of Pahang, for instance, still has a high leakage rate with 59.9% unaccounted for water in 2009, almost twice the national average of 36.6%.<sup>6</sup> The political sensitivity of water tariffs deterred many of these states from imposing hikes – some have not increased tariffs since the 1980s – thus creating a vicious circle of high indebtedness and degrading system reliability where water tariffs revenue was the main financial resource for maintenance.

Other states, when confronted with fast-growing economic needs from industry and unable (or unwilling) to invest at the desired pace, surfed the privatisation wave that hit the country at the end of the 1980s to grant concession contracts to local private water operators, particularly in the richer and more populated Selangor and Johor states where most industries are concentrated. This enabled fast infrastructure upgrades, but led to repeated, unpopular and anti-poor water tariff hikes, general secrecy around the provision of water services (notably about concession agreements) and growing debt by the private operators who could not convince public authorities to impose high enough tariffs to enable them to recoup their full cost. In addition, empirical evidence shows that efficiency did not improve noticeably in these privatised systems.<sup>7</sup>

Some public systems performed well during that period, the best being *Perbadanan Bekalan Air Pulau Pinang* (PBAPP) in the state of Pulau Pinang, a corporatised but publicly controlled company whose excellent management makes it the benchmark for the country: it delivers the cheapest water in Southeast Asia while obtaining the best national performance in terms of leakage control, service to the user and pro-poor policies.<sup>8</sup>

The 1997 Asian financial crisis was a turning point for Malaysia's water sector. Combined with an exceptional drought caused by a strong El Niño in 1997-1998, the crisis revealed that systems were not as environmentally and economically robust as thought. This reinforced a diagnosis of decreasing surface water quality and quantity, uneven technical efficiency, indebtedness and concession contract failures, triggering a debate over broad reforms of the entire sector in the country.

## The reform: Political ambitions and a roadmap

The Malaysia Water Association (MWA), the country's water sector professional association, was first to push for reform of the sector; in 2001, it teamed up with federal officials from the Economic Planning Unit of the Prime Minister's Department to sug-

### Box 1 The IWK failure

Water privatisation through concession contracts became unpopular in the country because of the magnitude of the tariff increases it caused, but the disastrous experience of the Indah Water Konsortium (IWK) also played a role. Wastewater systems in the country were managed before 1993 by local governments and were generally in poor condition, due to the lack of investment and maintenance. IWK, a company created by one of the wealthiest businessmen of the country, Vincent Tan Chee Yioun (also reportedly a close relative of then-prime minister Mahathir Mohamad), approached the government and proposed to take over and upgrade wastewater through a national concession. The concession was awarded in 1993 without tender. IWK's legal basis for invoicing customers was unclear and refusals to pay soon spread throughout the country, endangering the financial viability of the venture and prompting the government to intervene to lower sewerage tariffs and inject hundreds of millions ringgits (1RM=US\$0.25 at 1998 rate) in long-term soft loans (while IWK's shareholders were contractually guaranteed a minimum rate of profit by the government).<sup>9</sup> The company changed owners three times in its first four years of existence, but in 2001 the government had to buy the company back from Prime Utilities, a listed Malaysian company in which Vincent Tan still owned 30% of the shares.<sup>10</sup> By then, IWK's debt amounted to RM700 million, most of it owed to the government that had lent more than RM1 billion in total to the company. The government nonetheless paid RM200 million to buy it back, a higher price than it had received from the initial concession contract deal.<sup>11</sup> The company is still managed by the minister of finance today.

gest a series of measures to the federal government.<sup>12</sup> Some were kept in the Eighth Plan (2001-2005) but in general this initial attempt was unsuccessful given the sensitivities surrounding state competencies. Nevertheless, negotiations went on with states to obtain an agreement in principle. In 2004, the newly-created Ministry of Energy, Water and Communications – water was becoming a ministry portfolio for the first time in Malaysia – launched a series of reforms to tackle challenges that had been identified by the MWA. The ministry tasked business consultancy KPMG in August 2004 to lead the consultation, with the following objectives as worded by the consultant:

- To propose a viable, low-cost industry structure for water and sewerage services in the country
- To help the Federal Government put in place a policy and regulatory framework for the orderly and sustainable development of the water services industry

- To conduct comparative studies based on other international water regulatory bodies as a guideline for the establishment of the proposed National Services Commission
- To conduct a study on amending the Federal Constitution in the event that the Federal Government takes over the regulatory function of water services from the States
- To prepare two sets of draft bills: a Water Services Industry Bill to govern the water industry, and a National Water Services Commission Bill to establish the formation of the regulatory body<sup>13</sup>

The proposed reform consisted in unifying water and wastewater services policy and regulation at the federal level, and in setting up a business model enabling an economic transition to full cost recovery as a long-term objective, a pre-condition to end the water sector dependency on uncertain funding based on political decisions. This focus on 'water services' rather than 'water' in general was already an important limitation of the response to the initial crisis diagnosis in the sense that water resource management was not included in the reform and remained the sole responsibility of states. In reality, states did not want to lose control of water catchment areas for political and economic reasons (some had profitable business activities on these lands, logging in particular). Another shortcoming of the reform was the refusal by the eastern states of Sabah and Sarawak (on Borneo island) to join the process.

Despite these concerns, reforms were set in motion with the first step being an amendment to the Federal Constitution that was passed by both houses of Parliament in January 2005, moving water supply and services from the State List of exclusive responsibilities to the shared federal-state responsibilities Concurrent List, and transferring water revenues from the states to the federal government. The only change made to water resources regulation was in the form of the creation of a National Water Resources Council, chaired by the prime minister and tasked with coordinating water resources policies at the national level.

The next steps in the reform process related to the adoption of two laws in 2006: the Water Services Industry Act (Act 655; WSIA), a comprehensive legislation providing the details of the reform, and the National Water Services Commission Act (Act 654) to set up an independent national regulator with vast monitoring and enforcement powers: the *Suruhanjaya Perkhidmatan Air Negara* (SPAN). A new public company was created under the direct authority of the Ministry of Finance, the *Pengurusan Aset Air Berhad* (PAAB), whose primary task was to facilitate fundraising for the entire national water sector at the cheapest rate possible.

The aim of the reform was to use 'inner benefits' of both public and private sectors, that is to say, cheap access to funding by the public sector and efficient, commercially sound service delivery by the private sector. On the one hand, PAAB would be tasked with raising funds on the market with government credit rating; on the other, it would buy all water assets in the country from existing operators (except in Sabah and Sarawak) and lease them back to these same operators afterwards. The difference was that they would then become managers of a public federal asset, would be transformed into corporations if they were not already, and would be exposed to competitive pressures (due to the short, three-year duration of the lease contracts).

It was hoped that these measures would prompt delivery of an efficient service. In theory, PAAB was expected to fund capital expenditures and the operators, operational expenses; that is, PAAB would manage major projects such as dams, plants and large development projects, be they for new assets or for their replacement, while operators would take charge of small infrastructure projects in addition to maintenance and management tasks.

One of the remarkable features of this reform was its ambition to develop a new, Malaysia-specific institutional structure for the water sector that would break free from previous models. In the words of Dato' Sri Dr Lim Keng Yaik, minister of energy, water and telecommunications from 2004 to 2008: "The reform model that we are embarking on is unique and I hope it will serve as a guide to developing as well as developed countries."<sup>15</sup> The current CEO of SPAN, Dato' Teo Yen Hua, also explains the rationale behind the change in policy: "Generally, long-term privatisation concessions are not suitable for the water sector. Even the World Bank accepted this fact. There is also no one-size-fits-all solution. No one model can meet the needs of all countries."<sup>16</sup> MWA's President, Ahmad Zahdi Bin Jamil, gives further insight into the ambitions of the Malaysian water industry through this reform, which he says are aimed at "making Malaysia THE water hub for developing countries."<sup>17</sup> Further, KPMG consultant Chin Yoong Kheong, who had a leading role in shaping the reform and facilitating the consultation process, also uses such a bold tone when describing the reform:

To put it simply, we have managed to carve a workable business model for an industry that is currently not at full-cost recovery (or loss making under conventional accounting) to have access to long term AAA rated bonds. Through PAAB, we have widened the breadth and increased the depth of the bond market specifically for the water services industry without undue financial burden to the Federal Government. PAAB is an initiative of a public-private partnership that leverages the strength of both the public as well as the private sector. We are entering into uncharted territory and we know we have a winning strategic plan.<sup>18</sup>

## Box 2 The National Water Services Commission

The National Water Services Commission (*Suruhanjaya Perkhidmatan Air Negara*, SPAN) was created in April 2007 to become the pivotal independent regulator in the new institutional architecture created by the 2006 water reforms in Malaysia. Between eight and 10 people sit in the Commission in addition to its (non-executive) chairperson and CEO, all appointed by the Ministry of Energy, Water and Telecommunications for a period of two years. Current members are federal government officials (3), private construction firm executives (2), business lawyers (2) and one consumer NGO representative. The Commission meets once a month.

The Commission itself leads a 149-strong administration based on 2009 figures, with four regional offices in the country and headquarters in CyberJaya, half an hour drive from Kuala Lumpur. SPAN's role is crucial in that it co-delivers (together with the Ministry of Energy, Green Technology and Water) licences and regulates all water industry professionals active in the country (water services contractors, public and private water supply operators, public and private sewerage operators and contractors, manufacturers/suppliers and even plumbers), a legal requirement compulsory since the WSIA states that anyone operating a water system without such a license will face a heavy fine, and possibly even a prison term. Crucially, SPAN is meant to design a "robust, stable and transparent framework for periodic tariffs reviews."<sup>14</sup> The current system forces operators to use industry-benchmarked costs determined by the regulator in order to keep these operators under competitive pressure. This means that tariffs are reviewed within a technical, rather than political, framework.

Water operators, public and private, must submit a business plan to get their license and sign the three-year lease contract with PAAB that allows them to operate the system. SPAN monitors them along Key Performance Indicators that look at water quality, unaccounted for water, pressure, and customer services in a benchmarking approach. SPAN's enforcement powers are important, with the legal ability to take measures as far-reaching as replacing the entire management of an operator in the event it would repeatedly not comply with its assigned targets. SPAN's monitoring also relies on direct consumer input, with an entire department tasked with receiving and handling complaints, in close cooperation with a consumer body specifically created for this purpose and funded by SPAN, the Malaysian Water Forum.

SPAN's role is essential in safeguarding public, social and environmental dimensions through monitoring of operators constituted as corporations whose only structural objectives are to at least reach financial balance within their own accounting scope. The general rationale is that operational efficiency will stem from this arms-length relationship between the regulator and the operators, and that this efficiency will be the source of legitimacy for moving toward full cost recovery.

Indeed, if the public-private partnership concept is not new, the idea to enlarge its application to an entire country in a systematic manner is unheard of. The scope of this reform and its ambition were a subject of pride for the majority of people interviewed for this research, notably consumer organisations, who are given a prominent role in dealing with customer complaints and in advising SPAN, and who insisted that the level of transparency enabled by the scheme is high, breaking with former practice in the country. Other interviewees and sources also point to the large and open consultations that took place prior to the reform in order to obtain as large a buy-in as possible from all players, and mention the fact that the two draft bills were de-classified to allow for public discussion before being voted in Parliament, a move described as unusual in Malaysia's political system. This is not to say that everyone agreed with the reforms, but the process was inclusive enough to allow the reforms to move forward.

The roadmap for the reforms was embedded within the country's five-year plans as follows:

- Stabilisation (2001-2005): The Eighth Plan provided for an initial step into the reform with the corporatisation of state water authorities, and oversaw the planning of the national water services industry restructuring.
- Consolidation (2006-2010): This plan addressed the operationalisation of SPAN, enforcement of the Water Services Industry Act (WSIA) 2006, the transfer of water-related assets to PAAB at negotiated value and the development of new water infrastructure; it also facilitated service providers becoming asset light to focus on efficiency and effectiveness.
- Toward Efficiency (2011-2015): This plan puts in place a tariff setting mechanism to allow full cost recovery to be completely phased in 2013, integrates water supply and sewerage services, and represents initial efforts toward the introduction of integrated water and sewerage tariffs.<sup>19</sup>

### Reality check: Political and practical problems

As with any reform, the real work began with implementation. It is still too early to adequately assess the outcomes, however, due to delays in the process: only five states had transferred their assets and liabilities to PAAB by mid-2011: Melaka, Negeri Sembilan, Perlis, Johor and Pulau Pinang, the latter having only signed a deal with PAAB in June 2011. According to November 2010 data provided by SPAN,<sup>20</sup> technical performance has improved for three of these states (no data was provided on Perlis), with unaccounted for water decreasing as a result of improved metering, maintenance, actions against illegal connections and billing systems efficiency, particularly in Johor where the assets were owned by the current operator, SAJ Holdings, a privatised company (subsidiary of Malaysian water corporation Ranhill). In these three states, water coverage reached 100% in urban areas and more than 99.5% in rural areas, and tariff revenue increased.

The reform must also be seen in light of the general picture of rampant centralisation in the country. As a guarantee, state governments obtained legal protection against any private participation in PAAB or change in the nature of the land where the water systems are located, and thus any of those two occurrences would automatically trigger the return of the assets to the state governments. There is political uncertainty on the horizon, however. In terms of labour relations, the ongoing corporatisation of the public operators (achieved in Negiri Sembilan and Kedah, underway in Perlis, Pahang, Labuan and Perak) has been met with strong criticism from workers' unions, who point to low wages, degraded working conditions and fear that their companies will be privatised once corporatised and made to appear profitable. Other critics point to another weakness of this reform: the exclusion of broader water resource management issues that undermines the possibility of serious action on decreasing surface water quality and quantity.

But other elements tend to show that more fundamental flaws have developed within the model itself, and particularly at the level of the strategic assets-holding public company, PAAB. In order to obtain the funds needed to develop the infrastructure, PAAB raises money on international bond markets. Rating agencies consider that the guarantee given to PAAB by the Ministry of Finance, as well as the strategic nature of its assets, mean that PAAB's credit risk is the same as Malaysia's. PAAB can therefore access funding with an average 2.5-3% yearly interest rate, well below any Malaysian private company's fundraising possibilities. The original idea was that PAAB would act as a financial middleman, only charging the operators its overhead costs plus interest (the lease contract fee was indeed meant to be determined on an affordability principle, not directly based on the assets' value). However, it seems that the general principle changed along the way: operators are now identified by SPAN and PAAB in different categories according to their reimbursement capacities, and the lease fees are now based on a fixed share of the assets' value. The weakest operators having signed a lease contract so far were applied a 3-4% yearly rate, but the Johor operator (SAJ) has to pay a lease fee as high as 6% of the asset value (RM240 million a year for assets valued at 4.03 billion).<sup>24</sup> Such an interest level is still lower than what SAJ could obtain on the markets, but it is two times higher than what PAAB itself must repay, so the fee is obviously well above PAAB's operating costs. In sum, the intended 'cheap funding' for the water sector has turned into a money-making venture for PAAB (questioned on the issue, PAAB contends that it needs to raise its rates to meet its operating expenses<sup>25</sup>). Such an added cost to the funding of water projects is all the more striking given that state governments could apply for interest-free loans for water infrastructure development in the previous system and that this institutional

### Box 3 Water fights in Selangor

State-federal government rivalry remains very important even after the sweeping Malaysian water reform. A major political battle on water issues has been taking place in the state of Selangor, the richest and most populated state of the country that was won by the opposition political coalition *Pakatan Rakyat* in 2008. The water systems there had been gradually privatised from 1997 by the former governments. First, the profitable parts of the system (water treatment plants) were handed out to a local private company called *Puncak Niaga*, which got a lucrative concession contract to supply water to the then-public distribution company. Second, two Build-Operate-Transfer contracts were awarded for new water treatment plants, bringing three private companies on board to operate water treatment facilities in Selangor. Then, the entire distribution and billing system was corporatised and eventually privatised by the company *Syabas*, in which Puncak Niaga bought a 70% stake (the state keeping the other 30%).

In late 2008, discussions started between the opposition-led state of Selangor and the four companies to negotiate the conditions of an asset buy-back. Two companies accepted the state offer, but not Puncak Niaga nor its subsidiary. SPAN and PAAB got involved in the discussion, but very quickly the discussion turned into a bitter political fight between the Selangor state on the one hand, and PAAB/SPAN and the water corporations on the other, Selangor reproaching PAAB for valuing assets in favour of Puncak Niaga. It also accused PAAB of ideological preference toward the private sector. But some critics say the reason was political: Puncak Niaga's CEO, Tan Sri Rozali Ismail, who belongs to UMNO (the party in power at the federal level and therefore with influence over PAAB's decisions) has been the treasurer of its local Selangor section<sup>21</sup> and a likely substantial financial contributor to the party.<sup>22</sup> Meanwhile, the state refused a 37% tariff increase to Syabas, increasing these companies' debts to the extent that, in late March 2011, Syabas and Puncak Niaga's corporate bonds were downgraded by rating agencies, prompting a government intervention in June 2011 through PAAB buying these bonds and saving the companies.<sup>23</sup>

model was theoretically set up to "bridge the gap between long term sustainability and immediate need of funds."<sup>26</sup> One interviewee suggested that this change of interest rates policy occurred in parallel with the change of prime minister in April 2009 (Najib Razak was finance minister under former prime minister Anwar Ibrahim), suggesting a new set of political priorities, but this allegation could not be corroborated by other sources.

This complicated relationship with politics can be seen in another domain of PAAB's activities. PAAB is run by executives trained in investment banking and has a limited

staff of about 80 persons, of which only 10% have engineering or other technical backgrounds. As a result, all of its infrastructure investments are done through public tenders. PAAB executives say that they have rigorous internal governance schemes that prevent privileged access and external influence, but as we have seen in the Selangor case (see Box 3) PAAB was not insulated from government pressures when contracting out services. That PAAB is a "wholly owned company under the Ministry of Finance Incorporated"<sup>27</sup> and that Malaysia has such a long track record of biased tenders (Malaysia is one of the few countries in the world where political parties own private corporations) does not serve to reassure anyone.

A last potentially serious problem lies in the division of responsibilities between PAAB and the operators for infrastructure works. Various interviewees explained that PAAB was supposed to only take on large infrastructure projects while the operators would remain in charge of the small expansion and maintenance works. However, the threshold between minor and major works is now RM1 million<sup>28</sup> (roughly US\$330,000), with a cap at RM10 million a year per operator. The consequence is that most infrastructure works will get outsourced by PAAB, which creates excellent business opportunities for private construction and engineering companies as well as consultancies but raises many questions: how will the high priority works be identified when all 11 states have to go through PAAB to secure investments? How will the works' timing be respected? To what extent is it more efficient to coordinate tenders from the capital city instead of letting local operators organise these in-house? There are no simple answers to these questions but one can already sense the risk of reproducing at the national level what the reforms intended to avoid at the local level: a heavy, technocratic, poorly accountable and inefficient institutional setup managing water assets.

For certain well-performing operators such as PBAPP (*Pulau Pinang*), the reform is counter-productive in the sense that it might increase its financing costs, will delay the implementation of large infrastructure works and considerably reduce its current managerial autonomy – PBAPP eventually signed a deal with PAAB in June 2011. The fact that the reform uniformly applies to all operators no matter their operational performance appears as one of its clear limitations. Despite SPAN's CEO statement that "there is also no one size fits all solution," the 'perfect model' syndrome seems to have struck once again in Malaysia.

## Conclusion

The 2006 water sector reform in Malaysia was a bold attempt at defining a new, consistent model for the country's water sector, departing from the old privatisation-through-

concession model. It garnered considerable political attention and put water issues high on the political agenda. It is costlier than the previous system, which benefited from subsidisation of the water infrastructure through central government interest-free loans, but this is meant to be compensated by an institutional framework designed to deliver tighter controls on the way public money is used and to create a performance incentive stemming from competitive pressure to comply with a set of key performance indicators. The level of profit that operators can extract from the assets being leased to them is also meant to be closely regulated. This new framework aims to harmonise water systems throughout the country, potentially reducing discrepancies between rich and poor states and guaranteeing the application of a number of performance indicators and standards.

Central to these reforms have been 'tariff de-politicisation' and 'full cost recovery'. The most immediate consequences have been moving tariff setting decision making from the local political level to a national technocratic level, from an arena where public debate and disagreement are the norm to one where consensus building is necessary, and from the criticism of opposition parties to the cooperation of consumers and NGOs. This is crucial and may have been the main motivation for the reform given the numerous complaints by private operators about state governments refusing to set water tariffs at profitable levels. The full cost recovery discourse, for its part, is a narrow attempt at insulating the water services industry from institutional politics and one sees this ideological trail throughout the reforms. The technocratic assumption is that a carefully defined governance framework can solve all the challenges of the water sector without the messy politics of debate.

Although it is too early to assess fully the outcomes of these reforms, results thus far are mixed. On the positive side, there is broader commitment to a public-led national water services strategy, a mechanism to systematically forward users' complaints to the regulator has been set up and it appears that service coverage and technical reliability are to improve in the short and medium term due to new public capital investments. Nevertheless, cracks are beginning to show. The exclusion of water resource management issues beyond the confines of service delivery are particularly dangerous due to the larger environmental impacts of water systems, and it appears that managers will not integrate this broader dimension into their performance indicators. Moreover, chances are that corporatised water operators will try to increase their profits excessively by degrading working conditions and limiting regulatory compliance to the minimum, as typically happens in public-private partnerships.

Even more problematic is the illusory attempt at de-politicising water management: PAAB's changes in political priorities, as well as its political ties, show that the water sector is still influenced by politics but that these politics are no longer institutional and therefore no longer regulated by a system of checks and balances of publicly expressed interests and ideas. This places Malaysia's newly centralised 'public' water sector at the mercy of interests that would be powerful enough to influence PAAB's and SPAN's decision making, and shows that, ironically, this public intervention to solve Malaysia's feared water crisis might have weakened the country's ability to respond to it in the long run by widening the gap between open public discussion and policy making.

### Endnotes

- 1 Halvorssen, T. (2010) Malaysia's bridge is falling down. *The Huffington Post*, 19 July. http:// www.huffingtonpost.com/thor-halvorssen/malaysias-bridge-is-falli\_b\_651617.html (accessed 12 December 2011).
- 2 Weiss, M.L. (2006) Protest and possibilities: Civil society and coalitions for political change in Malaysia. Stanford, California: Stanford University Press, p. 110.
- 3 Malaysian Water Association (2010) Malaysia water industry guide. Kuala Lumpur: MWA, p. 21.
- 4 Ibid, p. 36.
- 5 In 2004, state operators' cumulated debt amounted to RM8 billions, more than two times the national water sector's yearly revenue; see Lee, K.Y. (2010) *Reforming the water sector in Malay-sia.* Global Water Summit, Paris.
- 6 Ibid, p. 35.
- 7 Lee, C. and Lee Yoong, H. (2007) *Efficiency in the Malaysian water industry*. Semenyih, Malaysia: University of Nottingham, Malaysia Campus.
- 8 Santiago, C. (2005) Public-public partnership: An alternative strategy in water management in Malaysia. In Transnational Institute and Corporate Europe Observatory, *Reclaiming Public Water* – Achievements, struggles and visions from around the world, pp. 55-61. Amsterdam: Transnational Institute and Corporate Europe Observatory.
- 9 Mody, A. (2000) Contingent liabilities in infrastructure: Lessons of the East Asian crisis, 28 May.
- 10 Chong Yen, L. (2001) IWK bailout a wastage of public funds. *MalaysiaKini*, 19 April. www. malaysiakini.com/news/2090 (accessed 12 December 2011).
- 11 Chong Yen, L. (2001) IWK bailout shows perils of privatisation. *MalaysiaKini*, 19 April. http://www.malaysiakini.com/news/2133 (accessed 12 December 2011).
- 12 Chin, Y.K. (2008) *The water tablet Malaysian water reforms*. Putrajaya, Malaysia: Ministry of Energy, Water and Communications.
- 13 Ibid, pp. 14-15.

- 14 Teo, Y.H. (2010) Regulatory Leaders Dialogue Strengthening the regulatory climate for water and public utilities: Towards greater sustainability. SPAN CEO presentation at the National Water and Utilities Summit, Kuala Lumpur, 28 September.
- 15 Ibid, p. vi.
- 16 Teo, Y.H. (2009) Water sector reforms in Malaysia. *Water Utility Management International* 4(1): 16-17.
- 17 Malaysian Water Association (2010), op.cit., p. 17.
- 18 Chin (2008), op.cit., p. xix.
- 19 Teo (2010), op.cit.
- 20 Idem.
- 21 Tan, N. (2010) How SYABAS is stealing billions of our money from under our noses. *Jelas. info*, 20 November. http://jelas.info/2010/11/19/how-syabas-is-stealing-billions-of-our-money-from-under-our-noses/ (accessed 12 December 2011).
- 22 Free MalaysiaKini (2010) Rozali holds grudge against S'gor MB, 29 August.
- 23 Leong, H.Y. (2011) Acqua SPV buys RM5.8bil Selangor water bonds. *The Star Online*, 3 June. http://biz.thestar.com.my/news/story.asp?file=/2011/6/3/business/8829269&sec=business (accessed 23 January 2012).
- 24 PAAB (2009) Pengurusan Aset Air Berhad signs landmark water restructuring deal with Johor – First private water concessionaire to give up concession. Press release, Kuala Lumpur, 11 March.
- 25 Mohd Farid Nawawi, PAAB's Chief Risk Officer, author interview, 28 January 2010.
- 26 Chin (2008), op. cit.
- 27 PAAB. http://www.paab.my/.
- 28 Teo (2010), op. cit.

Chapter Seven

# Looking to the Future: What Next For Remunicipalisation?

by Olivier Hoedeman, Satoko Kishimoto and Martin Pigeon

This book, with its five in depth case studies, is the most comprehensive review of water remunicipalisation to date. The cases provide strong arguments for public water management as a viable alternative to privatisation. While remunicipalisation is by no means simple, each case proves that public management can offer services that privatisation could never deliver. Remunicipalisation is a credible, realistic and attractive option for citizens and policy makers dissatisfied with privatisation. The cases should be a source of hope and inspiration, but also of specific insights and lessons for anyone wanting to challenge and overturn water privatisation.

No less than 40 municipalities in France have decided to remunicipalise in the near future, including large cities such as Bordeaux and Brest. Elsewhere in Europe and the Americas the negative experiences with privatisation are making cities choose remunicipalisation too. In Africa, more and more private water contracts are not renewed. Some of the remaining Asian privatisation contracts are coming under serious pressure and there is good reason to expect the momentum for remunicipalisation to build further as the shortcomings of water privatisation become more apparent and water justice movements gain strength. A recent striking example is Napoli, in Italy, where the city council decided to remunicipalise water services as a response to the June 2011 Italian referendum on water privatisation in which 96% of voters opted to overturn the laws facilitating water privatisation in the country, one of the most significant expressions of public support ever for remunicipalisation and public water more generally.

As growing numbers of cities embark on the transition from private to public water management it is crucial to take stock of lessons learned and avoid pitfalls. This will increase the chances of successful remunicipalisation, especially where the change is not simply from private to public control but involves creating more transparent and accountable public operators securing socially and environmentally sustainable water and sanitation systems for all. Remunicipalisation struggles provide a real opportunity for citizens not only to end privatisation but to help shape public water companies that are democratic and responsive to their needs. Remunicipalisation is not merely about returning to the pre-privatisation situation, but should be about reinventing public water management altogether.

In Paris, water delivery was successfully transferred in 2009-2010 with impressive results on many fronts, from increased transparency and cost savings to improved water resource protection. It is the largest remunicipalisation in Europe to date and was by no means a simple matter, due in part to the fact that the city's water supply was run by two private water firms, each covering half of the city. There was internal opposition among parts of the city's administration and rigid public procurement procedures created difficulties for the new public operator, but these and other problems were overcome. Thanks to remunicipalisation, the city saved approximately €35 million in its first year and was able to reduce the water tariff by 8%. The savings reflect the fact that the two private firms, Suez and Veolia, had extracted excessive profits from their private concessions. The new public operator ended the financial opacity and poor accountability that had characterised privatisation, and has demonstrated that remunicipalisation is not just about transferring ownership and management control, but also about embracing progressive water policies, improving environmental standards, enhancing international solidarity and other public interest goals. The city's public water company now works with a long-term perspective; for instance, it leads awareness-raising campaigns to promote tap water as well as public-public partnerships with water utilities in developing countries.

The transfer to public management brought very significant savings and efficiency gains in the Canadian city of Hamilton as well. Following a strong campaign by citizens' groups and unions against the secrecy and mismanagement of the private water operator, the biggest privatisation contract in North America ended with its non-renewal. Transparency in the operations of the water utility greatly improved as a result of the remunicipalisation, which also proved a genuine source of savings as it allowed the municipality to properly verify the utility's performance and make year-to-year budget adjustments. The operation was a clear success, even if some problems remain. There are concerns about the public utility becoming increasingly corporatised, which might result in the utility behaving as a private company and not being as accountable to citizens as it should be. Hamilton, moreover, suffers from major environmental challenges, including a toxic sludge disposal problem. Attempts to solve this through very expensive new investments in large-scale water technology are unlikely to bring long-term sustainability to the city's water usage. The problem of relying on large-scale, centralised infrastructure and technological fixes exists to varying degrees in all the cases covered in the book and remains a challenge for modern municipal water systems.

In terms of the number of inhabitants, the remunicipalisation in Buenos Aires was even larger than Paris. Whereas the transfer to public management in Paris happened at a time when the private contract ended, remunicipalisation in the Argentine capital started when the government terminated Suez's 30-year concession only halfway through that period. This was a tough decision to take given the legal consequences: the Argentine state was immediately sued by the company with a claim of US\$1.7 billion at the World Bank's International Centre for Settlement of Investment Disputes (ICSID), whose decision is still pending at the time of writing. The decision to end the contract came after Suez systematically failed to meet its contractual targets for expanding coverage and improving the quality of water services. The water multinational was not making the promised investments, but repeatedly called for contract renegotiations to boost profits. The new public company, owned 10% by the workers' union, has achieved impressive results in the first five years, particularly in terms of expanding coverage to citizens in poorer neighbourhoods, involving them in public works programmes and broadening access to water and sanitation. These measures were financed by public investments despite decreasing revenue. There are problems in the institutional setup, however, such as a lack of participation channels for water users at the decision-making level, as well as other legacies from the privatisation era such as an unfair tariff system. The public water company has yet to take up the ambitious challenge of securing a holistic and environmentally sustainable water management programme covering the whole water cycle, which would require solutions to the polluted water in the metropolitan river basins.

The remunicipalisation in Dar es Salaam brought about a reduction in water leakage levels and extended coverage after a short but disastrous privatisation experience. But the system is still a far cry from providing universal access to water and sanitation. Tanzania's dependency on international donors, particularly development banks, has had a defining influence on the remunicipalisation experience: the failed privatisation contract terminated by the government had been imposed by the World Bank and other development banks in the first place, and those institutions accepted the replacement of the private company by a public one but changed nothing in the previous institutional setup, and they continue to decide on the entity's priorities. This donor-controlled transition contributed to an excessive focus on increasing revenue collection and the promotion of projects that were not necessarily technically relevant. The Dar es Salaam example high-lights the continued financial dependency of impoverished countries on international donor institutions that promote neoliberal water sector reforms and other blueprint approaches to local problems.

The water sector reform in Malaysia was slightly different from the other cases in this book in the sense that it occurred on a national scale. It is an attempt to harmonise
water management throughout the country after a series of disappointing concession experiences, to boost water infrastructure development in the poorest states, and to apply revised performance indicators and standards. Crucially, two central objectives of the reform were the 'de-politicisation' of tariff setting and the implementation of full cost recovery. Corporatisation of all water utilities is also a central element. So far, the reform has brought about mixed results. On the positive side, new public investments seem to increase service coverage and technical reliability in states where needs are greatest, and there is now an improved mechanism for user complaints to the regulator. On the negative side, there are problems such as the exclusion of water resource management issues, the likely degradation of working conditions, and the utilities' corporatisation reducing regulatory compliance. National centralisation also reduces the flexibility of local and state water utilities to respond to local circumstances, including social needs. As for the promises of smooth economic self-regulation, a few years in this reform have already shown that the water sector is not politics-proof, that it will never be, and that the new structure is increasing risks by reducing the diversity and public service ethos of the country's water managers.

While the cases covered in the book all show the clear benefits of remunicipalisation, there are major differences in the degree of 'publicness' in the new public water companies. In some cases the new systems are far more ambitiously 'public' in terms of commitment to the public interest and genuine accountability to citizens. In Dar es Salaam, the private operator was replaced by a new publicly owned company, but the institutional setup and the company's priorities did not change much. In Buenos Aires, the government ensured that the new public company would focus on universalising access to water and sanitation, backed up by public interest water policies, including environmental and international solidarity goals. In Paris and Buenos Aires, strong political leadership was instrumental in securing 'publicness' in the operations of the new water companies. In both cases, however, the mechanisms for citizen participation are underdeveloped, as are other institutional accountability mechanisms that can help keep public companies on track in terms of serving the public interest. In Dar es Salaam the power of international donor institutions closed off possible ambitions in this respect.

A clear lesson from all the cases in this book is the need to develop a clear vision of what kind of public management is to replace privatisation, including an institutional setup that can build a genuinely public water system. When done well, remunicipalisation can instill a new institutional culture in public utilities and foster better relationships with users and citizens. If poorly done it could do little to improve the 'publicness' of the water system.

Terminating a privatisation contract before it ends is clearly the most difficult road to remunicipalisation, compared to non-renewal after the contract expires. Such terminations give rise to complex and hard-fought political struggles, and can end in legal battles in far-away, and often corporate-friendly, dispute settlement courts. Nevertheless, the two termination cases in this book, Buenos Aires and Dar es Salaam, demonstrate that dissolution of privatisation contracts is feasible if the political will exists.

These efforts provide hope for other cities, such as Jakarta, Indonesia, where one of the most intense battles over remunicipalisation is currently taking place. In Jakarta, water multinational Suez has had a privatisation contract since 1997 that runs until 2022. Suez has failed to fulfil its obligations to extend and improve water supply to the city's inhabitants, water users are overcharged and the company secures excessive profits. Although there is broad political consensus that private provision does not work, real change proves extremely difficult to achieve due to the penalties that are likely to follow from a court case if the city ends Suez's concession. Meanwhile, the flaws in the contract and the multinational company's high ground create a power imbalance that leaves public authorities unable to force a step-up in its performance and to limit profit margins. Any renegotiation of the contract signed during the Suharto dictatorship is left to the company's good will. The Jakarta experience should serve as a warning against privatisation contracts that severely limit the political space and choices available to citizens.

Another important lesson is that any remunicipalisation effort should try and pre-empt pitfalls before the transition starts. The citizens' movement for remunicipalisation in Hamilton, for example, dedicated considerable attention to technical issues, both in terms of analysing the shortcomings of privatisation and in choosing strategic targets for their campaign. The groundwork was essential to prepare a successful transition.

Other options such as public-public partnerships (PuPs) are extremely useful in campaigning for remunicipalisation. The Dar es Salaam example, despite its limitations, features an interesting case of how not-for-profit partnerships with other public utilities can be used to mobilise technical and management expertise for improved public water supply at home. PuPs are increasingly popular because they can bring practical improvements without the disastrous loss of local control that happens with privatisation. Since 2006, the United Nations has actively supported such partnerships, which has led to the creation of the Global Water Operators' Partnership Alliance (GWOPA) coordinated by UN-Habitat. A growing number of European public water utilities now engage in solidarity-based international partnerships, such as the public water companies of Paris and Amsterdam and that of the Seville province, Spain.

Closer cooperation between public utilities has a key role to play. Cities embarking on remunicipalisation could benefit tremendously from the experience of public water operators that have successfully gone through this transformation. An international network of remunicipalised water operators would be ideal, perhaps as part of a future global network of public water companies. Civil society, trade unions and academic researchers also have a crucial role to play in international exchange of expertise on how to achieve transparent, accountable and effective public water management.

International solidarity also helps create a more supportive environment for public water. Currently, remunicipalisation processes happen with virtually no official political, technical and financial support. Many government agencies, international financial and donor institutions, and mainstream water sector organisations either favour a strong role for the private sector, crossing out remunicipalisation altogether, or have not yet realised the importance of the remunicipalisation trend.

The Dar es Salaam case is interesting in that it shows how the constraints imposed by international donors are an obstacle to successful remunicipalisation. The interference of the World Bank silenced any real debate about what public water model could best solve the city's water problems and imposed a neoliberal model limiting changes to management practices. Donors also pushed for infrastructure projects that were not necessarily appropriate. This experience demonstrates that international political and financial support to enable developing countries to choose and locally develop progressive public water management is still lacking. The World Bank stubbornly continues to seek new ways of commodifying and privatising water and limits its recommendations to public utilities to ways in which they can corporatise their services. Civil society campaigns to reform international development banks and to create alternatives to these institutions are therefore of utmost importance.

Whereas the global wave of privatisation that peaked in the late 1990s lost strength because of numerous failures around the world, a revival might now be taking shape. The deep economic crisis that has developed after the collapse of financial markets in 2008 is creating a new and entirely unjustified momentum for privatisation. This is particularly the case in Europe, where the crisis is intensifying because of austerity policies imposed in many countries, with European Union (EU) institutions driving these changes. Harsh budget cuts and privatisations are presented as necessary for growth opportunities and to regain the trust of financial markets, even though this deepens the recession in the real economy. Among the most alarming examples of this ideologically-driven and irresponsible privatisation push is Greece, where the administrative takeover by the EU and the International Monetary Fund (IMF) in return for new loans is now imposing the privatisation of water utilities in large cities such as Athens and Thessalonica. Encouragingly, the sell-off of large parts of the shares of these companies to private interests is opposed by citizen groups, who are developing creative counter-strategies. In the Greek city of Thessalonica, a coalition of citizens' groups called *Initiative 136* is creating a new organisation to compete with Suez in the tender for the acquisition of the shares and the management of Thessalonica's Water and Sewerage Company. The dual goal is to prevent privatisation and replace the model of state administration that has failed to protect the public character of water resources and infrastructure, and secure genuine democratic control of the city's water by its citizens. The management would be organised through local cooperatives, with citizen participation. *Initiative 136* is an effort to pre-empt privatisation before it is implemented, with an attractive concrete alternative in the form of improved public management. It is a truly inspiring reflection of the growing strength and awareness of the water justice networks to see a water remunicipalisation campaign emerge even before privatisation is implemented.

As the first collection dedicated to the topic of remunicipalisation, this book cannot answer all the questions that are raised by this trend. We simply hope the book will spark additional research and further debate on these matters.

# About the Authors

*Daniel Azpiazu* was an economist and Principal Researcher at the National Council of Scientific and Technical Research (CONICET-Argentina) and at the Latin American Faculty of Social Sciences in Buenos Aires before his death, shortly before the publication of this book.

*José Esteban Castro* is Professor of Sociology at Newcastle University (UK), and Visiting Research Associate at the Gino Germani Institute of Social Research, University of Buenos Aires, Argentina.

*Olivier Hoedeman* is research coordinator at Corporate Europe Observatory (CEO) and co-editor of the book *Reclaiming Public Water – Achievements, Struggles and Visions from Around the World.* 

*Satoko Kishimoto* is the coordinator of the Water Justice Project at the Transnational Institute (TNI) and coordinator of the Reclaiming Public Water (RPW) network.

*David A. McDonald* is Professor of Global Development Studies at Queen's University, Canada, and co-director of the Municipal Services Project.

*Martin Pigeon* is a researcher working on water and agribusiness issues at Corporate Europe Observatory (CEO).

# Get Involved!

**Corporate Europe Observatory (CEO)** is a Brussels-based research and campaign group working to expose and challenge the privileged access and influence enjoyed by corporations and their lobby groups in policy making. CEO works in close alliance with public interest groups and social movements in and outside Europe to develop alternatives to the dominance of corporate power. CEO has worked for many years on promoting alternatives to water privatisation. www.corporateeurope.org

The **Municipal Services Project (MSP)** explores alternatives to privatization in the health, water, sanitation and electricity sectors. The MSP is an inter-disciplinary project made up of academics, labour unions, non-governmental organizations, social movements and activists from around the globe. Our website offers an interactive platform for researchers and others from around the world to engage in discussions on this topic. www.municipalservicesproject.org

Founded in 1974, the **Transnational Institute (TNI)** is an international network of activist scholars committed to critical analyses of the global problems of today and tomorrow. TNI seeks to create and promote international co-operation in analyzing and finding possible solutions to such global problems as militarism and conflict, poverty and marginalisation, social injustice and environmental degradation. TNI serves as the coordinating hub of the Reclaiming Public Water (RPW) network. www.tni.org

The **Reclaiming Public Water (RPW)** network promotes people-centred and democratic public management in order to make the human right to water a practical reality for everyone. RPW is an open and horizontal network connecting civil society campaigners, trade unionists, researchers, community water associations and public water operators from around the world. www.waterjustice.org

The **Remunicipalisation Tracker** website aims to increase the visibility of the remunicipalisation trend by showcasing cities, regions and countries that have rolled back privatisation and embarked on securing public water for all that need it. New examples are added and existing cases updated regularly, with the support of water campaigners, public water utility managers, trade unionists and others committed to successful remunicipalisation. www.remunicipalisation.org

# Index

# A

AASA (Aguas Argentinas SA) 59, 61-4, 66-8, 70-3 accountability 14, 79, 85-6, 107, 109 activists 21 Agua y Saneamientos Argentinos see AySA Aguas Argentinas SA see AASA Amsterdam 110 Anglian Water Limited 72 Argentina 8, 11, 59, 63-4, 70-2 AWW (American Water Works) 79-80, 82 AySA (Agua y Saneamientos Argentinos) 59, 64-73

#### В

Bertrand Delanoë 28, 39 billing system 44, 51, 100 Biwater 41, 43, 45 Biwater-Gauff 45 Buenos Aires 8, 10, 13, 15-16, 59, 66-7, 69-72, 108-9

# С

Caisse des Dépôts et Consignations (CDC) 27, 30 Canada 8, 75, 77, 80 Canadian Council for Public-Private Partnership (CCPPP) 89 Canadian Union of Public Employees see CUPE CCPPP (Canadian Council for Public-Private Partnership) 89 CDC (Caisse des Dépôts et Consignations) 27, 30 citizens 16, 21, 79, 81, 86-7, 92, 106-10, 112 civil society water assembly 36 competition 9, 18, 35, 91 concession contracts 43, 61, 94 contract renegotiations 35, 60, 62, 68, 108 conflictive process of 59, 63

cooperatives 69 corporatisation 18, 26, 87, 98-9, 109 cost recovery 54-5, 87, 95, 97-8 costs 35, 48, 68-9, 71, 78, 82-3, 85, 93, 99 cross-subsidisation 18 CUPE (Canadian Union of Public Employees) 22, 81, 88-9 CWS (City Water Services) 41, 43-5, 50

## D

DAWASA 42-5, 50-1, 54-5, 57 DAWASCO 19, 41, 46, 48, 50-1, 53-4, 56-7 development agencies 52-3 development banks 108 donor conditionality 55-6 donors, international 18, 41, 53-4, 108, 111 drinking water 26-7, 35, 66, 76

#### Е

efficiency 12-14, 65-6, 87, 93, 97-8, 103 electricity 20-1, 32, 78, 87 energy 48, 85, 94, 96-7 engineers 49 environmental protection 59, 61-2 equity 12, 14, 19, 67 Europe 16, 106-7, 111 European federation of public water operators 36 European public water utilities 110 European Union (EU) 111

## F

farmers 35, 85 finance 8, 21, 33, 57, 94-5, 99 financial opacity 28, 107 Foreign water specialists 53 France 8, 25-6, 28, 33, 35, 63, 106 French companies 25, 43 frontline workers 14-15, 20

#### G

Global Water Operators Partnership Alliance (GWOPA) 22, 110 Global Water Summit 103 Great Lakes 75-6 Greek city of Thessalonica 112 Grenoble 31 groundwater 26, 35 GWOPA (Global Water Operators Partnership Alliance) 22, 110

#### Н

Hamilton 8, 10-11, 13, 16, 75-81, 83-5, 87-9, 107, 110
Hamilton City Council 80
Hamilton Harbour 78-80, 84
Hamilton Water Watch Committee 81-2
Horizon Utilities Corporation (HUC) 87
households 36, 47, 68
low-income 8, 18-19
HUC (Horizon Utilities Corporation) 87

## I

ICSID (International Centre for Settlement of Investment Disputes) 45, 54, 63-4, 71-3, 108 illegal connections 47-8, 98 IMF (International Monetary Fund) 63, 111 Indah Water Konsortium (IWK) 94 infrastructure 35, 37, 50, 66, 68, 77, 80, 99, 103, 112 infrastructure funding 47-8 International Centre for Settlement of Investment Disputes see ICSID International Monetary Fund (IMF) 63, 111 International Union of Operating Engineers (IUOE) 88 investments 13, 28, 35, 49, 60-3, 65-7, 77, 83-4, 94, 101 IUOE (International Union of Operating Engineers) 88-9 IWK (Indah Water Konsortium) 94

### J

Jakarta 110

## Κ

Keynesian-era water services 19 Kuala Lumpur 92, 97, 103-4

## L

labour 22, 68-9 Lake Ontario 75 leaks 46, 48 lease contract 43-5, 51, 96, 99 lease fee 45, 50, 99 local governments 9, 71, 94 London 9 Low price elasticity 62

#### М

maintenance 28, 35, 42, 48, 54, 63, 66, 75, 77, 93-4, 96, 98 Malaysia 10-11, 13, 16, 91-2, 94, 96-9, 101, 103, 108 Malaysia Water Association (MWA) 93-4 Malaysian Water Forum 97 Malaysian water reforms 100 managers 14, 19-21, 25, 31-2, 51, 53, 76, 80, 85, 96, 102 markets, financial 79, 111 MCC (Millennium Challenge Corporation) 52-4, 57 Millennium Challenge Corporation see MCC MINPLAN 65 municipalities 9-13, 17, 28, 31, 33, 61, 69, 77, 85, 106-7 MWA (Malaysia Water Association) 93-4

### Ν

National Entity for Sanitation Water Works 67 national governments 16, 48, 59, 66-7, 70-1 National Urban Water Authority (NUWA) 42 National Water and Sewerage Corporation (NWSC) 49
National Water Resources Council 95
National Water Services Commission 97
neighbourhoods 36, 46, 51, 86, 108
neoliberalism 9, 12, 18-19, 51, 59, 70-1, 73, 108, 111
non-governmental organisations 11, 20, 59
NUWA (National Urban Water Authority) 42
NWSC (National Water and Sewerage Corporation) 49
Nyerere, Julius 41, 55

# 0

obligations, contractual 45, 59, 63, 70 operational expenses 48, 51, 96 outsourcing 32-3, 77

#### Ρ

PAAB (Pengurusan Aset Air Berhad) 95-102, 104 Paris 8, 10-11, 13, 15-16, 25-39, 103, 107-10 Paris City Council 25, 30 Paris contract 31 Paris mayor 30 participation 14, 36-7, 65 partnerships 35-6, 84, 110 PBAPP (Perbadanan Bekalan Air Pulau Pinang) 93, 101 Pengurusan Aset Air Berhad see PAAB Perbadanan Bekalan Air Pulau Pinang (PBAPP) 93, 101 performance 12, 30, 43, 46, 50-1, 55, 59, 61-2, 65, 67, 70-1, 78, 83, 85, 110 performance contract 33, 50 performance fees 83 performance indicators 43, 49, 102 Philip Utilities Management Corporation see PUMC Phnom Penh Water Supply Authority (PPWSA) 39 politicians 14, 16, 20, 29

pollution 60-1, 76, 92 power 10, 41, 109 PPIAF (Public-Private Infrastructure Advisory Facility) 21 PPWSA (Phnom Penh Water Supply Authority) 39 prices 9-10, 14, 47, 55, 94 PriceWaterhouseCoopers 56 private contract 19, 55, 59, 108 private operators 30-2, 37, 43, 50, 54, 59-60, 62-4, 71, 75, 80-3, 85, 93, 102, 109 privatisation 9-20, 27, 33, 42-3, 53, 59, 63, 68-72, 75, 81, 87-8, 103, 106-7, 109-12 privatisation contracts 29, 48, 107, 110 failed 108 terminate 71 privatised companies 63, 70, 98 profit rate 26, 62, 66 profits 10, 16, 27, 29, 34, 44, 62, 67, 78, 85, 87, 94, 102, 108 public control 8, 71, 83, 91, 106 public ethos 12, 14, 18, 87 public investments 108-9 public management 77, 83, 87-8, 106-9 public ownership 13-14, 17, 21, 25, 35, 50, 87 Public-Private Infrastructure Advisory Facility (PPIAF) 21 public-public partnerships (PuPs) 110 public sector 8, 18-20, 33, 59, 96 public sector unions 20 public services 12, 15, 18-19, 21, 33, 86-8 public utilities 70-1, 104, 107, 109-11 public water companies 107-8, 110-11 public water management 13, 30, 36, 106-7 publicness 15, 87-8, 109 PUMC (Philip Utilities Management Corporation) 75, 77-80, 88-9 Puncak Niaga 100

#### Q

quality 14, 51, 60, 66, 68, 78, 80, 85, 89, 108

# R

raw water 46, 70 Reclaiming Public Water Network 11 regulator 65, 68, 97, 102, 109 reliability 46-7, 51 renationalisation 59, 64, 72 revenue 18, 46-8, 51, 55, 64, 67 revenue collection 44, 48, 50 Ruvu River 42, 46, 48, 53

#### S

Sabah 95-6 SAGEP 27-30, 39 sanitation 11, 28, 34, 36, 42, 59, 64, 72, 108-9 Sarawak 95-6 Saur 43 SEGBATOS 59, 69-70 Selangor state 100 service cut-offs 9, 11 sewerage 60, 62, 66, 69 sewers 26, 84-5 shareholders 29, 45, 63-4, 72 sludge 85 social movements 20, 92 Social Tariff 68 solidarity 12, 14, 36, 67, 85 solidarity programs 36, 86 SPAN (Suruhanjaya Perkhidmatan Air Negara) 95, 97-100 state governments 93, 99, 102 state intervention 63-4 state water utilities 109 Suez 29, 32, 34, 37, 71-2, 107-8, 110, 112 Suruhanjaya Perkhidmatan Air Negara see SPAN sustainability 14, 26, 37, 55 sustainable water management programme 108

#### Т

Tanzania 7-8, 11, 41-3, 45, 47, 49, 51, 53-7 government of 41, 43, 45, 53-4 tap water 36, 107 tariffs 44, 47, 54, 59-63, 67-8, 93-4, 97, 100 Thames Water 80 transparency 12, 14, 34, 36, 85-6, 98, 107

## U

UMNO (United Malays National Organisation) 91, 100
UNCITRAL (United Nations Commission on International Trade Law) 45, 54, 72
unions 20, 32, 37, 44, 59, 64, 69-70, 77, 88, 99, 107-8
United Malays National Organisation (UMNO) 91, 100
United Nations Commission on International Trade Law (UNCITRAL) 45, 54, 72
United States 8, 43-4, 46-8, 50-3, 62-4, 66-8, 71, 79, 94, 101, 108
universalisation 60, 66, 69, 71-2
US-Canada Water Quality Agreement 76

## ۷

Veolia 25-6, 29, 32, 34, 37, 43, 80, 82, 107

#### W

waste management 20-1 wastewater 76,84 Wastewater Technology Centre 77 wastewater treatment 26, 60, 84 water bills 48, 86 water commodification 8 water contamination 81 water infrastructure 84, 92, 102 water quality 35-6, 48, 75, 92, 97 water tariffs 25-8, 34, 54, 93, 107 watersheds 16 workers 8, 14-15, 25, 32-3, 59, 64, 69-70, 83, 99, 108 workforce 44, 75, 78-80 World Bank 8, 18, 41, 43, 45, 50-1, 53, 63, 96, 108, 111 WSIA (Water Services Industry Act) 95, 97-8

Cities worldwide are experiencing the failures of water privatisation. Unequal access, broken promises, environmental hazards and scandalous profit margins are prompting municipalities to take back control of this essential service. Water 'remunicipalisation' is a new, exciting trend that this book explores at length. Case studies analyse the transition from private to public water provision in Paris, Dar es Salaam, Buenos Aires and Hamilton, as well as look at a nationallevel experiment in Malaysia. The journey toward better public water illustrates the benefits and challenges of municipal ownership, while at the same time underlining the stranglehold of international financial institutions and the legacies of corporate control. The book situates these developments within larger debates about 'alternatives to privatisation' and draws lessons from these experiences for future action in favour of public services. It is a must-read for policy makers and activists looking for concrete ways to democratise water services.

66 Cities have been remunicipalising water for years, but finally we have a book that gives us a global perspective on this trend. It offers rich evidence of how public service providers outperform private water companies while at the same time pointing to the challenges that managers, policy makers and activists face in making water public again. Maude Barlow, Chairperson of the Council of Canadians

